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Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
in €m

13.9 14.2 14.9

21.5 21.7

10.210.3

2014 2015 Change 

Turnover

Group €m 220.7 231.8 5.0%

Brand Business €m 180.4 188.1 4.3%

Volume Business €m 40.3 43.7 8.6%

Profitability

Gross margin % 47.7 46.7 – 1.0  pps

Cash flow from operating activities €m 24.5 20.8 – 15.3%

Free cash flow €m 18.4 14.1 – 23.6%

Foreign currency result €m 5.1 2.5 – 51.9%

EBIT €m 21.5 21.7 0.5%

EBIT margin % 9.8 9.3 – 0.5  pps

EBT €m 19.8 20.2 2.2%

Net result for the period €m 14.1 14.3 1.6%

Net return on sales % 6.4 6.2 – 0.2 pps

Return on equity % 14.9 13.4 – 1.5 pps

Return on total capital % 6.3 6.0 – 0.3 pps

ROCE % 20.3 18.1 – 2.2 pps

Share

Net result for the period, per share 1 € 2.97 3.02 1.7%

Free cash flow, per share 1 € 3.88 2.96 – 23.6%

Dividend per share € 1.80 2.00 2 11.1%

Special dividend per share € – 0.75 2 > 100%

Employees at the end of the year persons 1,055 1,049 – 0.6%

Investment in tangible assets €m 5.1 6.1 19.4%

Depreciation on tangible assets €m 5.3 5.0 – 0.1%

Balance sheet total €m 223.3 237.9 6.5%

Equity €m 94.8 106.7 12.5%

Equity ratio % 42.5 44.9 2.4 pps

1 not including repurchased treasury shares
2 dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting
For the multi-year-chart see at the back cover

Key figures of the Group
L E I F H E I T  G R O U P
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L E I F H E I T  

2020

Consumers

Brands / Categories

Regions / Countries

Retail customers

Culture and employees

Value-chain efficiency

Best-in-class user focus

Product quality

Innovative and leading solutions for retail

Innovative and leading solutions for target users

See the following pages and the management  
report for more on “Leifheit 2020”.

 “Leifheit 2020” gives us the strategic framework for securing sustainable and profitable 

growth. Our ten strategic principles show where and how we will be able to seize potential 

and opportunities.

“We are your leading experts  
for solutions that make your  

everyday life at home  
more easy and convenient.”



Sales regions

Locations and branches

NASSAU, GERMANY

Central administration, marketing,  
distribution, development, management 

approx. 300 employees

ZUZENHAUSEN, GERMANY

Central logistics facility
approx. 100 employees

BLATNÁ, CZECH REPUBLIC

Production and logistics 
approx. 400 employees

The Leifheit Group is one of the leading European suppliers of household items in the cleaning, 

laundry care, kitchen and wellbeing sectors. Under the Leifheit and Soehnle brands – two of 

Germany’s best-known brands – we offer high-quality, innovative products and solutions that 

make everyday life at home more easy and convenient. 

Beside its Brand Business, the Group operates with French subsidiaries Birambeau and Herby 

in its service-oriented Volume Business, where products are sold at mid-range prices.

BRAND BUSINESS VOLUME BUSINESS

Project Business

Group profile
L E I F H E I T  G R O U P

Locations
L E I F H E I T  G R O U P
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Investment highlights
L E I F H E I T  G R O U P

Product world
L E I F H E I T  G R O U P

Leifheit has an easy and convenient 
system solution for every challenge in 

cleaning at home.

Whether it’s laundry drying racks for 
the house or rotary dryers for the 

garden, an ironing board or a complete 
steam ironing system – Leifheit ensures 

fresh, clean and well-kept laundry.

Whether it’s for opening, cooking, 
cutting or storing – Leifheit’s kitchen 
accessories simplify work and keep 

hands and kitchens clean.

Under the Soehnle brand, we offer  
a multitude of products that make life 

easier. From innovative to classic – 
Soehnle scales cut a fine figure in the 

kitchen and the bathroom.

“Leifheit 2020” strategy for sustainable turnover and earnings growth 
Organically: focus on core categories, consumers, innovation, digitalisation and efficiency

Externally: M&A activities with a focus on core categories

5
SIGNIFICANT 

GROWTH POTENTIAL

Non-cyclical business:  
our everyday products  
are always in demand

Well positioned  
to exploit  

e-commerce potential

Intelligent combination of  
external and internal manufacturing

Well-known brands with high  
consumer confidence 

Leading market positions  
in Germany and many other  

European countries

Quality supplier in the medium  
and high price segments

1
STRONG  
BRANDS 

2
STABLE 

BUSINESS MODEL

Efficient cost structure and  
sustained margin development

Strong cash position and  
high cash flows

High equity ratio  
and no financial debt

Continual  
dividend increases

Positive dividend growth based on 
profitability  

and solid cash flows

Annual distribution of around  
75% of the free cash flow or net result 

for the period

3
SOLID  

SET UP

4
RELIABLE PARTNER  

FOR SHAREHOLDERS

SUPERIOR CLEANING SYSTEMS  

FOR EVERY DEMAND

ALWAYS  

BETTER CONCEIVED

FOR A LIFE  

IN BALANCE

FRESH LAUNDRY – 

EASY LAUNDRY CARE

CLEANING LAUNDRY CARE KITCHEN GOODS WELLBEING



			       Differentiation	
 at the point

	  of sale...





2013 2014 2015

+ 18 %

 50 %
I N C R E A S E  I N  T U R N O V E R 

L I K E  F O R  L I K E  W I T H  
B R A N D  S H O P S

U P  T O

I N C R E A S E  I N  T U R N O V E R 
 I N  E - C O M M E R C E

150 
B R A N D  S H O P S  I N S TA L L E D 

S I N C E  2 0 1 3

 … supports our  
    international 
             sales.



Expert partner for retail

We want to be present with our products where consumers 

want to buy them – be it in stores or online. Retail is our 

essential partner. We actively support our retail partners 

and enable them to differentiate themselves at the point of 

sale – both online and offline – with tailored solutions.  

This goes for our POS Excellence concepts, with their ap-

pealing presentations for concessions, secondary place-

ment displays, test stations, product presentations and 

video promotions, as well as our product range. With a 

comprehensive category approach for our top-performing 

product lines, our modular elements for various sales chan-

nels and the relevant tailored presentation options, we are 

a leading partner for retail.

Innovative and leading solutions  
for retail



Our
Innovation  

             Factory … 





13

843
PAT E N T S  A N D  O T H E R  

I N D U S T R I A L  P R O P E R T Y  R I G H T S

€ 4.8 m
R E S E A R C H  A N D 
D E V E L O P M E N T 

E X P E N S E S  I N  2 0 1 5

P R O D U C T
A W A R D S  I N  2 0 1 5

 … focuses on
        users.



Easy and convenient solutions for the home

Our products are part of people’s everyday lives. They 

help to make life easier and more convenient, so that 

day-to-day challenges can be solved quickly and effort-

lessly, leaving more time for the important things.  

That is our mission. 

We therefore set great store by putting the consumer at 

the centre of our development and innovation work. As a 

result, we have developed a comprehensive innovation 

strategy based on our “Leifheit 2020” strategy that we call 

our Innovation Factory, which includes integrating con-

sumers into the innovation process; further strengthening 

our design credentials; a strategic network of innovation 

partners; an efficient idea generation, selection and quali-

fication process; and guaranteeing our high quality stan

dards. Our Innovation Factory creates a long-term pipeline 

of products and solutions that are highly consumer-

relevant and have market potential with the aim of 

ensuring our future growth. 

Best-in-class  
user focus



 Efficient 
distribution 

        logistics … 



 Efficient 
distribution 

        logistics … 



 57.4 %
O F  T U R N O V E R  C O M E S 
F R O M  I N T E R N AT I O N A L 

M A R K E T S

4,500 m2

O F  N E W  L O G I S T I C S  S PA C E 
AT  O U R  E A S T E R N  E U R O P E 

D I S T R I B U T I O N  C E N T R E

+  23.1%
G R O W T H  I N  P O L A N D 

A N D  T H E  C Z E C H  R E P U B L I C

   … for our  
	  European 
growth markets.



New logistics centre for Eastern Europe

As part of our “Leifheit 2020” strategy, we have defined 

our future growth regions. Here, we will predominantly 

focus on our core Central and Eastern European markets. 

A streamlined, flexible value chain helps us to ensure 

efficient distribution in these regions. 

We can now supply our growth markets in Eastern Europe 

even faster and more flexibly thanks to the closer integra-

tion of our location in Blatná (Czech Republic) into our 

European distribution logistics network. The new logistics 

hub that has been set up there will bundle the logistics 

processes for Eastern European markets at a central 

location and enables us to react flexibly to both market 

and customer needs. 

In 2015, we also established a future-ready warehouse 

management system at our distribution locations. We are 

therefore prepared for future growth and are also able to 

meet complex logistical challenges resulting from the 

increasing importance of e-commerce, for example. 

Value-chain 
efficiency



The consistent implementation of the “Leifheit 2020” strategy is starting to bear fruit. 

With a 5% increase in turnover, the Group even managed to exceed the  

expectations for the financial year 2015. An interview with CEO Thomas Radke  

and CFO Dr Claus-O. Zacharias.

The past financial year was a good one for 

Leifheit. What is your verdict on 2015?

R A D K E   I think our performance is something we can 

be proud of. We succeeded in increasing turnover at the 

Group by 5%, thereby exceeding our own expectations. 

Our operating result also continued to improve. Follow-

ing years of restructuring successfully carried out by my 

fellow Board of Management member Dr Zacharias, the 

consistent implementation of our “Leifheit 2020” growth 

strategy, which we unveiled in early 2015, is now starting 

to bear fruit. We have set a medium-term target of 4% 

to 5% organic turnover growth per year on average by 

2020. We achieved that target for the first time in 2015. 

So we are on the right track, even though we still have a 

long road ahead of us.

D R  Z A C H A R I A S   We achieved earnings before interest 

and taxes (EBIT) of € 21.7 million. That is about the 

same as in the previous year, even though the currency 

result was about half what it was the last time around. 

Adjusted EBIT rose by € 2.8 million to € 19.2 million. 

So from an operating point of view, we posted major 

improvement once again. As a result, I believe that we 

are on the right track when it comes to profitability, too.

How did the individual segments and markets 

perform?

R A D K E   In our Brand Business, we achieved a 4.3% 

increase in turnover. The Leifheit brand and the product 

categories cleaning and laundry care played a particu-

larly important role in this growth. 

       We are on the
		        right track

D R  C L A U S - O .  Z A C H A R I A S

Member of the Board of Management | CFO

T H O M A S  R A D K E

Chairman of the Board of Management | CEO

F O R E W O R D  B Y  T H E  B O A R D  O F  M A N A G E M E N T

L E I F H E I T  G R O U P



Because we succeeded in expanding our customer 

base, turnover in our smaller segment, Volume Busi-

ness, grew by 8.6% in the reporting year. Prior to that, 

the segment had been posting declines since 2011. 

In Germany, we achieved a 3.9% increase in 

turnover. In our Central European markets, 

we achieved growth of 7.7%. This develop-

ment was mainly driven by France, Belgium 

and the Netherlands. Despite the economic 

weakness in Russia and the Ukraine conflict, 

we managed to stabilise the development of 

turnover in Eastern Europe. We compensated 

for decreases in turnover in these countries 

through growth of more than 20% in the Czech 

Republic and Poland. 

Our turnover developed very positively across all sales 

channels. I would like to highlight the development in 

e-commerce in particular, where we once again gained 

almost 18% last year.

You mentioned the “Leifheit 2020” strategy. What 

progress did you make here in the past year?

R A D K E   Here at Leifheit, all our employees are making 

every effort to implement our strategic goals. Our staff 

have received comprehensive information explaining 

our path to more turnover and income, and quite a 

few of our employees are directly involved in strategic 

projects. That is because “Leifheit 2020” is supported 

by many individual measures and projects, a number 

of which we were already able to implement in the 

reporting year. 

Some of these include the revision of Leifheit’s brand 

positioning or the establishment of our Innovation 

Factory, a comprehensive innovation strategy that places 

the user at the centre of our development work. This 

has already allowed us to build a long-term pipeline of 

new product ideas that offer tremendous benefits for 

customers and market potential. As part of this, we are 

focusing on hero products, as they are known, such 

as our successful Leifheit window vacuum cleaner, and 

supplementary system solutions, such as our Leifheit 

Click system. Both are excellent examples of how we 

offer consumers solutions that make their lives easier 

and more convenient.

D R  Z A C H A R I A S  Another major project with regard to 

an efficient supply chain was upgrading our existing 

warehouse software through a future-ready warehouse 

management system that is capable of constantly 

keeping up with the envisioned growth thanks to scal

able processes. 

In addition, we started building a new distribution 

centre at our production location in the Czech town of 

Blatná in 2015, which will significantly increase our effi-

ciency when it comes to supplying our growth markets 

in Eastern Europe. Blatná is particularly important to 

us as a central hub for the greater penetration of our 

Eastern European target regions. Most of the markets 

there are characterised by above-average growth and 

increasing consumption. They are therefore an impor-

tant part of our international expansion strategy. 

A few weeks ago, Leifheit took part in the 

Ambiente consumer goods fair. What was there 

to see at your stand?

R A D K E   In Frankfurt, we were able to show retailers 

a whole bunch of new products and initiatives, such 

as the expanded Leifheit mop portfolio, additions to 

our Click system, a complete range of ironing-board 

covers, and new Soehnle kitchen and bathroom scales. 

    “The consistent implementation
       of our ‘Leifheit 2020’
	    growth strategy is now  
    starting to bear fruit. ” 

  T H O M A S  R A D K E   |   C E O

F O R E W O R D  B Y  T H E  B O A R D  O F  M A N A G E M E N T

A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 5



We are delighted that the Genio kitchen scale, which 

has already been honoured on multiple occasions, won 

the “Kitchen Innovation of the Year 2016” award at the 

trade fair and has just received the “iF” Design Award 

2016 as well.

What is more, the Leifheit Classic products are our 

way of giving our international retail partners a new 

price category within our range – as the basis for more 

international growth. Leifheit Classic is a selection of 

basic products that has been conceived especially 

for our target markets in Central and Eastern Europe. 

However, let me point out that our high Leifheit quality 

standards apply here, too.

How have your customers reacted to the new 

ideas at Leifheit?

R A D K E   So far, we have received very positive feed-

back from our retail customers. That goes for the new 

products and the retooled brand communication. We 

actively support our retail partners in differentiating 

themselves from their competitors by offering tailored 

solutions for the point of sale and by being a recog-

nised partner for retail with our category approach for 

our top-performing product lines and with modular 

elements for various sales channels. 

Mr Radke, what sets Leifheit apart?

R A D K E   Leifheit is well positioned for the future. 

Alongside strong brands, innovative products, a solid 

financial position and efficient processes, creative 

employees are a particularly important part of this. New 

hires and long-serving employees alike are working with 

dedication on the successful implementation of our 

strategy. I would therefore like to take this opportunity 

to thank our staff, too, for their work so far. 

Where has Leifheit invested in the future in the 

past year? 

D R  Z A C H A R I A S   We invested a total of € 7.1 million 

in the reporting year. The focus was on our location in 

Blatná, in the Czech Republic, and our central logistics 

hub in Zuzenhausen. In Blatná, we not only built the 

already-mentioned distribution centre for Eastern 

Europe, we also expanded the existing manufacturing 

capacity so as to allow us to further expand in-house 

production. By doing so, we are looking to reduce the 

potential risk resulting from exchange-rate fluctuations, 

since suppliers from Asia mostly demand payment in 

US dollars. Shifting production steps to our own facility 

also increases our flexibility significantly. 

In 2016, we plan to invest around € 8 million, which 

we will finance from our own funds, as in the past year. 

The focal points, with a volume of roughly € 2 million in 

total, will be completing the new distribution centre for 

Eastern Europe as well as a modern powder-coating 

facility at our Blatná location.

As CFO, what about the current positioning of the 

Group is particularly important to you?

D R  Z A C H A R I A S   The Leifheit Group is characterised 

by a solid financial profile. Our total assets increased 

to around € 238 million as at the end of 2015. In the 

annual financial statements for the previous financial 

year, the equity ratio came in at just under 45%. At the 

same time, our liquidity rose to over € 68 million as a 

result of cash inflow. 

    “ Leifheit is well positioned 
	    for the future. ”

 T H O M A S  R A D K E   |   C E O

F O R E W O R D  B Y  T H E  B O A R D  O F  M A N A G E M E N T

L E I F H E I T  G R O U P



High levels of liquid assets secure our financial flexibility 

and independence. What is more, we have no liabilities 

to banks. Thanks to this financial position, we have 

an excellent foundation for further growth – either 

organically or with the help of supplementary acquisi-

tions. However, the prerequisite for external growth is 

that there is an option available for doing so that can be 

financed, adds value and fits our strategy.

A question that might interest your shareholders: 

What sets Leifheit AG apart as an investment?

D R  Z A C H A R I A S   The Leifheit share continued to gain 

attractiveness in 2015. The placement of the shares 

held by our previous anchor shareholder, Home Beteili-

gungen GmbH, increased our free float significantly. 

Right now, it is over 76%. The share price rose by some 

7% in 2015. Over the past ten years, the price has 

increased by around 18% a year on average. 

The growth that we are striving for is the foundation 

for regular, rising dividend payments to our sharehold-

ers, as our structures are capable of remaining stable 

up to a turnover of around € 280 million. We will be 

proposing to the Annual General Meeting the payment 

of a dividend of € 2.00 for the financial year 2015. The 

proposed increase of 20 cents is the sixth dividend 

increase in a row. Due to our good level of liquidity we 

will furthermore propose a special dividend of € 0.75 

per share. This makes Leifheit an attractive investment 

in growth and dividends as well as a reliable partner for 

our shareholders.

Let us take a look at the current financial year. 

What are your goals for 2016?

R A D K E   We are continuing to work on implementing 

the “Leifheit 2020” strategy. We will push ahead with 

development in our European core and growth markets, 

expand our market positions, attract new target groups 

and keep working consistently on our strategic projects. 

In doing so, we intend to further improve the skills and 

expertise of the Leifheit organisation, thereby creating 

the basis for sustainable growth.

Specifically, we anticipate moderate economic growth 

in our target markets in the current year, along with a 

largely intact consumer propensity to consume despite 

a number of uncertain factors, such as the crisis in the 

Middle East. Against this backdrop, we once again 

expect to see solid turnover and earnings growth this 

year. At Group level, we anticipate an increase in turn-

over of 3% to 4%. The focus will continue to be on our 

Brand Business, where we expect growth of 4% to 5%. 

At the same time, we anticipate earnings before interest 

and taxes of € 22 million to € 23 million. We expect EBIT 

to contain foreign currency results of around € 1 million.

“ The Leifheit share continued 
      to gain attractiveness 
                    in 2015. ”

D R  C L A U S - O .  Z A C H A R I A S   |   C F O

F O R E W O R D  B Y  T H E  B O A R D  O F  M A N A G E M E N T

A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 5



Where we stand

Targets 2015 Forecast 2016Results 2015

+5.0%
G R O U P  T U R N O V E R

GROWTH TO 
 € 231.8 m

+4.3%
B R A N D  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R

GROWTH TO  
€ 188.1 m

+8.6%
V O L U M E  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R

GROWTH TO  
€ 43.7 m

€ 21.7 m 2

G R O U P  E B I T

€ 7.1 m 
I N V E S T M E N T S

18.1%
R O C E

€ 14.1 m
F R E E  C A S H  F LO W

G R O U P  T U R N O V E R
+2 TO 3%

(2014: € 220.7 m)

B R A N D  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R
+3 TO 4%

(2014: € 180.4 m)

V O L U M E  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R
STABLE DEVELOPMENT

(2014: € 40.3 m)

G R O U P  E B I T
ON ADJUSTED PREVIOUS YEAR’S LEVEL

(2014: € 16.4 m 1 )

I N V E S T M E N T S
€ 9 m

(2014: € 6.2 m)

R O C E
12.7%

(2014: 20.3%)

F R E E  C A S H  F LO W
€ 0 m

(2014: € 18.4 m)

G R O U P  T U R N O V E R
+3 TO 4%

B R A N D  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R
+4 TO 5%

V O L U M E  B U S I N E S S  T U R N O V E R
ON PREVIOUS YEAR’S LEVEL

G R O U P  E B I T
€ 22 m TO € 23 m

I N V E S T M E N T S
€ 8 m

R O C E
ON PREVIOUS YEAR’S LEVEL

F R E E  C A S H  F LO W
ON PREVIOUS YEAR’S LEVEL

1 �EBIT adjusted for a foreign currency result of € 5.1 m
2 EBIT including foreign currency result of € 2.5 m
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2

L E I F H E I T  G R O U P

Report of the Supervisory Board

In the financial year 2015, the Supervisory Board fulfilled its 

obligations under the law, the articles of incorporation and 

the rules of procedure. It also regularly advised the Board 

of Management on its activities and continuously moni­

tored the management of the company. At all times, the 

Supervisory Board was able to convince itself of the legal­

ity and expedience of said activities. The Supervisory 

Board was directly involved in all decisions of fundamental 

importance for the company at an early stage.

The Board of Management fulfilled its obligation to provide 

information and informed the Supervisory Board regularly, 

in a timely manner and comprehensively, both in writing 

and orally, about all relevant issues regarding corporate 

planning, strategic development, the course of business, 

events and measures relevant to the company, the situa­

tion of the Group, the risk situation and risk management, 

and compliance. Discrepancies between business per­

formance and the guidance were explained in detail to the 

Supervisory Board and discussed intensively by the 

Supervisory Board. The members of the Supervisory 

Board had sufficient opportunity at all times to critically 

examine the reports and draft resolutions submitted to it. 

The strategic focus of the company was discussed in 

depth with the Board of Management, as were all signi­

ficant transactions. In particular, transactions requiring 

approval were reviewed in depth and decided on by the 

Supervisory Board.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board was in close 

and regular contact with the Board of Management to ex­

change information and ideas, even between Supervisory 

Board meetings, and discussed with it issues regarding 

the company’s strategy, planning, business development, 

risk situation, risk management and compliance. 

The Supervisory Board was informed about projects and 

plans that were of particular importance for the company 

or required its immediate attention, even between Super­

visory Board meetings, and was asked in writing for its 

approval, to the extent necessary.

Four Supervisory Board meetings and three committee 

meetings were held in the financial year 2015. Attendance 

at the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its 

committees averaged 93%. Dr Thomée was prevented 

from attending one Supervisory Board meeting as well as 

the Audit Committee meeting. Otherwise, all members of 

the Supervisory Board took part in all meetings of the 

Supervisory Board and its committees. As a result, no 

member of the Supervisory Board attended only half or 

less of the meetings of the Supervisory Board or of the 

committees of which he or she is a member. The members 

of the Board of Management took part in Supervisory 

Board meetings, barring other decisions by the Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board meetings regularly covered the de­

velopment of turnover, results and employment at the 

Group, as well as the segments, the financial position, the 

main interests, the strategic focus of the company, 

potential acquisitions and the risk situation.

At the meeting on 25 March 2015, the Supervisory Board, 

in the presence of the auditor, intensively discussed and 

reviewed the consolidated financial statements and the 

annual financial statements, the management reports of 

the Leifheit Group and Leifheit AG, the report on 

relationships with related parties, the draft resolution  

regarding the report of the Supervisory Board and the 

agenda of the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2015.  

A distribution analysis for the products by the brands  

Leifheit and Soehnle was also presented and discussed. In  

addition, the findings of the Supervisory Board’s self- 

evaluation in December 2014 were presented.
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Marketing communication – in addition to the preparations 

for the Annual General Meeting – was the main topic of the 

Supervisory Board meeting on 21 May 2015.

The medium-term planning for the period from 2016 to 

2018 was discussed in depth at the meeting on  

17 September 2015. In addition, the Supervisory Board 

discussed currency hedging, benchmark analyses,  

succession planning at management level, the recommen­

dations of the German corporate governance code  

and the adjustment of the rules of procedure for the  

Supervisory Board and the Board of Management. 

Furthermore, the targets for the quota of women in the 

Board of Management and the Supervisory Board were 

resolved.

The meeting on 9 December 2015 dealt with the planning 

for 2016, product quality, the programme of initiatives for 

development from 2017 to 2020, the latest product 

developments and the strategic focus of Volume Business 

in France. 

Additional topics were the performance of the Supervisory 

Board’s self-evaluation and the resolution of the corporate 

governance declaration of conformity.

The Supervisory Board has formed an Audit Committee 

and a Personnel Committee. The Audit Committee met 

twice to discuss the monitoring of the accounting process, 

the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 

management system and the internal audit system, the an­

nual audit (in particular, the independence of the auditor, 

the services provided additionally by the auditor, the issu­

ing of the audit mandate to the auditor, the determination 

of the focal points of the audit and the fee agreement) and 

compliance. The auditors were present at both of the Audit 

Committee’s meetings and reported in detail on all events 

that arose during performance of the audit that have a 

direct bearing on the work of the Supervisory Board. The 

Personnel Committee met once. The Personnel Commit­

tee examines all employment contracts for the members of 

the Board of Management, including remuneration and the 

HELMUT ZAHN

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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remuneration system as well as other Board of Manage­

ment matters. Particular attention in the financial year 2015 

was paid to succession planning.

In the reporting period, there was no indication of conflicts 

of interest among the members of either the Board of 

Management or the Supervisory Board that would have 

required immediate disclosure to the Supervisory Board 

and the Annual General Meeting.

The financial statements and management report of the 

Leifheit Group for the financial year 2015, which have been 

prepared in accordance with section 315a of the German 

commercial code (HGB) on the basis of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as well as the 

financial statements and the management report of  

Leifheit AG for the financial year 2015, which have been 

prepared in accordance with the provisions of the HGB, 

have been audited by the auditor, Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Eschborn/Frankfurt am 

Main, and have not led to any reservations in its audit 

opinion. The audit – as reflected in the audit reports – did 

not result in any grounds for objection.

The documents pertaining to the financial statement, as 

well as the audit reports and the Board of Management’s 

proposal for the appropriation of the balance sheet profit, 

were handed out to all members of the Supervisory Board. 

The documents pertaining to the financial statement and 

the audit reports were discussed in depth at the Audit 

Committee meeting on 29 March 2016; special attention 

was paid to the defined focal points of the audit. At  

the Supervisory Board’s balance-sheet meeting on 

30 March 2016, the Audit Committee and its chairman 

presented an in-depth report to all members of the Super­

visory Board. The auditors took part in the meetings and 

reported on the key findings of their audit. Furthermore, 

they presented their findings on the internal control system 

and risk management with regard to the accounting pro­

cess and found that the Board of Management had set up 

an appropriate information and monitoring system that 

was capable of promptly identifying developments that 

jeopardise the company’s continued existence. The audi­

tors were available for further questions and information.

In addition, the Supervisory Board reviewed the report  

on relationships with related parties presented by the 

Board of Management. The auditor also reviewed this  

report and issued the following opinion: “After due review 

and assessment, we confirm that 1. the factual statements 

in the report are correct and that 2. the company’s services 

rendered in connection with the legal transactions listed in 

the report were not inappropriate in terms of their scope.”

Based on its own examination of the annual financial  

statements, the consolidated financial statements, the 

management reports and the dependent-company report, 

including the final declaration by the Board of Manage­

ment, as well as the report and the recommendations of 

the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board approved the 

findings of the audit by the auditor. The Supervisory Board 

has raised no objections to the final results of the audit. 

The Supervisory Board has approved both the financial 

statements and the consolidated financial statements. The 

financial statements in accordance with section 172 of the 

German stock corporation act (AktG). The Board of Man­

agement and the Supervisory Board discussed the Board 

of Management’s proposal for the appropriation of the bal­

ance sheet profit during their meeting on 30 March 2016. 

Due to the company’s good level of liquidity the Board of 

Management and the Supervisory Board decided to pro­

pose in addition to a dividend of € 2.00 per no-par-value 

bearer share a special dividend of € 0.75 per share and to 

carry forward the remainder to new account.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of the 

employees of the Group, the Board of Management and 

the workforce representatives for their dedicated commit­

ment and their work in the past financial year. We would 

also like to thank our customers and shareholders for their 

trust and support.

Nassau/Munich, 30 March 2016

The Supervisory Board

 

Helmut Zahn

Chairman
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To us, trusting cooperation between the Board of Manage­

ment and the Supervisory Board, efficient internal and 

external control mechanisms, and a high level of trans­

parency in corporate communications are matters of 

central importance. This way, we hope to secure the confi­

dence of investors, customers, employees and the public 

at large in our company in the long term.

We give corporate governance a high priority and are 

guided by the recommendations of the German corporate 

governance code (DCGK). The code represents key 

statutory regulations for the management and monitoring 

of German listed companies and contains internationally 

and nationally recognised standards for good and respon­

sible corporate governance.

Leifheit AG is a publicly listed stock corporation with 

registered offices in Germany. The German law, the regula­

tions of stock corporations and financial markets as well as 

the articles of incorporation of Leifheit AG in particular be­

sides the DCGK provide the framework for structuring cor­

porate governance.

In the following section, the Board of Management 

reports – also on behalf of the Supervisory Board – on cor­

porate governance at Leifheit in accordance with item 3.10 

of the DCGK.

Large parts of the code 
recommendations implemented

In the reporting period, the Board of Management and the 

Supervisory Board vigorously discussed the recommenda­

tions of the German corporate governance code in the 

version of 5 May 2015 and updated the declaration of con­

formity in accordance with section 161 para. 1 German 

stock corporation act (AktG) in December 2015 on the 

basis of these discussions. Leifheit AG currently applies 

most of the government commission’s recommendations. 

The declarations of conformity are publicly accessible on 

the company’s website.

Shareholders and the 
Annual General Meeting

The shareholders of Leifheit AG exercise their rights at the 

Annual General Meeting of the company, which, according 

to the articles of incorporation, is chaired by the Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board. The Annual General Meeting is 

held once a year. Each share represents one voting right.

Shareholders can either exercise their voting rights at the 

Annual General Meeting themselves, via a proxy of their 

choice or via a proxy of the company who is bound by in­

structions. Voting instructions to the company’s proxy can 

be issued before and during the Annual General Meeting 

until the end of the general debate. Shareholders also have 

the option of casting their votes – without authorising a 

representative – in writing by postal ballot. All documents 

and information on the Annual General Meeting are avail­

able to shareholders at an early stage on our website. The 

invitation to the Annual General Meeting with the forthcom­

ing agenda and an explanation of the conditions for partici­

pation are published in accordance with the legal regula­

tions and the articles of incorporation. Immediately after 

the Annual General Meeting, we publish attendance  

figures and the results of voting on the website.

Cooperation between the  
Board of Management and the  
Supervisory Board

As a German stock corporation, Leifheit AG has three 

organs: the Board of Management, the Supervisory Board 

and the Annual General Meeting. Their responsibilities and 

powers result specifically from the stock corporation act 

and the articles of incorporation of Leifheit AG.

The German stock corporation act provides for a clear 

separation between the persons staffing the management 

and supervisory organs. The management organ is the 

Board of Management, which is supervised and coun­

selled by the Supervisory Board with regard to the 

management of the company. 

ir.leifheit-group.com

Corporate governance report

At Leifheit, the term corporate governance stands for responsible corporate management and 

control geared towards creating sustainable value creation.
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The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of 

Leifheit AG communicate openly with each other in a spirit 

of close cooperation. Transactions and decisions that are 

of fundamental meaning for the company are processed in 

close consultation between the Board of Management and 

the Supervisory Board. Reservations of approval in favour 

of the Supervisory Board are regulated by the articles of 

incorporation of Leifheit AG.

By virtue of a systematic internal control and risk manage­

ment, risks are recognised early, likewise assessed and 

monitored. The Board of Management reports existing 

risks and their development to the Supervisory Board at 

regular intervals.

The work method of the Board of Management and the 

Supervisory Board as well as the composition and work 

methods of their committees are described in detail in the 

statements regarding the company management and are 

publicly accessible on our website.

Leifheit has effected a directors and officers liability insur­

ance (D&O insurance) with an appropriate deductible for 

the members of the Board of Management in accordance 

with section 93 para. 2 sentence 3 AktG. D&O insurance, 

however without a deductible, is also provided for the 

members of the Supervisory Board.

Remuneration of the  
Supervisory Board and the  
Board of Management

The outlines of the remuneration system for the Board of 

Management as well as the components of the Super­

visory Board’s remuneration are described in detail in the 

remuneration report It is part of the audited management 

report for both the Group and Leifheit AG.

corporate.management. 
leifheit-group.com

Remuneration report
see page 61 f.

Compliance

Compliance as a group-wide action to ensure compliance 

with statutory provisions and internal guidelines forms an 

essential management and monitoring task at Leifheit AG.

With the Leifheit Code of Conduct, we have formulated 

fundamental rules that are intended to ensure compliance 

at all times with these provisions and guidelines. The Code 

of Conduct is intended to assist all Leifheit employees in 

their day-to-day tasks, thereby serving as a guide when 

addressing legal and ethical challenges. The management 

is fully committed to compliance and carries the corporate 

responsibility to adhere to statutory provisions and internal 

guidelines.

Appropriate control and 
risk management

Dealing with risks in a responsible manner is part of 

corporate governance at Leifheit. A fundamental require­

ment of professional corporate governance is the con­

tinuous and systematic management of business risks. By 

means of this process, it is possible to identify risks at an 

early stage, when they can be assessed and controlled by 

taking appropriate measures. The Board of Management 

reports regularly to the Supervisory Board on current 

developments regarding significant risks. The Audit Com­

mittee regularly deals with monitoring of the accounting 

process as well as the effectiveness of the internal control 

and risk management and effectiveness of the internal 

audit system. The committee also deals with the annual 

audit and the independence of the auditors.

Conflicts of interest

There were no conflicts of interest among the members of 

either the Board of Management or the Supervisory Board 

that would have required immediate disclosure to the 

Supervisory Board.
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No consultancy agreements or other agreements for 

contractual performance existed between members of the 

Supervisory Board and the company in the reporting 

period. The memberships of Board of Management and 

Supervisory Board members in statutory supervisory 

boards or similar German and non-German control com­

mittees of enterprises can be found in the section “Organs” 

of the annual financial report.

No member of the Board of Management currently holds 

mandates in supervisory boards at listed companies that 

are not part of the Group. In the period under review, there 

were no reportable relationships or transactions with 

related companies or persons.

Objectives of the Supervisory Board 
in terms of its composition

The Supervisory Board agreed at its meeting in December 

2015 to adjust the objectives most recently set in 

December 2012 for its composition. In detail, the following 

specific objectives were resolved:

1.  ��Each member of the Supervisory Board must imme­

diately disclose any potential conflicts of interest.

2.  �The Supervisory Board should have at least two independ­

ent members within the meaning of no. 5.4.2 DCGK.

3.  �The Supervisory Board must have at least one 

independent member with specialist knowledge in the 

areas of accounting or audits of financial statements 

(section 100 para. 5 AktG).

4.  �The Supervisory Board must have at least one member 

with specialist knowledge of law.

organs  
see page 104

5.  �The Supervisory Board must have at least one member 

with specialist knowledge of the consumer goods in­

dustry or branded companies in an international 

environment.

6.  �The Supervisory Board must have at least one member 

with specialist knowledge in the area of business 

administration.

7.  �In order to represent the largest possible range of life 

experience, the difference in age between the youngest 

and oldest member of the Supervisory Board should be 

at least ten years. No member of the Supervisory Board 

should be older than 70 years of age.

8. �Membership on the Supervisory Board should be limited 

to 25 years.

All objectives are met at the present time.

Transparency in favour of 
shareholders and the public

In order to ensure the greatest possible degree of trans­

parency and equal opportunities, we have made it our goal 

to inform all our target groups comprehensively, equally 

and in a timely manner. For this purpose, interested parties 

can find key recurring dates in our financial calendar, which 

is published in our annual financial report, quarterly 

financial reports and on the Leifheit website.

We release information on the strategy, the situation of the 

Group, all major business changes, the development of 

the company and the financial position and results of 

operations of our company regularly and in a timely manner 

in the quarterly financial reports and in detail in the annual 

financial report. These reports are also published on our 

website.

stakeholder dialog 
see page 44

Leifheit share
see page 9
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The Board of Management and Investor Relations depart­

ment are in regular contact with private and institutional 

investors as part of our investor relations work e.g. capital 

market conferences. More information about our capital 

market activities can be found in the Section “The Leifheit 

share” of our annual financial report.

Furthermore, we publish all press and ad-hoc announce­

ments presentations about press and analyst conferences 

as well as regarding the Annual General Meeting on our 

website.

Directors’ dealings and sharehold-
ings of the Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board

In accordance with section 15a of the German securities 

trading act (WpHG), the members of the Board of Manage­

ment and Supervisory Board or their related parties are 

legally required to disclose all transactions involving the 

purchase or sale of Leifheit AG shares or related financial 

instruments where such transactions total or exceed 

€ 5,000 in a calendar year. The notifications received by 

Leifheit AG for the 2015 financial year have been published 

on our website.

The total number of shares in Leifheit AG held by all 

members of the Board of Management was 37,290 as at 

31 December 2015. The members of the Supervisory 

Board directly and indirectly held a total of 4,197 

no-par-value bearer shares in Leifheit AG as at 31 Decem­

ber 2015.

Accounting and auditing

The basis for the consolidated financial statements and the 

consolidated management report as well as the half-year 

financial report and the quarterly financial reports is the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as  

applicable in the European Union. The legally required  

separate financial statements of Leifheit AG, which are the 

deciding factor for the payment of the dividend, are pre­

pared in accordance with the provisions of the German 

commercial code (HGB).

ir.leifheit-group.com

It was agreed with the auditors that the Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board will be informed immediately of any 

grounds for disqualification or partiality arising during the 

audit, unless such grounds are eliminated immediately.

The auditor must also report without delay on all findings 

and events that arise during the performance of the audit 

that have a direct bearing on the work of the Supervisory 

Board. In addition, the auditor must inform the Supervisory 

Board or note in its audit report any facts ascertained 

during the performance of the audit that are inconsistent 

with the declaration of conformity in accordance with 

section 161 of the German stock corporation Act  

(AktG) regarding the German corporate governance code, 

which is issued by the Board of Management and the  

Supervisory Board.

The Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2015 accepted 

the proposal of the Supervisory Board in line with the 

recommendations of the Audit Committee and selected 

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, as the auditor for the finan­

cial year 2015. Ernst & Young has been the group auditor 

of Leifheit AG since the financial year 2002. The signatory 

auditors are Rembert Knappe (since the financial year 

2009) and Holger Vöhl (since the financial year 2009). The 

statutory provisions and rotation obligations under sec­

tions 319 and 319a of the German commercial code (HGB) 

have been complied with.

Declaration of  
corporate management

The declaration of corporate management in accordance 

with section 289a German commercial code (HGB) is 

publicly accessible on our website. It includes the declara­

tion of conformity in accordance with section 161 German 

stock corporation act (AktG), relevant information about 

corporate management practices, and a description of the 

work methods of the Board of Management and the Su­

pervisory Board, as well as the composition and work 

methods of their committees and the declaration on the 

defined targets according to the German law on the equal 

participation of women and men in management positions.

corporate.management.
leifheit-group.com
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Exceptionally volatile trading year

The development of the financial markets in 2015 was 

influenced by many factors – positive as well as negative. 

They include the Greek crisis, flagging economic growth in 

China, the plunge in oil prices as well as the monetary 

policy decisions of the central banks in Europe and the 

USA. They have led to price fluctuations on the stock 

markets on a scale rarely seen before. The DAX – 

Germany’s leading index featuring the shares of the 

30 largest listed companies – reached an all-time high in 

April of 12,390 points. By autumn, the index had lost 

around 25%, triggered in part by price slumps on the stock 

markets in China, which had been overheated until that 

point. The index hit its low for the year in September at 

9,325 points. On the whole, the DAX rose from 9,764 to 

10,727 points over the course of the year. This amounts to 

an increase of approximately 10%.

The benchmark index for the Leifheit share, the SDAX, 

which is Deutsche Börse’s share index for smaller compa-

nies, showed very positive development over the course of 

the year and beat the DAX in terms of performance. Start-

ing from a low for the year at 7,128 points in early January, 

the SDAX reached a high of 9,156 points in August and 

closed with 9,098 points on 30 December 2015. As a re-

sult, the SDAX rose by almost 26% for the year.

Another positive performance by the 
Leifheit share

The price development of the Leifheit share (ISIN 

DE0006464506) was also characterised by volatility during 

the reporting period. During the first several months of the 

year, the share price rose substantially and reached a new 

record high of € 59.66 on 21 April 2015. In connection with 

the secondary offering of the company shares of the for-

mer anchor shareholder Home Beteiligungen GmbH in late 

April, as well as the general uncertainty on the stock mar-

kets during the summer, the share price dropped from the 

record level it had achieved and stabilised initially at prices 

comparable to those from mid-2014. After reaching an an-

nual low of € 39.05 on 29 September 2015, the share 

staged a substantial recovery in the fourth quarter. On 

30 December 2015, trading closed at € 49.50 – an in-

crease of 6.7% since the beginning of the year.

As a result, market capitalisation for Leifheit AG as based 

on all issued shares was approximately € 248 million at the 

end of 2015, an increase of € 16 million as compared with 

the end of the previous year (30 December 2014: € 232 

million). Adjusted for treasury shares, the market capitali-

sation amounted to € 235 million. 

+ 6.7 %
rise in Leifheit share price

The Leifheit share

Strong fluctuations characterised the development of share prices on the stock market in 2015. 

In this environment, the price of the Leifheit share developed very positively, increasing 

by 6.7% over the year. The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board will propose 

to the Annual General Meeting a dividend of € 2.00 and furthermore a special dividend of 

€ 0.75 per share for the financial year 2015.

Performance of the Leifheit share price in 2015 
compared to  the  SDAX in  % ( indexed to  100 )
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  Closing price Leifheit share      Closing price SDAX
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Considerable rise in trading volume

The trading volume for Leifheit shares in Xetra, Deutsche 

Börse’s electronic trading system, averaged 5,714 shares 

per day in the trading year 2015, which is significantly 

higher than the trading volume in the previous year (2014: 

1,933 shares per day).

Return on an investment in Leifheit shares

1 year 6.7% p.a.

3 years 19.4% p.a.

5 years 23.9% p.a.

10 years 7.8% p.a.

Historic annual return as at the end of 2015 without reinvestment of distributed 
dividend. Calculated with the assistance of the dividend calculator on the Leifheit AG 
website (www.leifheit-group.com).

Key figures for the Leifheit share in € per share

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Net result for the period 2.55 1.97 2.16 2.97 3.02

Free cash flow 1.63 – 0.28 4.11 3.88 2.96

Dividend 1.30 1.50 1.65 1.80 2.00 2

Special dividend – – – – 0.75 2

Own funds 3 19.55 17.98 18.30 18.16 20.45

High 4 26.90 30.56 35.30 46.40 59.66

Low 4 16.52 20.45 26.00 32.22 39.05

Year-end closing price 4 20.50 29.00 30.93 46.40 49.50

Number of shares (in thousands) 1 4,742 4,760 4,749 4,750 4,752

Year-end market capitalisation (in €m) 5 103 145 155 232 248

1 number of outstanding shares as at 31 December (excluding treasury shares)
2 dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting
3 excluding the distribution of the proposed dividends and the share in the profits of the minority shareholders
4 closing prices on Xetra.
5 based on all shares issued

Increase in dividend plus special 
dividend 

43.3% of the share capital was represented at the last 

Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2015 in Nassau (2014: 

74.0%).

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of 

Leifheit AG will be proposing to the Annual General 

Meeting on 25 May 2016 the payment of a dividend of 

€ 2.00 per share for the financial year 2015 (2014: € 1.80). 

The proposed increase of € 0.20 is the sixth consecutive 

dividend increase. Due to our good level of liquidity the 

Board of Management and the Supervisory Board will 

furthermore propose a special dividend of € 0.75 per 

share. If approved by the Annual General Meeting, the 

dividend will be paid out from 26 May 2016. The amount 

to be distributed will be € 13.1 million (2014: € 8.6 million).

€ 2.00 2
Dividend per share

€ 0.75 2
special dividend 

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of 

Leifheit AG aim to enable all shareholders to partake 

appropriately in the company’s success again with the pro-

posed dividend and the special dividend. In principle, our 

results-oriented dividend policy furthermore provides for 

distributing around 75% of the net result for the period or 

the free cash flow of a financial year to the shareholders as 

ordinary dividends. Provided that Group liquidity at year-

end will exceed our expected liquidity requirements for 

potential M&A activities and seasonal working capital fluc-

tuations in the total amount of about € 55 million as well as 

for the dividend payments, Management and Supervisory 

Board will consider to propose the distribution of special 

dividends to our shareholders also in the future.



A
T O  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S

T h e  L e i f h e i t  s h a r e

11

A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 5

Historical dividend development 
Div idend per  share  in  €
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Treasury shares

The authorisation to purchase and to use treasury shares 

granted to the company in 2010 by the Annual General 

Meeting lapsed in the reporting period. On 21 May 2015, 

the Annual General Meeting once again granted authorisa-

tion to the company to purchase treasury shares until 

20 May 2020 in the amount of up to 10% of the existing 

share capital of € 15 million.

No treasury shares were purchased in 2015. Leifheit used 

1,605 treasury shares for the issuance of shares as part of 

an employee participation programme. 

As at the end of 2015, Leifheit AG held 247,067 treasury 

shares (corresponding to 4.94% of the share capital). An 

amount of k€ 7,493 was expended in previous periods for 

their purchase. Including ancillary costs, this corresponds 

to an average of € 30.33 per share.

Significant change to the 
shareholder structure

A significant change was made to the ownership structure 

of the company over the course of the financial year 2015. 

Home Beteiligungen GmbH, Munich, which recently held a 

50.49% stake in the share capital of Leifheit AG, sold its 

block of shares in late April 2015 to institutional investors.

This sale led to a considerable increase in the portion of 

Leifheit shares that are in free float, amounting to 76.7% as 

at 31 December 2015. The calculation is performed in 

accordance with the definition set by Deutsche Börse for 

share indices, according to which blocks of shares below 

a threshold of 5% are considered to be part of free float. 

Shares of funds and investment companies with short-

term investment strategies are also free floating, provided 

the amount does not exceed 25% of the share capital. By 

contrast, non-free-floating or “fixed” holdings – regardless 

of the amount – include treasury shares that the company 

itself holds (4.94%), as well as employee shares subject to 

a vesting period (0.07%).

Pursuant to the information and voting rights notifications 

available to Leifheit AG, the company’s shareholder struc-

ture was as follows as at 31 December 2015:

Shareholder structure of Leifheit AG

MKV Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald (D) 10.03 % 

Joachim Loh, Haiger (D) 8.26 % 

Capital Income Builder, Los Angeles (USA) 5.60 % 

Carmignac Gestion S.A., Paris (F) 5.49 % 

MainFirst SICAV, Sennigerberg (LUX) 5.04 % 

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, 
Frankfurt (D) 4.00 % 

Invesco Limited, Hamilton (BMU) 3.30 % 

Farringdon, Luxembourg (LUX) 3.26 % 

Leifheit AG, Nassau (D) – treasury shares 4.94 % 

Shareholdings below the 
disclosure threshold of 3% 50.08 % 

Treasury shares  
see page 97

1 dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting
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Master data for the Leifheit share

ISIN/WKN DE0006464506 / 646450

Ticker symbol LEI (ordinary share)

Reuters ticker symbol LEIG.DE

Bloomberg  
ticker symbol LEI:GR

Trading segment Prime Standard

Industry Consumer

Class No-par-value bearer shares

Stock exchanges All German stock exchanges

Designated sponsor Oddo Seydler Bank AG

Date of admission  
to trading 3 October 1984

Analysts recommendation: “holding” 
or “buying”

During the financial year 2015, analysts from a number of 

banks and research providers tracked Leifheit AG’s 

business development and strategy from the standpoint of 

the capital markets. Investment recommendations were 

published by Berenberg Bank, Bankhaus Lampe, Oddo 

Seydler Bank and GSC Research. The analysts recom-

mended investors to “buy” or to “hold” the company’s 

shares, with target prices ranging between € 48.00 and 

€ 60.00. More detailed information is available on the 

Leifheit AG website at analysts.leifheit-group.com.

Annual financial report 2014 
receives the Fox Finance Award

The Leifheit annual financial report 2014 received a silver 

Fox Finance Award, providing confirmation of the report’s 

outstanding impact. We are delighted with this achieve-

ment and see it as both an incentive and an obligation to 

continually enhance the service we provide to our share-

holders and our communications directed at interested 

members of the public.

Dialogue with shareholders and the 
capital market

Leifheit AG regards itself as a sound growth equity on the 

capital market with a long-term focus. Open communica-

tion with our shareholders and potential investors is a 

matter of course for us. We aim to provide information 

about all relevant developments and events at our compa-

ny in a comprehensive, prompt and transparent manner.  

analysts.leifheit-group.com

ir.leifheit-group.com

In light of this, we once again sought out dialogue with 

analysts and investors during the past year at a variety  

of roadshows, conferences and in a range of one-on-one 

discussions. Many Leifheit AG shareholders took advan-

tage of the opportunity to receive comprehensive infor

mation on business development from the Board of  

Management and the Supervisory Board in the course of 

the Annual General Meeting.

In February 2015, Leifheit took part in the Ambiente 2015 

international consumer goods trade fair. We used the 

opportunity to unveil our strategy and new products as 

part of a press conference attended by members of the 

trade and business media.In March, our investor relations 

activities focused on the annual analysts’ conference that 

we held in Frankfurt/Main in conjunction with the press 

conference announcing our balance sheet results. In 

November, Leifheit AG once again presented itself to 

analysts and investors at the German Equity Forum 

(Deutsches Eigenkapitalforum). Roadshows in major 

European financial centres provided analysts and investors 

with additional opportunities to have direct contact with 

our Board of Management. 

Our website also offers a variety of options for getting to 

know the Leifheit Group and its brands and products. In 

the Investor Relations section, we promptly provide our 

shareholders, the capital market and other interested 

parties with all key information related to our share, the 

strategy and the key figures of the Leifheit Group, the 

financial calendar as well as all financial reports, news and 

presentations. The relevant contact details are also avail

able there.

If you have questions or comments, you can contact us as 

follows:

	 Leifheit AG

	 Investor Relations

	 PO Box 11 65

	 56371 Nassau/Lahn

	 Germany

	 Phone: 	 +49 2604 977-218

	 Fax: 	 +49 2604 977-121218

	 email: 	 ir@leifheit.com
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Activities and areas of business

The Leifheit Group divides its operating business into two 

divisions: Brand Business and Volume Business. In the 

Brand Business, which is by far the larger segment, we 

distribute our products under the two well-known brands 

Leifheit and Soehnle. These products are characterised by 

high-quality workmanship in combination with a high de-

gree of consumer benefit and are offered in the medium to 

upper price sector. The Volume Business includes the 

French subsidiaries Birambeau and Herby, as well as our 

Project Business. Here, we offer product ranges in the 

mid-price category, plus customer-specific developments 

and their production. Until the fourth quarter of 2015, we 

also offered contract manufacturing for third parties. In 

both segments, we focus on our core areas of expertise in 

the product categories of cleaning, laundry care, kitchen 

goods and wellbeing.

We primarily develop our products for the European mar-

ket using our own in-house development departments. 

This is especially beneficial for Brand Business, which is 

driven by innovation. Production takes place at our own 

production plants in Germany, the Czech Republic and 

France, as well as at the facilities of suppliers located in 

various countries in Europe and Asia.

Foundations of the Group

The Leifheit Group is one of the leading European brand suppliers of household items.  

The company offers high-quality and innovative products and solutions that make everyday 

life at home easy and more convenient.

Segments

LEIFHEIT GROUP

-	 Products in mid-price ranges

-	 �Customer-specific product developments

-	 Strong service components

-	 Distribution in international markets

-	 �Product categories: cleaning, laundry care,  

kitchen goods and wellbeing

-	 �High-quality brand products with a high degree of 

consumer benefit in the medium to upper price segment

-	 Consistent brand management

-	 �Systematic processes for innovation and market launch

-	 Distribution in international markets

-	 �Product categories: cleaning, laundry care,  

kitchen goods and wellbeing

BRAND BUSINESS VOLUME BUSINESS
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Markets and market position

The Leifheit Group sells its products in more than 80 coun-

tries around the world. The focus sales markets, each 

acounting for a share of more than 40% of turnover, are 

our domestic market of Germany and the countries of 

Central Europe. The sales and distribution region of Cen-

tral Europe includes the Netherlands, France and Austria, 

for example. We currently generate over 8% of our turn

over in Eastern European markets, such as the Czech 

Republic, Russia and Poland. 

We focus our sales and marketing activities on European 

target markets. We also draw on growth opportunities out-

side of Europe, such as in the USA, the Middle East and 

the Far East. Here, we distribute our products mainly 

through distributors and conduct spot business in order to 

tap into any market opportunities that present themselves. 

Non-European markets currently account for more than 

4% of Group turnover.

Sales markets
Propor t ion  o f  tu r nover  in  % (p rev ious  year ’s  f i gu res )

Rest of the world
4 (5)

Eastern Europe
8 (9)

Central Europe
45 (43)

Germany
43 (43)

We sell our products where consumers want to buy them 

and have a presence in all the relevant sales channels.  

Department stores and hypermarkets, which account for a 

share of just over 30% of turnover, are the Leifheit Group’s 

most important sales channel. We generate some 15%  

respectively in DIY stores and in traditional wholesale  

and retail. The proportion of modern home-shopping 

(e-commerce) has risen continuously in recent years and 

amounted to roughly 11% in 2015.

For more information  
about regions,  
see page 21 f.

Furniture retailers
2 (2)

Others
3 (4)

Distribution channels
Propor t ion  o f  tu r nover  in  % (p rev ious  year ’s  f i gu res )

Discounters
5 (4)

E-commerce
11 (10)

Importers/ 
exporters
8 (9)

Cash & carry
5 (5) Hypermarkets

32 (32)

Electrical goods store
3 (3)

DIY 
16 (16)

Wholesale retail/
department stores

15 (15)

We focus on the product categories of cleaning, laundry 

care, kitchen goods and wellbeing. In Germany and many 

European markets, Leifheit is among the leading providers 

of cleaning appliances, especially flat mop systems. Laun-

dry care products, accounting for around 40% of turnover, 

are the largest product category. We generate some 30% of 

Group turnover with cleaning products; around 20% of 

Group turnover comes from kitchen goods. The wellbeing 

category includes Soehnle brand products and accounts for 

around 10% of turnover. Soehnle is the market leader for 

bathroom and kitchen scales in Germany. Here, we hold a 

market share of 36.4% for kitchen scales and 24.2% for 

bathroom scales with Soehnle products. Soehnle is also 

among the leading providers in other European countries. 

We are also active in the aroma diffuser market through the 

Soehnle brand. According to a 2014 study by the GfK mar-

ket research institute, Soehnle is the market leader in the air 

treatment and humidifier segment in Germany, with a mar-

ket share of around 28%.

Developments and the results of our business activities are 

also influenced by external factors, including macroeco-

nomic developments, the economic conditions in our key 

markets, the consumer climate, the development of the US 

dollar against the euro and the weather conditions in sea-

sonal business with rotary dryers.

For more information about 
distribution channels,  
see page 41
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Group turnover by product categories
i n  % (p rev ious  year )

Contract manufacturing
1 (1)

Wellbeing
11 (12)

Kitchen goods
19 (19)

Laundry care
40 (40)

Cleaning
29 (28)

 
Change in Group structure

There were no major changes in the scope of consolida-

tion or major changes in the organisational structure or 

business model in the financial year 2015. Soehnle GmbH, 

with its registered office in Nassau, was founded in July 

2015. Soehnle GmbH did not commence business opera-

tions in the financial year 2015.

Organisation, corporate structure  
and management responsibility

Leifheit AG has been a listed stock corporation under Ger-

man law since 1984. The shares of Leifheit AG are listed 

on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange Prime Standard and  

are traded on all German stock exchanges 

(ISIN DE0006464506). As at 31 December 2015, the mar-

ket capitalisation amounted to approximately € 248 mil-

lion. The company has been entered in the Commercial 

Register of Montabaur Local Court under HRB 2857, and 

its headquarters and administration offices continue to be 

based at its founding location in Nassau/Lahn, Germany. 

The main locations of Leifheit AG are Nassau (administra-

tion and production) and Zuzenhausen (logistics). There 

are also branches outside of Germany which are not legal-

ly independent – particularly distribution offices – in Bres-

cia, Italy (established in 1982), in Aartselaar, Belgium (es-

tablished in 1987), and in Wiener Neudorf, Austria 

(established in 1995).

Leifheit AG has 12 direct or indirect subsidiaries. Leifheit 

AG’s main (partly indirect) interests are Leifheit s.r.o. in the 

Czech Republic (production), Birambeau S.A.S. in France 

(logistics and distribution) and Herby Industrie S.A.S. in 

France (production, logistics and distribution).

Leifheit AG’s Board of Management has two members. It 

defines the strategy of the Leifheit Group and is responsi-

ble for Group-wide central functions and steers the 

Group’s business divisions. Each Member of the Board of 

Management is responsible for multiple functions within 

the Leifheit Group. The rules of procedure for the Board of 

Management regulate the responsibilities of individual 

board members. Their personal knowledge of products 

and markets, customer- and country-specific features and 

their expertise in central Group functions ensure the effi-

cient and professional management of the Leifheit Group. 

The Leifheit AG Board of Management is supported by 16 

sector directors and department heads.
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Group strategy and objectives

The financial year 2015 was the first one to be guided by 

the new “Leifheit 2020” Group strategy, which outlines our 

vision and the ten strategic principles for a successful fu-

ture.

Consumers are our most important target group. With 

their buying decisions, they determine our economic suc-

cess. It is therefore crucial to understand their needs and 

to satisfy them through our products in the most optimal 

way possible. As a result, our aspiration is: “We are your 

leading experts for solutions that make your everyday life 

at home more easy and convenient.”

Based on our vision, ten strategic principles answer the 

question as to where and how further growth potential can 

be leveraged and opportunities seized in a fast-changing 

world. With regard to “where”, significant points are a 

stronger focus on consumers and retail customers, clear 

brand positioning and clear positioning of the categories 

and products that are to contribute to our success, as well 

as a deep understanding of the relevant sales markets and 

the right way to access them.

The question of “how” defines various areas in which we 

want to bundle our efforts and resources in future. Above 

all, the consistent focus will be on the needs of the con-

sumer. In addition, we want to continue to expand on our 

abilities and implement innovative solutions – both with 

regard to consumers and with regard to retail customers 

and dealers. In doing so, we will continue to offer excep-

tional product quality. A streamlined, flexible value chain 

helps us to do this. The basis for our success remains our 

employees and their dedication to providing extraordinary 

commitment every day.

“Leifheit 2020” is the foundation for the Group’s stronger 

organic growth going forward. At the same time, Leifheit 

will review opportunities for external growth if and when 

they materialise. With a solid, financial debt-free balance 

sheet, we are well positioned for potential acquisitions to 

support our growth.

Financing strategy

The primary objective of our financing strategy is to main-

tain a healthy capital structure. Here, we place particular 

value in a sufficient equity ratio of at least 30% to ensure 

the confidence of investors, banks, suppliers, customers 

and our employees. We focus on maintaining a capital 

structure that allows coverage of our future potential 

financing requirements on reasonable terms in financial 

markets. We want to maintain a high level of indepen

dence, security and financial flexibility.

Control system principles

The Leifheit Group is managed centrally from a strategy 

point of view, while also providing for remote operations. 

Maintaining only a few divisions and levels of hierarchy 

allows us to ensure fast and efficient collaboration within 

the Group. Our organisation is designed so that we provide 

optimal support to both our customers and brand man-

agement to advance our Group’s strategy. For this pur-

pose, Brand Business and Volume Business are managed 

as separate segments. The organisational structure and 

the process organisation are structured in such a way that 

they enable us to achieve our strategic business alignment 

targets in the best possible way.

We ensure that corporate management is focused on on-

going increases in company value. We therefore apply a 

value-oriented management system. The major perfor-

mance indicators of the Group are turnover, earnings be-

fore interest and taxes (EBIT) and free cash flow. The key 

measures of both business segments are turnover and 

earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). Turnover is also 

measured at Group level by region. In addition, the key 

performance indicator return on capital employed (ROCE) 

is calculated annually, which measures the profitability of 

the capital employed. Gross margin and the contribution 

margin are also measured in the divisions. No significant 

changes were made to the control system in the financial 

year 2015.

“Leifheit 2020”
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Macroeconomic situation

The global economy performed inconsistently in 2015. In 

particular, development in emerging economies was 

weaker than expected. In China, the economy is undergo-

ing a process of transformation. Falling prices for oil as a 

result of production-related oversupply on the global mar-

ket and lower prices for other raw materials had a negative 

impact on economic development in commodity-exporting 

countries such as Russia and Brazil. Industrial countries, 

by contrast, posted rather stable growth. The International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) estimates global economic growth in 

2015 at 3.1% (2014: 3.4%).

The economic recovery in the Eurozone continued in 2015. 

The IMF estimates growth in the common currency area at 

1.5% (2014: 0.9%). In its autumn 2015 forecast, the Euro-

pean Commission anticipates gross domestic product 

(GDP) growth of 1.9% in the European Union as a whole. 

Economic development was impacted negatively by un-

certainty regarding the outlook for the Chinese economy 

and the associated turbulence on the financial markets.

France and Italy made a below-average contribution to 

growth in the Eurozone. The IMF expects growth in France 

to have totalled 1.1% in 2015 (2014: 0.2%). Following a 

decline in GDP in the previous year, the IMF is now fore-

casting growth of 0.8% (2014: –0.4%) in Italy. By contrast, 

economic growth increased significantly in Spain, where 

the IMF is anticipating a rise in GDP of 3.2% (2014: 1.4%) 

year on year. 

+1.5 %
GDP growth  

in the Eurozone

The strong devaluation of the euro against the US dollar 

and the falling prices for petroleum products had a positive 

effect on growth in the Eurozone. Growth was boosted by 

private consumption in particular.

The German economy continued to grow in 2015. Adjust-

ed for price, GDP grew by 1.7% (2014: 1.6%) in 2015, 

according to initial calculations by the German Federal 

Statistical Office. The IMF believes that growth was slightly 

lower at 1.5% (2014: 1.6%). Favourable development on 

the labour market, private consumption, the significant de-

cline in the oil price, low interest rates and – with a view to 

exports – the favourable euro exchange rate supported the 

rise in economic growth.

The drop in prices for oil and other raw materials played a 

major role in the deterioration of the economic situation in 

Russia, as did the impact of the economic sanctions re-

sulting from the annexation of Crimea and the Ukraine 

conflict. Against this backdrop, GDP declined by 3.7% 

(2014: +0.6%) in 2015, according to IMF data. In Eastern 

European EU countries, the economy picked up steam 

over the course of 2015. The region benefited from devel-

opments in the Eurozone. Polish exports were most affect-

ed by the recession in Russia.

In the USA, the modest economic upturn continued in 

2015. The American economy grew by 2.5% (2014: 2.4%), 

according to IMF estimates. For structural reasons, the 

Chinese economy’s growth momentum has been losing 

steam for several years. Exports and imports declined 

more sharply than expected. According to IMF data, the 

Chinese economy grew in 2015 by 6.9% (2014: 7.3%).

Economic environment

Bolstered by low commodities prices and private consumption, the global economy achieved 

growth of 3.1% in 2015. The upturn in the Eurozone continued, with a 1.5% increase in gross 

domestic product. The German economy grew by 1.7%. Thanks to low inflation, rises in income 

directly benefited purchasing power, encouraging higher demand and pushing retail sales.
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Currency development

The European Central Bank (ECB) continued to push 

ahead with its policy of low interest rates in 2015. The 

ECB’s monetary policy had a tangible impact on the euro’s 

value against the US dollar. The ECB reference rate for the 

US dollar against the euro stood at 1.09 (2014: 1.21) as at 

31 December 2015.

Industry development

According to data from Eurostat, the European Union’s 

statistical office, retail sales volume in the Eurozone  

increased noticeably in 2015 (+1.4% year on year until  

November). Consumer confidence in the Eurozone (the 

European Commission’s Consumer Confidence Index) 

also rose over the course of the year. The value of 

– 5.7 points in December 2015 was slightly above the  

annual average. At – 6.1 points, the annual average  

was significantly higher than the long-term mean of 

– 12.8 points. The Business Climate Indicator for the eco

nomy in the Eurozone also posted positive development 

over the course of 2015, according to information from the 

European Commission, reaching a value of 0.41 points in 

December (2014: 0.08 points).

In Germany, the positive development on the labour mar-

ket played a pivotal role in economic performance. The 

unemployment rate fell by 0.3 percentage points over the 

course of the year to 6.4%. Rising employment and higher 

incomes boosted consumption as the cornerstone of eco-

nomic performance. According to estimates by the Federal 

Statistical Office, retail turnover rose by 2.8 to 3.1% in 

Germany in 2015. Turnover of furnishings and household 

appliances grew by 2.4% (at constant prices) or 2.3% (at 

the respective prices).

Private consumption is responsible for over 50% of GDP in 

Germany and was the main driving force behind the Ger-

man economy in 2015, according to information from the 

Federal Statistical Office. With an inflation rate of just 0.3%, 

growth in income benefited purchasing power nearly en-

tirely. Adjusted for price, consumption expenditure was up 

1.9% year on year.

Towards the end of 2015, consumer sentiment deteriorat-

ed in Germany. Based on its regular surveys, the GfK mar-

ket research institute calculated a consumer confidence 

index of 9.3 points for December. The index therefore 

remains high (2014: 8.7 points) after peaking at 10.2 points 

at mid-year.

The economic climate index published by the ifo institute, 

Munich, also declined slightly at the end of the reporting 

period after having increased constantly (with slight fluctu-

ations) from the start of the year until November. Whereas 

the index value for the manufacturing sector increased 

once again in December 2015, it fell slightly for retail. How-

ever, the index values for the climate, situation and expec-

tations in the industrial sector in Germany are all still some 

three points higher than they were at the end of 2014.

Regulatory environment

The regulatory environment for the Leifheit Group’s business 

model and products remained largely unchanged in the 

financial year 2015.
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Comparison of actual performance 
with projected business performance

Expectations for the business in 2015 were achieved, and 

in part significantly exceeded. Turnover in the Leifheit 

Group rose by 5.0% to € 231.8 million. The original plan 

envisaged an increase of 2 to 3%. This was due, above all, 

to the positive trend in Brand Business, with greater de-

mand for Leifheit cleaning and laundry care products. 

Compared to the planned growth of 3 to 4%, turnover ac-

tually increased in Brand Business by 4.3%, to € 188.1 

million. In our Volume Business, we had anticipated con-

stant turnover development. We were also able to increase 

turnover in this area by 8.6% to € 43.7 million, thanks to a 

newly acquired retail partner.

Earnings before interest and taxes were € 21.7 million. The 

forecast had been € 16.4 million. The causes for this signi

ficant increase are higher contribution margins from the 

accelerated increase in turnover, and also a foreign curren-

cy result of € 2.5 million. Compared with the forecast the 

return on capital employed rose to 18.1% (12.7% expect-

ed) and the free cash flow to € 14.1 million (expected: 

€ 0.0 million). This is attributable to the significantly higher 

result as well as lower receivables and higher liabilities as 

at balance sheet date. An additional contributing factor 

was lower-than-expected investments (in part due to post-

ponement of planned measures).

The forecasts contained in the financial report for the 2014 

year for business performance in the subsequent year 

were continuously reviewed by Leifheit. Where necessary, 

they were adjusted to the specific current development as 

the year proceeded. Ad-hoc announcements, the quarter-

ly financial reporting and the equity forum were used for 

this purpose.

The result (EBIT) achieved for the first quarter of 2015 was 

significantly higher than forecast. The cause was the signi

ficantly higher foreign currency result due to movements in 

the US dollar exchange rate in this period. As a result, the 

earnings forecast for the 2015 financial year was raised 

from € 19.0 to € 20.0 million in April (ad-hoc announ

cement). We had previously anticipated a Group result at 

the level of the adjusted previous year’s result of € 16.4 

million. At that time, the turnover forecast remained un-

changed. At the end of the third quarter, we adjusted our 

expectations for the full year result to a good € 20 million in 

view of the further business development.

At Group level, we had originally expected turnover growth 

of 2 to 3% in the 2015 financial year. In our Brand Business 

we reckoned with an increase in turnover of 3 to 4%; in 

Volume Business, in contrast, we expected constant turn-

over. With publication of the half-yearly financial report, 

the turnover forecast was adjusted. Due to the positive 

development in Brand Business we raised the growth fore-

cast in the segment from 3 to 4% to 4 to 5%. At Group 

level, we now expected an increase of 3 to 4%. After nine 

months, we further clarified the forecasts: the strong 

development of Brand Business continued, and as a result 

of the initial stocking of a French retail partner with Biram-

beau kitchen products, turnover in Volume Business also 

increased strongly in the third quarter. For this reason we 

raised the forecast for turnover growth in the Group to ap-

prox. 4%, and in Brand Business we assumed an increase 

of around 5%.

The total investments planned for 2015 in the amount of 

€ 9.0 million were reduced to € 7.5 million in November 

2015. At that time we also expected a free cash flow of 

more than € 8.0 million (originally € 0.0 million).

Net assets, financial position  
and results of operations

Group turnover rose by 5.0% to € 231.8 million. With an increase of 4.3%, Brand Business 

continued to develop very positively. At the same time, non-current turnover development 

was stabilised in Volume Business. Earnings before interest and taxes were € 21.7 million. 

Adjusted by the foreign currency earnings, the EBIT rose by € 2.8 million to € 19.2 million.
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Adjustments to forecasts
Actual  

31 Dec 2014
Forecast  

2015
April  
2015

August  
2015 

November 
2015

Actual  
31 Dec 2015

Turnover Group € 220.7 m +2 to 3% +3 to 4% approx. +4%
€ 231.8 m

+5.0%

Turnover Brand Business € 180.4 m +3 to 4% +4 to 5% around +5%
€ 188.1 m

+4.3%

Turnover Volume Business € 40.3 m

constant 
turnover 

development
€ 43.7 m

+8.6%

EBIT Group € 21.5 m € 16.4 m € 19.0 – 20.0 m about € 20 m € 21.7 m

EBIT share Brand Business 75% around 75% 71%

EBIT share Volume Business 25% around 25% 29%

Investments € 6.2 m € 9.0 m € 7.5 m € 7.1 m

Free cash flow € 18.4 m € 0.0 m > € 8.0 m 14.1 m

ROCE 20.3% 12.7% 18.1%

Business performance

Group turnover significantly higher than 
the previous year

In the 2015 financial year, the Leifheit Group achieved turn-

over in the amount of € 231.8 million (2014: € 220.7 mil-

lion) representing a significant growth of 5.0% in compari-

son with the previous year. The growth achieved is thus 

above market developments in our core target regions, 

not only in relation to sales performance in the countries of 

the Eurozone, but also in relation to retail in Germany. 

57.4% of turnover was realised in foreign markets (2014: 

56.9%).
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43.740.3

20152014

€ 231.8 m 
Turnover Group

The healthy growth in our Brand Business contributed to 

this, in particular with Leifheit brand products, and the 

dynamic development of the cleaning product category. 

At the same time we managed to achieve significant 

growth in our Volume Business. In this respect we benefit-

ted from the development of specific sectors in the 

segment, above all in the third and fourth quarters of the 

reporting period. We furthermore achieved above-average 

growth in a number of Central European markets. The very 

satisfactory development of our e-commerce distribution 

channel also once again made a contribution. In this area 

turnover increased by almost 18% to € 25.3 million (2014: 

€ 21.5 million).

Sustained growth in Germany

In Germany the Leifheit Group achieved turnover in the 

amount of € 98.8 million in the 2015 financial year (2014: 

€ 95.0 million), representing an increase of 3.9%. In the 

previous year the growth rate had been 2.1%. 42.6% of 

Group turnover in the reporting period was hence made in 

our domestic market (2014: 43.1%). We were able to 

realise particular gains in the product categories of clean-

ing and laundry care as well as in the DIY, e-commerce, 

discounters and hypermarkets distribution channels.

220.7 231.8
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Above-average turnover development in 
Central European markets 

We achieved total growth of 7.7% in our Central European 

foreign markets. Turnover in the reporting period reached a 

peak of € 103.2 million (2014: € 96.0 million). The target 

region of Central Europe generated a share of 44.5% of 

Group turnover in the 2015 financial year (2014: 43.5%). 

This proportion was higher than that of our domestic mar-

ket. This development underscores our efforts to continu-

ally expand our business internationally.

Eastern European markets with stable 
turnover

Despite the recession in Russia and the continuing crisis in 

the Ukraine, we achieved a slight increase in turnover in 

the Eastern European region. At € 19.6 million, it was 0.8% 

higher in the reporting period than in the comparable 

preceding period (2014: € 19.4 million). Declining turnover 

in Russia, the Ukraine, and Slovakia was counterbalanced 

by strong growth in the Czech Republic and Poland. Turn-

over in Eastern Europe continued to be generated exclu-

sively in Brand Business. This growth was achieved in the 

product categories cleaning and laundry care. The share of 

turnover of the target region of Eastern Europe amounted 

to 8.4% in the reporting period (2014: 8.8%).

57.4 %
Foreign share

Constant development outside Europe 

In the non-European markets we took a first step in the 

reporting period towards our goal of once more making 

greater use of sales opportunities in these regions. In these 

markets we achieved turnover of € 10.2 million, represent-

ing a decline of only 0.9% on the previous year (2014: 

€ 10.3 million). While we were able to achieve pleasing 

growth rates in the Middle East and in the Far East, we 

also experienced a drop in turnover in the USA due to 

weaker Project Business.

Stable development of Group turnover in 
the quarters

Group turnover largely developed uniformly in the reporting 

period. In part, seasonal influences were apparent in the 

course of the financial year. The second quarter of 2015, 

for example, was marked by the later onset of spring busi-

ness with rotary dryers due to a cold spell in Germany in 

the first few months of the year. The clear increase in 

growth in the third quarter of 2015 was due to the devel-

opment of our Volume Business. In this area we were able 

to generate unusually high level of additional turnover 

through the initial supply of a new retail partner. In the 

fourth quarter, the effect was mainly due to a special sales 

campaign in the previous year, which could not be repeat-

ed in the reporting period.

Group turnover development by quarter

€ m 2014 2015

Q1 55.9
58.1

(+3.9%)

Q2 52.4
55.1

(+5.2%)

Q3 53.5
60.0

(+12.3%)

Q4 58.9
58.6

(– 0.6%)

220.7
231.8

(+5.0%)
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Brand Business with continuous growth

Brand Business lies at the heart of our strategy for in-

creased growth in Group turnover and income.

We succeeded in increasing turnover in our strategically 

significant Brand Business in the reporting period by 4.3% 

to € 188.1 million (2014: € 180.4 million). It is our goal to 

continue to expand our business with high-quality pro

ducts from the Leifheit and Soehnle brands. The growth of 

Brand Business in the reporting period was crucially sus-

tained by the cleaning and laundry care product catego-

ries; the key driver of growth was above all the dynamic 

turnover development of Leifheit cleaning products. Brand 

Business achieved a share of 81.1% in Group turnover 

(2014: 81.8%).

In Germany we were able to increase our turnover in Brand 

Business in the reporting period by 4.8% to € 95.8 million 

(2014: € 91.3 million). This growth was made possible by 

new products in the cleaning and laundry care categories, 

extensive support of retail at the point of sale (POS) and 

sustained positive consumer sentiment during the course 

of 2015.

In our Central European markets we achieved turnover in 

Brand Business in the amount of € 65.7 million – an in-

crease of 3.5% over the previous year (2014: € 63.6 mil-

lion). We achieved strong growth rates, for example in 

Austria, Italy, Belgium and Luxembourg; turnover in the 

Netherlands remained stable at a high level, while declining 

slightly in France.

Turnover from our brands in the Eastern European target 

markets was € 19.6 million. At 0.8%, this was slightly over 

the previous year’s figure (2014: € 19.4 million). Pro-

nounced growth in the Czech Republic and Poland en

abled us to compensate for crisis-driven downturns in 

Russia and the Ukraine.

In the non-European sales regions, turnover in the 2015 

financial year totalled € 7.0 million. Compared to the previ-

ous year this represents an increase of 13.9% (2014: 

€ 6.1 million). The individual target markets developed in 

very different ways. While turnover in the USA declined sig-

nificantly, in the Middle East and the Far East we achieved 

healthy turnover growth.

+ 4.3%
Turnover growth in  
Brand Business
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Volume Business above expectations

The intention with our Volume Business is to support our 

brands, and we manage this segment with a strong focus 

on profitability. Volume Business is strong in European 

markets, and Project Business is focused on the product 

categories Kitchen and Laundry Care.

In the 2015 financial year, we achieved turnover in our 

Volume Business in the amount of € 43.7 million (2014: 

€ 40.3 million). This corresponds to an increase of 8.6% 

over the previous year. Hence Volume Business represents 

a share of 18.9% of turnover in the Leifheit Group.

This pleasing development was primarily attributable to the 

Birambeau business in France. We profited there in the 

third quarter from the initial supply of a new retail partner 

with kitchen products. Our French subsidiary Herby gener-

ated the major share of turnover in Volume Business in the 

laundry care category. In 2015 we also achieved significant 

growth in this area, which is substantially based on two 

clients who were also newly acquired. Thanks to this, turn-

over in our Central Europe region rose in Volume Business 

by 15.8% to € 37.5 million (2014: € 32.4 million).

+ 8.6 %
Turnover growth 
in Volume Business
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In Germany we achieved turnover of € 3.0 million (2014: 

€ 3.7 million). The significant decline once again compared 

with the previous year is to be seen as an after-effect of 

consolidation in the DIY distribution channel through the 

withdrawal of one of the large chains. The category of 

laundry care was particularly affected by the decline. 

In the Eastern European markets, we are not currently ac-

tive in the Volume Business segment. Outside Europe, we 

generated turnover in the amount of € 3.2 million in the 

2015 financial year (2014: € 4.2 million), predominantly in 

the USA.

0

10

20

30

40

Volume Business: turnover by region
i n  €  m

  2014      2015

Germany

32.4

3.23.7 4.2

Central Europe Eastern 
Europe

Rest of the 
world

3.0

37.5

0.00.0

Development of results of operations

Earnings before interest and taxes slightly 
above previous year’s level

The Leifheit Group generated earnings before interest and 

taxes (EBIT) of € 21.7 million in the 2015 financial year de-

spite reduced foreign currency gains (2014: € 21.5 million). 

At € 2.5 million, the foreign currency result in the reporting 

period was considerably lower than in the previous year 

(2014: € 5.1 million). The foreign currency result includes 

changes in the fair values of forward foreign exchange 

transactions for which no hedging relationship exists, for-

eign currency valuations and foreign currency gains and 

losses realised. The foreign currency result, which was 

once again very positive, resulted chiefly from the forward 

foreign exchange transactions concluded and the perfor-

mance of the US dollar. 

€ 21.7 m 
Group EBIT

Earnings before the foreign currency result were € 19.2 

million in the reporting period (2014: € 16.4 million). This 

corresponds to an increase of € 2.8 million or 16.8% over 

the previous year. This was primarily attributable to contri-

bution margins from the increased turnover.

Due to reduced foreign currency gains compared with the 

previous year, the EBIT margin fell by 0.5 percentage 

points to 9.3% (2014: 9.8%). It is defined as earnings be-

fore interest and taxes in relation to turnover. In contrast, 

adjusted for the foreign currency result, the EBIT margin 

rose by 0.9 percentage points to 8.3% (2014: 7.4%).

Earnings before taxes (EBT) were € 20.2 million in the re-

porting period (2014: € 19.8 million). The financial result 

included therein improved, at € – 1.4 million compared with 

the previous year (2014: € – 1.7 million). After deduction of 

taxes, the Leifheit Group ultimately achieved a net result 

for the period of € 14.3 million (2014 € 14.1 million).

In the 2015 financial year, comprehensive income after 

taxes for the Leifheit Group was € 20.4 million (2014: 

€ 7.9 million). It includes the net result for the period and, 

in addition, other comprehensive income. The other com-

prehensive income also includes components that are re-

corded not under the net result for the period, but under 

equity as other reserves. This relates to the currency ef-

fects from the conversion of financial statements in foreign 

currencies, value changes from hedging transactions, cur-

rency effects of equity-replacing loans from Group compa-

nies and, in particular, actuarial gains and losses from pen-

sion obligations. Other comprehensive income rose by 

€ 12.3 million to € 6.0 million (2014: € –6.3 million). The 

increase is essentially due to actuarial gains from pension 

obligations. While losses of € 12.2 million accrued in the 

previous year due to the drop in the discount rate, gains of 

€ 2.5 million resulted due to the slight rise in the interest 

rate in the reporting period.

€ 14.3 m 
Net result for 

the period
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Leifheit measures profitability of the capital employed us-

ing the indicator return on capital employed (ROCE). This 

ratio is derived from the sum of EBIT and actual taxes in 

relation to the capital employed, i.e. the sum of receiv

ables, inventories and assets less trade payables. In 2015, 

ROCE fell by 2.2 percentage points to 18.1% (2014: 

20.3%). This was primarily attributable to the increase in 

actual taxes and the increase in working capital due to the 

expanded volume of business. Adjusted for the foreign 

currency result, ROCE rose by 0.9 percentage points to 

15.5% (2014: 14.6%).
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Further significant increase in gross profit

In the reporting year, gross profit increased to € 108.3 mil-

lion (2014: € 105.2 million). The increase of € 3.1 million in 

comparison with the previous year was mainly a result of 

the contribution margins of the increased turnover. While 

turnover rose by € 11.1 million, the gross margin fell by 1.0 

percentage points to 46.7% (2014: 47.7%).

The gross margin is defined as gross profit in relation to 

turnover. The main cause for the drop in gross margin in 

the reporting period was the drastic decline in value of the 

US dollar and of the HK dollar against the euro. 

18.1%
ROCE

46.7%
Gross margin

Due to currency movements, this  resulted in significantly 

higher purchasing prices for goods purchased in US dol-

lars and HK dollars, particularly in the Far East. Currency 

hedging by means of forward foreign exchange transac-

tions in hedge accounting, which is included in the margin, 

was unable to fully compensate for this. This contrasts 

with foreign currency gains from foreign exchange transac-

tions which are not reported in hedge accounting and were 

recorded in the foreign currency result. Adjusted for the 

currency effect, the gross margin rose in the reporting pe-

riod by 1.1 percentage points (2014: 2.8 percentage 

points). The continued consistent focus on high-margin 

products and business and optimisations in purchasing 

contributed to this.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure in research and development rose by € 1.0 

million to € 4.8 million (2014: € 3.8 million). These costs 

mainly include personnel costs, costs for services and 

patent fees.

The increase is due to our new innovation strategy (“Inno-

vation Factory”) and the associated personnel recruitment 

as well as an increase in external services. Personnel costs 

increased by € 0.5 million, and services by € 0.8 million.

Distribution costs

Distribution costs in the reporting period amounted to 

€ 70.2 million (2014: € 69.4 million). Distribution costs in-

cluded advertising costs, commissions, marketing costs, 

freight out, delivery charges and the costs incurred by the 

internal and external teams.

Turnover-dependent costs such as freight out, com

missions and packaging materials and services for demon-

stration and promotional staff rose with the increased 

turnover. This contrasts with a decline in advertising costs 

of € 1.1 million. In 2014, costs for market research and 

advertising had increased strongly by € 3.3 million.
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Best-in-class  
user focus
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Administrative costs

Our administrative costs in the reporting period fell by 

€ 1.5 million to € 15.3 million (2014: € 16.8 million). First and 

foremost, these costs include personnel costs and ser-

vices to support our financial and administrative functions.

Personnel costs fell by € 1.6 million, in particular due to the 

decrease in long-term board remuneration. Costs for ser-

vices fell by € 0.4 million, after an increase of € 0.2 million 

in the previous year in connection with the revision of our 

strategy. Maintenance costs in our technical production 

plant rose by € 0.3 million.

Other operating income and expenses

Other operating income rose in the reporting period by 

€ 0.4 million to € 1.5 million (2014: € 1.1 million). This 

mainly includes fees and licensing royalties. In the report-

ing period, additional income of € 0.1 million was realised 

from disposals of assets. Other operating expenses to-

talled to € 0.2 million (2014: € 0.0 million).

Foreign currency result 

In the reporting year, the foreign currency result was  

€ 2.5 million (2014: € 5.1 million).

The foreign currency gains predominantly resulted from the 

further appreciation of the US dollar and the HK dollar in 

the course of the reporting period. The valuation of forward 

foreign exchange transactions which are not reported in 

hedge accounting resulted in unrealised foreign currency 

gains of € 0.7 million (2014: € 3.1 million). Unrealised gains 

from foreign currency valuations primarily related to the 

valuation as at balance sheet date of receivables and liabil-

ities in foreign currencies. The foreign currency gains real-

ised were gains from forward foreign exchange transac-

tions due in the reporting period, foreign currency gains 

from realised receivables and liabilities, and from the 

valuation of cash in the amount of € 2.2 million (2014: 

€ 1.4 million).

€ 2.5 m 
Foreign currency result

Income statement (short version)

€m 2014 2015

Turnover 220.7 231.8

Earnings before foreign currency 
result, interest and taxes 16.4 19.2

Foreign currency result 5.1 2.5

Earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) 21.5 21.7

Interest and financial result – 1.7 – 1.5

EBT 19.8 20.2

Income taxes – 5.7 – 5.9

Net result for the period 14.1 14.3

Other comprehensive income – 6.2 6.1

Comprehensive income 
after taxes 7.9 20.4

Interest and financial result

Our interest and financial result rose by € 0.3 million  

to € –1.4 million (2014: € –1.7 million). Interest income  

fell due to the further drop in the interest rate level from 

€ 0.4 million in the previous year to € 0.1 million in the  

reporting period. Interest expenses likewise fell by € 0.6 

million to € 1.5 million. Of the interest expenses, € 1.4 mil-

lion were due to the compounding of pension obligations 

(2014: € 1.9 million) and € 0.1 million to other compoun

ding of liabilities (2014: € 0.3 million).

Taxes

In 2015, income taxes from income and earnings amount-

ed to € 5.9 million (2014: € 5.7 million). This included in-

come taxes in Germany in the amount of € 2.8 million 

(2014: € 1.6 million), foreign income taxes in the amount of 

€ 2.0 million (2014: € 1.7 million), deferred taxes in the 

amount of € 1.1 million (2014: € 2.4 million). The tax ratio 

was therefore 29.1% (2014: 28.7%). This ratio is the rela-

tionship of taxes on income to earnings before taxes. The 

increase in the ratio is essentially a result of the increased 

tax rate of Leifheit AG due to the increased collection rate 

of trade tax at the headquarters in Nassau. Deferred taxes 

include deferred tax expenses arising from the use of 

carry-forwards by Leifheit AG to the amount of € 1.1 million 

(2014: € 2.0 million). 

29.1%
Tax ratio
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Deferred taxes fell because the corporation taxes loss 

carry-forwards of Leifheit AG in the 2014 financial year 

were fully utilised, and in 2015 only trade taxes loss 

carry-forwards were available. Conversely, the corporation 

taxes of Leifheit AG rose by € 1.1 million.

Segment results

In Brand Business, the Leifheit Group achieved an EBIT in 

the amount of € 15.5 million in the 2015 financial year 

(2014: € 16.2 million). The decline was solely the result of 

the lower year on year foreign currency result of € 0.9 mil-

lion (2014: € 4.0 million). On the other hand, the EBIT  

adjusted for the foreign currency result was € 14.6 million 

(2014: € 12.2.million) – an increase of € 2.4 million.  

The gross margin fell slightly by 0.8 percentage points  

to 49.3% (2014: 50.1%). The main cause was the 

increased cost of purchasing goods due to the further 

appreciation of the US dollar and the HK dollar over the 

course of the year. However, the contribution margin in 

Brand Business increased by € 0.9 million to € 77.3 million 

(2014: € 76.4 million). The negative currency effect was 

overcompensated by additional contribution margins from 

the higher turnover. The EBIT also profited from a drop in 

costs in Brand Business.

This means that in the 2015 financial year Brand Business 

accounted for around 71% of the Group result (2014: 

around 75%). Adjusted for the foreign currency result, the 

share was 76% (2014: around 74%) – in line with our stra-

tegic focus on higher-margin business.

In Volume Business the EBIT was € 6.2 million in the re-

porting period (2014: € 5.3 million). Adjusted for the for-

eign currency result, EBIT amounted to € 4.6 million, which 

was € 0.4 million higher than the previous year (2014: 

€ 4.2 million). As was also the case for Brand Business, 

the gross margin fell by 1.5 percentage points due to cur-

rency movements to 35.4% (2014: 36.9%). Due to  

additional contribution margins from the increased turn

over, the contribution margin rose in Volume Business by  

€ 0.2 million to € 13.7 million (2014: € 13.5 million).

€ 15.5 m
EBIT Brand Business

€ 6.2 m
EBIT Volume Business
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Development of the financial situation

Financial management

Leifheit maintains a centralised financial management for 

liquidity and currency management. An important goal of 

our financial management strategy is to ensure a minimum 

Group liquidity in order to meet our payment obligations at 

all times. Therefore, most Group companies have been in-

tegrated by Leifheit into central cash management opera-

tions. Cash and cash equivalents are pooled throughout 

the Group, monitored and invested according to uniform 

principles. High levels of liquid assets improve our financial 

flexibility and secure our solvency and independence 

across the Group. Additional lines of credit available at 

short notice enable us to draw on further liquidity reserves 

if necessary.

The Group liquidity and lines of credit available mean that 

we are always in a position to be able to meet our payment 

obligations. There are no restrictions regarding the avail

ability of cash.

We also control our currency exchange risks on a Group-

wide basis. We guarantee this through the use of selected 

derivatives. The use of derivatives is exclusively for the pur-

pose of hedging our underlying business. They are not 

used for speculative purposes. We have clear rules in 

place in the area of financial risk management, which also 

cover the use of derivative financial instruments.
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Our system for compliance with the requirements arising 

from section 20 para. 1 of the German securities trading 

act (WpHG) was examined by an auditor for the period 

from 1 April 2014 to 31 December 2014 (EMIR audit) and 

issued with an unqualified certificate.

Liquidity management

Our operating activity is the primary source of building up 

and expanding cash, cash equivalents, other investments 

and short-term securities. In the past, we have largely 

used cash and cash equivalents for our business activities 

and the resulting investments, for the acquisition of com-

panies or parts of companies, the payment of dividends 

and the repurchase of own shares. In the future, we aim to 

generate sufficient liquidity to ensure a distribution of annu-

al dividends in the context of a continuous dividend policy.

As at 31 December 2015, we held cash, cash equivalents, 

other investments and current financial assets primarily in 

euros, US dollars, Czech korunas and Polish zloty. We pur-

sue a prudent investment policy. As a result, we generally 

only invest in financial assets of issuers that have a mini-

mum credit rating of BBB.

Management of capital structure

Our primary objective in the management of capital struc-

ture is maintaining a strong financial profile. As a result, we 

focus on maintaining sufficient levels of equity. We do this 

in order to boost the trust that investors, banks, custom-

ers, suppliers and employees have in our company. We 

focus the management of our capital structure on ensuring 

that we can meet our future potential financing require-

ments on reasonable terms in the capital market.

Capital structure 

The equity ratio at the end of the 2015 financial year was 

44.9% (2014: 42.5%). It is calculated from the proportion 

of equity to the total of equity and liabilities.

As at 31 December 2015, our debt level compared to the 

previous year’s balance sheet date decreased by 2.4 per-

centage points to 55.1% (2014: 57.5 %). This key figure is 

the result of the ratio of current and non-current debt to the 

sum of equity and liabilities. The decrease in the debt eq-

uity ratio is primarily a result of the increase in equity. At the 

same time, liabilities also increased at the balance sheet 

date. Higher liabilities from trade payables and other liabil-

ities as well as higher deferred taxes were the main causes 

of the increase by € 2.7 million.

As at 31 December 2015, liabilities mainly consisted of 

pension obligations in the amount of € 66.4 million (2014: 

€ 69.0 million), trade payables and other liabilities of € 50.8 

million (2014: € 47.8 million), provisions with a value of 

€ 8.6 million (2014: € 8.0 million) and deferred tax liabilities 

of € 4.3 million (2014: € 2.5 million). As in the previous year, 

Leifheit had no liabilities to banks at the end of the financial 

year 2015.

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

€m
Share 

in % €m
Share 

in %

Equity 94.8 42.5 106.7 44.9

�Current  
liabilities 54.8 58.3

�Non-current  
liabilities 73.773.7 72.9

Liabilities 128.5 57.5 131.2 55.1

Equity and  
liabilities 223.3 100.0 237.9 100.0

44.9%
Equity ratio
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Analysis of Group liquidity

Group liquidity was € 68.2 million as at 31 December 2015 

(2014: € 62.8 million). Group liquidity includes cash and 

cash equivalents, as well as current financial assets. Cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of € 64.2 million (2014: 

€ 58.8 million) included demand deposits and fixed depos-

its which may be terminated within three months. Current 

financial assets in the amount of € 4.0 million (2014:  

€ 4.0 million) included a registered bond with a term to 

maturity until March 2017, but which may also be 

terminated before reaching maturity with a period of three 

months’ notice. As at balance sheet date, Group liquidity 

primarily consisted of amounts in euros to the value of 

€ 59.8 million (2014: € 56.4 million), US dollars in the 

amountof € 4.2 million (2014: € 0.9 million), Czech korunas 

in the amount of € 1.6 million (2014: € 0.6 million) and 

Polish zloty in the amount of € 1.9 million (2014: € 0.4 mil-

lion).

The increase of € 5.4 million in Group liquidity as at  

31 December 2015 to € 68.2 million is primarily attributa-

ble to the cash flow from operating activities in the amount 

of € 20.8 million (2014: € 24.5 million). This was offset by 

the dividends of € 8.6 million paid in the reporting period 

(2014: € 7.8 million) and investments of € 7.1million (2014: 

€ 6.2 million).

€ 68.2 m 
Group liquidity

€m Change 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Credit balances at  
banks 5.4 58.8 64.2

Current financial  
assets – 4.0 4.0

Group liquidity 5.4 62.8 68.2

Financial liabilities – – –

Net liquidity 5.4 62.8 68.2

Analysis of the Group statement of 
cash flow

In 2015, the cash flow from operating activities fell by  

€ 3.7 million to € 20.8 million (2014: € 24.5 million). The 

primary reasons were the net result for the period in the 

amount of € 14.3 million (2014: € 14.1 million), deprecia-

tion of € 5.8 million (2014: € 6.3 million), a decrease in 

trade receivables of € 2.6 million (2014: increase of € 2.0 

million), an increase in inventories of € 7.5 million (2014: 

increase of € 1.8 million), and the increase in trade pay

ables and other liabilities of € 3.0 million (2014: increase of 

€ 8.5 million).

Cash flow from investment activities in the 2015 financial 

year came to € 6.7 million (2014: € 9.1 million). Payments 

for the purchase of tangible and intangible assets contrib-

uted € 7.1 million (2014: € 6.2 million) to this figure. In the 

reporting period there was no change in the financial as-

sets (2014: payments of € 3.0 million). The disposal of 

fixed assets realised € 0.5 million (2014: € 0.1 million). This 

mainly related to the disposal of a warehouse at the head-

quarters of Leifheit AG.

€ 20.8 m
Cash flow from  
operating activities
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The cash flow from financing activities was € 8.5 million 

(2014: € 7.8 million). It essentially consisted of the pay-

ment of dividends in the amount of € 8.6 million (2014: 

€ 7.8 million).

€m Change 2014 2015

Cash flow from  
operating activities – 3.7 24.5 20.8

Cash flow from  
investment activities 2.4 – 9.1 – 6.7

Cash flow from  
financing activities – 0.7 – 7.8 – 8.5

Free cash flow

Free cash flow fell in the 2015 financial year to € 14.1 mil-

lion (2014: € 18.4 million). This key figure indicates how 

much liquidity was available for the repayment of debt 

financing or for the distribution of dividends to sharehold-

ers. Free cash flow is the total of cash flow from operating 

activities and cash flow from investment activities, adjust-

ed for incoming and outgoing payments in financial assets 

as well as from the divestiture of business divisions. The 

primary reason for the decrease was the turnover-driven 

increase in working capital.

€m Change 2014 2015

Cash flow from  
operating activities – 3.7 24.5 20.8

Cash flow from investment 
activities adjusted * – 0.6 – 6.1 – 6.7

Free cash flow – 4.3 18.4 14.1
* �Adjusted for financial assets and liquidation of divisions.

Lines of credit

In the 2015 financial year, we had short-term revolving 

credit lines of € 11.5 million (2014: € 11.5 million). On 

31 December 2015, € 0.5 million was utilised in the form of 

guarantees and letters of credit (2014: € 0.5 million).

€ 14.1 m
Free cash flow

Development of net assets

Balance sheet structure

The balance sheet total of the Leifheit Group increased as 

at 31 December 2015 by € 14.6 million, compared to the 

previous year’s balance sheet date, to € 237.9 million 

(2014: € 223.3 million). This increase was largely due to 

higher current assets. At the balance sheet date, current 

assets amounted to € 167.6 million, € 12.9 million more 

than as at 31 December 2014. One reason for this was the 

increase in cash, inventories and derivative financial instru-

ments. Cash increased by € 5.4 million to € 64.2 million by 

the end of the reporting period (2014: € 58.8 million). As in 

the previous year, financial assets included registered 

bonds in the amount of € 4.0 million. Trade receivables fell 

by € 2.5 million to € 46.1 million (2014: € 48.6 million), 

primarily due to the lower turnover in December 2015 

compared with December 2014. Inventories rose by  

€ 7.6 million to € 43.0 million. (2014: € 35.4 million). The 

increase in inventories was mainly a result of stockpiling for 

a listing with a newly acquired retail partner in France. 

Short-term derivative financial instrument asset increased 

by € 2.3 million to € 5.6 million (2014: € 3.3 million). They 

included not only the appreciation of forward foreign 

exchange transactions newly concluded in 2015, but also 

the further appreciation of transactions existing since 

2014.

Our non-current net assets rose by € 1.8 million to  

€ 70.4 million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: € 68.6 mil-

lion). This was primarily attributable to the increase of € 2.8 

million in derivative financial instrument assets to € 4.8 mil-

lion (2014: € 2.0 million), which, like the current derivative 

financing instruments, include the appreciation of new and 

existing forward foreign exchange transactions. Assets 

also increased by € 1.3 million due to the increase in 

investments of € 0.9 million, with a decrease in depreciation 

of € 0.5 million. The decrease in deferred tax assets of 

€ 1.6 million to € 9.8 million (2014: € 11.4 million) was 

essentially due to the utilisation of the remaining loss 

carry-forwards of Leifheit AG. By contrast, non-current 

income tax receivables decreased by € 0.7 million to € 0.8 

million as at the balance sheet date (2014: € 1.5 million).
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Equity amounted to € 106.7 million as at 31 December 

2015 (2014: € 94.8 million). Significant factors in the devel-

opment of equity were the net result for the period in the 

amount of € 14.3 million (2014: € 14.1 million), the positive 

result of other comprehensive income at € 6.0 million 

(2014: € – 6.3 million) and dividend payment amounting to 

€ 8.6 million (2014: € 7.8 million). The equity ratio,  that is 

the proportion of equity capital to total assets, was hence 

44.9% as at the end of the financial year 2015 (2014: 

42.5%).

Investments

We invested a total of € 7.1 million in the financial year 

2015 (2014: € 6.2 million). This includes investments in the 

expansion of our Czech production location in the form of 

a warehouse for the Eastern Europe logistics centre in the 

amount of € 1.9 million. Completion of this distribution 

centre is planned for mid-2016. All other major invest-

ments in the 2015 financial year were largely completed at 

year’s end.

At headquarters in Nassau, a warehouse that was surplus 

to requirements was sold. The proceeds were € 0.3 mil-

lion. There were no further significant disposals of assets in 

the reporting period. 

44.9% 
Equity ratio

€ 7.1 m 
Investments

Current liabilities, i.e those with maturities of less than one 

year, include trade payables and other liabilities, derivative 

financial instruments, liabilities from income taxes and 

provisions. As at 31 December 2015, they increased to 

€ 58.3 million, € 3.5 million more than the end of the 

previous year (2014: € 54.8 million). The increase is 

primarily due to higher trade payables and other liabilities, 

which increased by € 3.0 million to € 50.8 million (2014: 

€ 47.8 million). This mainly involved trade payables, with 

an increase of € 5.1 million. In contrast, current derivative 

financial instrument liabilities decreased by € 0.7 million 

(2014: € 0.7 million).

Non-current liabilities fell by € 0.8 million to € 72.9 million 

at the end of the 2015 financial year (2014: € 73.7 million). 

Non-current liabilities chiefly include pension obligations in 

the amount of € 66.4 million (2014: € 69.0 million). The 

decrease of € 2.6 million in pension obligations primarily 

resulted from actuarial gains of € 2.5 million (2014: losses 

of € 12.2 million). This was mainly all due to the increase in 

actuarial interest rates for the pension obligations from  

2.2 to 2.3%.

Value-chain efficiency
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Balance sheet ratios
i n  €m

2014 2014

63
Cash and cash equivalents  

and financial assets
59

Other provisions  
and liabilities

68 65

35Inventories
69Pension reserves

43
66

56
Receivables and  

other current assets
56

15Other non-current assets 16

54Tangible and intangible assets

95Equity

55

107

2015 2015

223 223

Assets Liabilities

238 238



Additions to tangible assets in the 2015 financial year 

totalled € 6.1 million (2014: € 5.1 million). These mainly 

involved tools for new products, machines, streamlining 

investments for production plants, operating and business 

equipment and also investments in the Eastern Europe 

logistics centre in the Czech Republic. In addition, we 

invested € 1.0 million in intangible assets (2014: € 1.0 mil-

lion). This mainly concerned the purchase of software. A 

new warehouse management system was introduced in 

our German logistics centre in the 2015 financial year.

The investment ratio – additions to assets related to the 

historic procurement and production costs – amounted to 

4.1% in the 2015 financial year (2014: 3.6%). We invested 

€ 6.4 million in Brand Business (2014: € 5.5 million), and in 

Volume Business investments totalled € 0.7 million (2014: 

€ 0.7 million). Investments were offset by depreciation on 

tangible assets in the amount of € 5.0 million (2014: € 5.4 

million) and amortisation on intangible assets of € 0.8 mil-

lion (2014: € 0.9 million).

As at 31 December 2015, there were contractual obliga-

tions to acquire items of tangible assets – mainly for soft-

ware, tools, fire protection systems, assembly systems 

and operating and office equipment – in the amount of 

€ 1.2 million (2014: € 1.7 million). These will be financed by 

cash and cash equivalents.

Off-balance sheet assets and off-balance 
sheet financing instruments

In addition to the assets reported in the consolidated ba

lance sheet, to a far lesser extent Leifheit also used assets 

which cannot be recorded in the balance sheet. This 

largely concerns leased goods.

In the 2015 financial year, as in previous years, we did not 

use any off-balance-sheet financing instruments.

4.1% 
Investment ratio

Overall assessment of management  
in regard to the economic situation

The 2015 financial year was a very pleasing one for Leifheit. 

We were able to achieve our performance targets, and in 

some instances even to outdo them. The consistent imple-

mentation of our strategy “Leifheit 2020” began to show 

positive results. With a turnover increase of 5% in the 

Group to € 231.8 million, we have embarked on our de-

sired growth trajectory, even if we have a long way ahead 

of us. The growth rate in the reporting period is certainly at 

the level we aspire to. 

The growth we achieved in 2015 exceeded market devel-

opments in our core target regions, not only in relation to 

sales performance in the countries of the Eurozone, but 

also in relation to retail in Germany. We see this as a sign 

that we are on the right path to improve our market posi-

tion with innovative and consumer-oriented products. We 

also achieved a slight growth in our foreign share. Over 

57% of Group turnover was realised in international 

markets. The new logistics centre in the Czech Republic is 

increasing our efficiency and flexibility in supplying goods 

to our Eastern European growth markets.

We increased our turnover in our strategically significant 

Brand Business to € 188.1 million. With this increase of 

4.2%, we were largely able to continue the development of 

the previous year. The growth in Brand Business is sup-

ported in particular by Leifheit brand products and the dy-

namic development of the cleaning product category. This 

is in line with our strategic focus on the Clean & Care prod-

uct area. In the Soehnle range, we have launched new 

products and initiatives onto the market, from which we 

expect success in the future.
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In Volume Business we were able to stabilise non-current 

turnover. We had planned with steady turnover for the 

financial year. However we succeeded in acquiring a new 

French retail partner. Thanks to the initial supply of its 

markets with Birambeau kitchen products, turnover in 

Volume Business grew vigorously. Overall we achieved 

turnover of € 43.7 million in Volume Business – an increase 

of 8.6%.

Through the significant growth of Group turnover in the 

reporting period we achieved a result (EBIT) of € 21.7 mil-

lion – despite lower foreign currency gains. This approxi-

mately corresponds to the previous year’s result, even 

though foreign currency gains were only half as high. The 

result adjusted for foreign currency gains rose by € 2.8 mil-

lion to € 19.2 million, and the adjusted margin by around 

1 percentage point to 8.3%. Hence we believe we are also 

on the right track to increase profitability.

At the end of the financial year our liquidity in the Group 

increased to € 68.2 million due to the cash flow. The high 

liquidity secures financial flexibility and independence, as 

well as the option of paying annual adequate dividends. At 

the same time, Leifheit had no liabilities to credit institu-

tions, as was already the case in the previous year. Our 

equity ratio improved further to 44.9%. With this sound 

financial profile, we believe we are well equipped to con

tinue consistently on our growth trajectory for turnover and 

earnings.
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Employees

A highly qualified and motivated workforce is of great im-

portance to us, in order to be able to achieve our demand-

ing strategic goals. This is why we support our employees 

to the best of our ability and create a working environment 

that encourages performance.

For reasons of readability, the masculine pronoun is used 

in this report as applicable. However, both genders are 

always intended.

HR strategy follows business strategy

Our “Leifheit 2020” business strategy is the basis of our 

strategic HR work. It was the basis for the creation of a 

competency model which depicts our business-specific, 

interdisciplinary expectations of management personnel 

and employees. It includes competencies that are essen-

tial for collaboration and the achievement of strategic 

goals and hence for the success of our business. It is in-

tended to provide direction in daily working life. Manage-

ment personnel and all other employees were familiarised 

with the competency model in many events, training ses-

sions and workshops. 

Diversity as a high priority

For the Leifheit Group as a business that operates interna-

tionally, the diversity of our employees with their range of 

personal qualities, talents and skills is a significant success 

factor. An appropriate proportion of women to men in the 

company and also in management positions is very impor-

tant to us. Today we already have almost balanced num-

bers. When we search for new employees, however, the 

qualifications and skills of applicants are always our main 

focus. We always aim to fill any job vacancy with the best 

candidate.

In accordance with our statutory obligation as a listed 

company in the 2015 financial year the targets for the pro-

portion of women on the Board of Management and at the 

top management level were set at one-third and published 

in the declaration of corporate management.

Staff numbers almost constant

As at 31 December 2015, the Leifheit Group employed 

1,049 people (2014: 1,055 employees). Of these emplo

yees, 410 worked in Germany (2014: 405 employees). 

This corresponded to a proportion of 39.1% (2014: 38.4%) 

of the total workforce. In the Czech Republic, we em-

ployed a total of 397 people at our production and distri-

bution locations (2014: 424 employees). In France 176 

employees (2014: 165 employees) worked for Leifheit as 

at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2015, 831 employees were part of our 

Brand Business (2014: 782 employees), a percentage 

share of 79.2% (2014: 74.1%), making up the vast majori-

ty of all employees. Our Volume Business had 218 emplo

yees (2014: 273 employees) as at the end of the year. The 

fluctuations in employee numbers between Brand Busi-

ness and Volume Business are caused by the ending of 

contract manufacturing for third parties in Blatná in the 

fourth quarter of 2015. These employees were taken on in 

brand product manufacturing. 

The average number of employees in the Leifheit Group in 

the 2015 financial year was 1,054 employees (2014: 1,039 

employees).

1,049 
Employees at the end  

of the year

Non-financial performance indicators

In addition to financial performance indicators, non-financial factors also determine our 

company’s success. Pivotal to our success are our employees, our relationships with our 

customers, the ability to regularly develop new products and solutions and also to guarantee 

efficient logistics and manufacturing. A further measure of our success is our responsible 

conduct toward society and the environment.

Culture and employees
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Remuneration, training and qualifications

The remuneration structure of the Leifheit Group was fur-

ther refined in the 2015 financial year on the basis of the 

global grading carried out in 2014. This was undertaken in 

order to fulfil our goal of remunerating the employees in our 

business in a fair manner in line with the market.

In accordance with our HR strategy, we promote the 

capabilities and expert knowledge of our employees at all 

locations. In 2015 we stepped up activities once again. We 

invested a total of € 374 k (2014: € 311 k) in training. This 

involved not only Group-wide training, for example on our 

competency model, but also numerous individual per

sonal development measures as a result of the annual 

appraisal meetings.

Modern vocational training in the Group 

As an employer we also have social responsibility to 

regions with large locations, and offer young people the 

opportunity of vocational training. Through these various 

training courses we find qualified junior staff for Leifheit. At 

the end of 2015 there was a total of 30 young people train-

ing as industrial managers, IT specialists, graphic design-

ers, tool mechanics or industrial mechanics, specialists in 

warehouse logistics and electronics technicians for indus-

trial systems at our locations in Nassau and Zuzenhausen. 

We include them in various projects even during their train-

ing. Our “junior company” was launched in 2012. Working 

together with experienced colleagues, our trainees man-

age the factory outlet stores on their own.

30
Trainees 
in Germany

Workforce of Leifheit Group

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Number of employees 1,055 1,049

of which were female 525 498

of which were male 504 521

of which were trainees 26 30

As at 31 December 2015, 109 employees were working 

part-time in the Group (2014: 76 employees).

Temporary workers are employed selectively at Leifheit, 

mostly during peak order times in production and logistics. 

Compared with the number of permanent staff, this num-

ber was negligible in 2015.

Personnel costs

Personnel costs rose by 1.6% to € 45.4 million in the 

reporting period (2014: € 46.1 million).

Consistently high number of  
long-term employees

A consistently high number of long-term employees is a 

testament to the strong loyalty of our employees to the 

business. In 2015 we were able to honour 55 employees 

on the occasion of a variety of work anniversaries. The bal-

anced ratio of trainees, skilled recruits and managers and 

colleagues who have been serving the business for many 

years is the key to successful knowledge transfer.

Characteristics of the workforce of Leifheit Group

2014 2015

Average length of service 12.6 years 11.8 years

Age structure of employees

under 30 years 15.9% 16.9%

30 to 40 years 21.7% 21.4%

40 to 50 years 26.7% 25.5%

50 to 60 years 30.0% 30.1%

over 60 years 5.7% 6.1%
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Employee survey

We evaluate the effectiveness of our measures at fixed 

intervals. The opinions of our employees are very impor-

tant to us in this process. For this reason, towards the end 

of 2015 we once again conducted an employee survey at 

our Nassau and Zuzenhausen locations on general job 

satisfaction and the leadership quality and culture of our 

management personnel. The aim of the survey is to obtain 

a realistic picture of employees’ opinions and to develop 

specific measures for change and improvement on that 

basis. The results overall show a good general sentiment 

in the business, and the information culture and communi-

cation of our “Leifheit 2020” strategy in particular were 

rated positively.

Further awards for Leifheit

In 2015, Leifheit once again received coveted certification 

as Top employer in the German SME sector, which is 

awarded by the Top Employers Institute (formerly the CFR 

Institute). This once again independently certified us as a 

company that offers its employees the ideal environment 

to develop and utilise their individual strengths. We are 

very pleased with this recognition. This underscores our 

efforts with regard to sustainable and professional HR 

development.

Health – a topic at Leifheit

In view of demographic trends, and in particular with re-

gard to the raising of the retirement age, we take the topic 

of our employees’ health seriously. Designing a suitable 

work environment is a foregone conclusion for us. Further-

more, we raise our employees’ awareness of preventative 

health issues through various measures. For example, we 

offer participation in a range of various sports activities. 

Even beyond everyday routine and office work, Leifheit 

also supports employee initiatives such as a dragon boat 

team and participation in company running events. In this 

way, we strengthen team spirit and support the region in 

which our staff live and work.

Leadership culture and communication

We value internal communication that is characterised by 

openness and trust. With regard to the successful imple-

mentation of our “Leifheit 2020” strategy, it was necessary 

on the one hand to explain to every employee the impor-

tance of the strategy for the business, and on the other 

hand to create an understanding of their individual contri-

bution to success. With this goal in mind, extensive infor-

mation events were held in 2015.

As a general principle, we offer our employees various 

forms of information and dialogue. The annual appraisal 

meeting is very important. It not only offers the opportunity 

for an in-depth exchange with supervisors, but also consti-

tutes the basis for individual training measures. In addition 

to our employee newsletter, we also hold quarterly staff 

meetings. This is an opportunity for the Board of Manage-

ment to inform the workforce at the locations in Germany 

about current business developments.

Culture and employees
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In the laundry care category, development work included 

additional components for the Leifheit Air ironing board 

system. The products in the Air series offer exceptional 

ironing results, thanks to the ideal combination of a stable 

frame, a surface made of a super-light special plastic (EPP) 

and covers featuring titanium coating. The reflection of 

steam and heat makes it possible to work up to 33% fast-

er. In the 2015 financial year the new high-quality all-in-one 

Air Active L Advanced and Air Active L Professional were 

made ready for the market and introduced.

In the category of wellbeing, we sell our products under 

the Soehnle brand. In the 2015 financial year we reviewed 

a whole series of kitchen and bathroom scales and 

equipped them with new designs or functions. New intro-

ductions on the market were the Genio, Vintage Style and 

Roma Plus scales, which also address current design 

trends. What makes the Genio kitchen scale special is the 

fold-away weighing arm that saves valuable space in the 

kitchen cupboard. This flexible measuring utensil also 

adapts to every size of bowl. Other new products available 

are the Soehnle Multi and Magia bathroom scales.

Investments in the future 

Expenditure on research and development means invest-

ments in new products and solutions for our customers. 

Innovation enables us to create the preconditions for the 

further strengthening of our market position and a contin-

uation of our successful growth. We invested a total of 

€ 4.8 million in research and development activities in the 

2015 financial year (2014: € 3.8 million). The R&D ratio, 

that is the proportion of development expenditure to 

Group turnover, was 2.1%, slightly over the previous 

year’s level of 1.7%. As at the end of 2015, 31 employees 

(2014: 28 employees) worked in the areas of development 

and patents.

€ 4.8 m 
Research and development 
expenses

Development and innovation

As a business, we aim to develop products and solutions 

that make consumers’ lives at home easier and more con-

venient. Based on the “Leifheit 2020” strategy we devel-

oped an innovation strategy which we sum up under the 

motto “Innovation Factory”. Its central characteristics are

-	 �integrating consumers more clearly into the innovation 

process,

-	 strengthening our design credentials,

-	 adopting a comprehensive innovative approach,

-	 �establishing a strategic network of innovation partners,

-	 �improving the efficiency of the idea generation, selection 

and qualification processes and

-	 �guaranteeing consistently high product quality.

The purpose of the new innovation strategy is to support the 

organic growth of the Group. Having already commenced 

implementation in 2014, we forged ahead with the task in the 

reporting period.

Continuously performance

Our development efforts in the 2015 financial year yielded 

a whole range of further developments and product inno-

vations in the four product categories of the Leifheit Group: 

cleaning, laundry care, kitchen goods and wellbeing. A 

representative sample of the many achievements is men-

tioned here.

In the cleaning category, a focus was development work 

on the new Dry & Clean model of our successful window 

vacuum cleaner and on starting to produce the model in 

our own plant in Blatná in the Czech Republic. Further-

more, we were able to further expand the Click System 

product family, offering the consumer additional solutions.

Best-in-class user focus
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Focusses of development in 2016

We are constantly working on new and improved products 

for our cleaning, laundry care, kitchen and wellbeing pro

duct categories. They are designed to strengthen our 

product portfolio and offer consumers a new level of 

convenience and user-friendliness. In this work we are 

strongly guided by our vision: “We are your leading experts 

for solutions that make your everyday life at home more 

easy and convenient.”

In the current year we are focussing strongly on further 

developments in the following areas of application: floor 

and window cleaning, and also laundry care. We are simul-

taneously working on new products for the sectors of 

Soehnle scales and kitchen, which are characterised 

above all by an aesthetically appealing and user-friendly 

design. At the same time, as part of our innovation pro-

cess, we also observe and assess new product groups not 

represented to date in our range on a regular basis. Along 

with a possible expansion of our range, the central aim 

here is to be able to offer the consumer comprehensive 

solutions.

Patents safeguard innovations

New products are the result of ideas and investments. To 

safeguard their economic value for Leifheit, we register the 

pertinent industrial property rights before we make new 

developments public. These rights protect the result of our 

work from illegal reproduction by third parties.

Whether we secure our competitive advantage by applying 

for industrial property rights in a certain country depends 

on the economic value of the innovation. What is decisive 

here is the turnover to be expected and the respective 

competitive environment. As a rule, we chiefly assess this 

in connection with our most important sales markets.

In the reporting period we applied for 13 patents and utility 

model applications (2014: 20).

Award-winning brands and products

Our Leifheit and Soehnle brands both once again received 

the honour of being named as “Superbrands” in the 

reporting year. The eponymous independent organisation 

is based in London. For more than 20 years it has been 

been awarding recognition to the strongest product and 

company brands, now in over 85 countries. The “Super-

brands” in Germany were selected for the sixth time by a 

high-calibre jury. From over 1,250 nominated brands, only 

51 received the coveted seal of quality. This award ranks 

Leifheit and Soehnle among the best brands in Germany.

In addition, many Leifheit and Soehnle brand products  

also once again received awards for their innovation, 

user-friendliness and product quality. To name a string of 

examples: Soehnle Baking Star and Page Meteo Center 

kitchen scales were voted the “kitchen innovation of the 

year” by the jury and consumers. The Page Meteo Centre 

kitchen scale also received a “Plus X Award” for quality, 

design and ease of use.

13
Patent and utility model 

applications

Innovative and leading 
solutions for target users
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In this connection we performed an in-depth analysis of 

the international procurement market relevant to us in 

2015. Our next step will be to qualify potential new suppli-

ers as alternatives to the existing portfolio of Asian suppli-

ers. We are convinced that we will profit in the long term 

from the further expansion of our range of suppliers in 

respect of value creation, service and quality. In this way 

we will secure an effective network of suppliers in order to 

guarantee the uninterrupted supply of raw materials, pri-

mary products and selected products. A prerequisite for a 

cooperative relationship with suppliers is their consistent 

acknowledgement of and compliance with Leifheit’s Social 

Code of Conduct, which we use to monitor the working 

conditions of our suppliers.

Investments in efficient logistics

Our distribution centre in Zuzenhausen is the central logis-

tics hub of the Leifheit Group. In mid-2016 it will be com-

plemented by a logistics satellite in the Czech production 

location of Blatná. The organisational structure of the dis-

tribution centre enables us to react flexibly and efficiently to 

new challenges from the market and customers. This 

equips us for further growth, so that we can meet complex 

logistical requirements, which arise for example from the 

increasing proportion of e-commerce.

In the reporting period our activities in the logistics area 

were centred on the following projects:

The efficiency of logistics processes is one of the central 

requirements for Leifheit. In order to be able to better 

satisfy future requirements, existing IT solutions were 

replaced in mid-May 2015 by the new SAP EWM (Extended 

Warehouse Management) logistics system. It was possible 

to use the existing SAP platform in the business for this 

purpose. As a result of scalable processes, the new 

system offers all the prerequisites for ongoing further 

development according to needs.

Social responsibility  
see page 44

Procurement, logistics and production

The Leifheit Group has three production locations of its 

own. They are situated in Nassau (Germany), in Blatná 

(Czech Republic) and La Loupe (France). The major part  

of our production is concentrated in Blatná. Apart from 

production at our own locations, we rely on a network of 

suppliers, primarily in Eastern Europe and Asia.

In the reporting period we produced about 49% (2014: 

49%) of the goods delivered with our own production ca-

pacities. We used suppliers for the remainder. On the pro-

curement side, we primarily purchased materials, energy 

and services, and in part merchandise.

Currency movements shape procurement

The procurement volumes for raw materials, semi-finished 

and finished goods rose in the 2015 reporting period, 

amounting to € 91.3 million (2014: € 86.4 million). Strong 

price fluctuations shaped developments on the commodi-

ties market in 2015. The area of primary plastic products in 

particular was shaped by crude oil prices and the euro ex-

change rate against the US dollar. In contrast, in the area 

of metal raw materials, aluminium and steel recorded a 

decline in price level overall due to over-capacities on the 

markets.

The decline of the euro against the US dollar, which contin-

ued in the reporting period, led to increased price pressure 

when purchasing primary products and goods from the 

Asian region. We were able to lessen long-term negative 

effects not only through currency hedging measures, but 

also through appropriate supplier management. The politi-

cally driven development of wage costs in China also con-

tinued upwards. In view of this, we continued in the 2015 

financial year to consistently pursue our strategy of lessen-

ing our dependency on procurement regions with relevant 

currency risks and long delivery times and instead focus-

sing on the European procurement market.

Value-chain efficiency
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The integrated manufacturing process in La Loupe 

includes metal forming, surface finishing and an injection 

moulding plant. Herby products are sold mainly in France.

Marketing and distribution

The Leifheit Group distributes its products through all 

relevant retail distribution channels, from classic brick-

and-mortar retail to pure e-commerce. We offer our retail 

partners a comprehensive range of services and extensive 

sales support at the point of sale (POS). We address the 

consumer as the end user of our products through the 

combination of classic and modern sales, communication 

and marketing measures.

Merging online and offline channels

New sales channels are continuing to increase their signifi-

cance for us. Part of this development is that brick-and-

mortar retail and e-commerce are increasingly combining 

to form interactive cross-channel models. This develop-

ment is being driven by changes in purchasing behaviour 

by customers who increasingly want a quicker experience, 

more flexibility and one-to-one advice. This poses new 

challenges for retailers and manufacturers. Our invest-

ments in recent years in this area in expertise, product in-

formation systems and flexible logistics processes allowed 

us to grow once again in 2015 by almost 18% in the 

e-commerce distribution channel. The share of total turn

over represented by e-commerce thus increased to almost 

11% (2014: almost 10%).

Brick-and-mortar retailers still continue to be essential 

partners for us as before, however. Hence self-service 

warehouses with growth of around 6% compared with the 

previous year and an unchanged turnover share of 32% 

remain our most important sales channel. We also in-

creased our turnover in the DIY markets in 2015 by around 

4%. The share of this sales channel was around 16% as in 

the previous year. The turnover share of discounters in-

creased slightly in comparison with 2014 to 5% (2014: 

4%). In this area we had success with attractive special 

offers, primarily with kitchen and steam iron products.

around 18 %
Turnover growth 

e-commerce

The project “Leifheit Distribution Center Eastern Europe” 

(LDE) was also commenced. Through the increased inte-

gration of our Czech production location Blatná into the 

European distribution logistics, it should be possible to 

supply the growth markets in Eastern Europe even faster 

and more flexibly in future. At the same time, the plan is to 

pool all the logistics processes of our subsidiary in Prague 

for the Czech Republic and Slovakia at a central location. 

For this purpose a fully functional logistics platform was 

established in a new factory building in Blatná in the re-

porting period. The start of the new distribution centre is 

scheduled for mid-2016.

Production in Czech Republic concentrated

The Leifheit Group has three production locations of its 

own. In our largest factory in Blatná in the Czech Republic, 

we employed 387 people at the end of the reporting period 

(2014: 410 employees). The production area is around 

20,000 sqm. Clothes dryers, ironing boards and cleaning 

appliances in particular are produced in Blatná. Production 

for third parties was brought to a close at the end of the 

fourth quarter of 2015. Capacities which had been freed 

up were used to start producing further Leifheit products 

in-house that had previously been obtained from suppliers. 

The manufacture of products with a high turnover share in 

the categories of cleaning and laundry care had already 

been centralised in Blatná in the previous year.

At our home location in Nassau, the production of rotary 

dryers for the laundry care product category is highly auto-

mated, with 25 employees (2014: 27 employees). In the 

reporting period almost 250,000 rotary dryers were pro-

duced there. This was a repeat of the excellent result of the 

previous year. Our experienced production team and the 

high degree of automation of the production plant facilitate 

delivery on schedule, even in the event of seasonal and 

weather-dependent fluctuations in demand. Furthermore, 

30 people employed in the departments of injection 

moulding and maintenance (2014: 34 employees) in 

Nassau.

Our French subsidiary Herby, located in La Loupe, chiefly 

produces tower dryers, classic dryer racks and wall dryer 

racks for Volume Business. As at the end of the reporting 

period 83 workers were employed at the location (2014: 

75 employees). 
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Marketing focusses in  
the product categories

The marketing activities of 2015 for our cleaning, laundry 

care, kitchen goods and wellbeing product categories 

were, as always, devoted to new products and current 

trends. The focusses in the cleaning category were, for ex-

ample, assembling and starting the marketing of the pre-

mium broom portfolio, Xtra Clean, for indoor and outdoor 

use. In addition, we dedicated our activities to the Leifheit 

window vacuum cleaner and the associated Leifheit Click 

System, where we were able to further expand the market 

success of the system.

In the laundry care category, the new design of the pack-

aging is particularly noteworthy. It improves consumer ori-

entation, and encourages a faster purchase decision for 

Leifheit at the POS. Another new introduction to the mar-

ket was an all-in-one system for pressure steam ironing. 

Added to this was the introduction of new tower dryers 

and drying racks at entry price level, as well as the expan-

sion of the range of aluminium dryers.

Support for retail partners

We assist our retail partners in the sale of products with 

tailored concepts at POS. Some years ago we started our 

“POS excellence” initiative in this area. The concept basi-

cally consists of merchandise components and special 

presentation solutions adapted to them, for the various 

distribution channels, not only online, but also in brick-

and-mortar retail. For the latter we offer, in particular, shop-

in-shop presentations – the so-called brand shops. In the 

2015 financial year these brand shops were employed in 

Germany, the Czech Republic, Austria, Italy and Spain. 

The retailers involved were able to achieve significant in-

creases in turnover in the remodelled spaces with the indi-

vidually tailored solutions.

Test stations at the shelves, product presentations and 

video promotions are all part of the POS excellence con-

cept. In 2015 several hundred machines were in use for 

video promotions, including in Germany, the Czech Re-

public, Belgium, Denmark, Austria, Spain and Portugal. In 

addition, in the 2015 financial year we were able to install 

so-called palette shops in almost 200 DIY superstores, 

which resulted in particularly high attention from consum-

ers due to their favourable placement in high-traffic areas.

Innovative and leading
solutions for retail

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Group turnover by distribution channels
i n  €m

  2014      2015

34
25

69

22

73

36 3434

18
11 11 8 5 8

19
11 8 8 5

9

Hyper
markets

DIY  Wholesale 
retail/ 

department 
stores

E-com-
merce

Importers/
exporters

Cash & 
carry

Discounters Electrical 
goods store

Furniture 
retail

Others

A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 5

B
C O N S O L I D AT E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

N o n - f i n a n c i a l  p e r f o r ma  n c e  i n d i ca t o r s

41



In the kitchen category, we once again focussed our activ-

ities on the end user trend for preserving. We offered an 

expanded product range with the slogan “Alle lieben 

MEingemachtes” (“Everyone loves it when it’s home-

made”). A new market stall in a natural wood look was 

developed to appeal more strongly to consumers’ emo-

tions at the POS. Brochures for consumers, give-aways 

and recipes complete the POS concept.

In the wellbeing category, all activities centred around our 

innovative Soehnle kitchen and bathroom scales, and 

also the aroma diffusers. The unique and multi-award-

winning Soehnle Genio kitchen scale was one of the main 

focusses.

Brand communication: aiming for the best

In the reporting period we also carried out a strong com-

munications campaign to support the perception of our 

Leifheit and Soehnle products in the market. This was 

based on our award-winning products. Hence the cam-

paign ran with the slogan “Switch to the best brand now!” 

In store, the campaign was supported by a whole range of 

placement offers and other measures supporting sales, for 

example demonstrations, for a consistent brand presence.

Participation in leading consumer goods 
trade fairs 

In the 2015 financial year, Leifheit presented its products 

and solutions at 23 national and international trade fairs 

(2014: 33 trade fairs). Important places to meet our cus

tomers and retail partners include for example Ambiente in 

Frankfurt, the IFA (Internationale Funkausstellung, a trade 

fair for consumer electronics and home appliances) in 

Berlin, EK LIVE and EK HOME in Bielefeld, the International 

Houseware Show in Chicago, and Futura in Salzburg.

Attending the international consumer goods fair Ambiente 

in Germany was most important for us. It is the leading 

trade fair for our industry, in which in 2015 over 4,800 

exhibitors and around 135,000 trade visitors from 152 

countries took part. The Leifheit exhibition stand was given 

a minimalistic new look. We presented our products, 

innovations and current communications campaigns using 

the slogan “Time to Meet”. The spotlight was on the 

Leifheit window vacuum cleaner, including the Click 

System. and the Xtra-Clean broom range, as well as the 

Soehnle brand with new kitchen scales, aroma diffusers 

and the Web Connect Analysis body analysis scale with 

matching Soehnle fitness app for iOS and Android.

23
Trade fairs
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Environment and resources

Leifheit AG takes its responsibility towards the environment 

and resources seriously and is constantly working to reduce 

negative impact and increase efficiency. We want to achieve 

more with less use of resources, and to develop long-lasting, 

environmentally friendly products of outstanding quality. As a 

result of increasing scarcity, the efficient use of raw materials 

and fossil fuels is a must. This allows us to protect the envi-

ronment and cut costs.

We consider aspects such as energy requirements, climate 

change, water shortages and other scarce resources as part 

of every new project in logistics, production and the supply 

chain. In 2015, we placed a particular focus on environmen-

tally friendly transportation and production designed to con-

serve resources. Against this backdrop, procurement and 

transportation processes were adjusted, and production pro-

cesses were insourced from suppliers to our own plant in the 

Czech Republic. When it comes to procurement, we contin-

ue to focus on transportation by sea freight and the com-

bined transport of containers by rail. In 2015, we transferred 

additional steps in the production process. As a result, we 

were able to increase energy efficiency and reduce CO2 

emissions.

Focus on energy consumption

Our household products often have a high share of mould-

ed plastic parts, which are made by what is known as in-

jection moulding – an energy-intensive process on account 

of the necessary heating of materials and one of the core 

production processes at Leifheit. 

leifheit-group.com/en/ 
company/sustainability

In 2015, we succeed in reducing the amount of energy 

necessary for heating materials in Nassau and at our plant 

in the Czech Republic through insulating sleeves. At the 

same time, comprehensive training was conducted on way 

to further optimise the settings of machines with a view to 

energy consumption, allowing us to also increase employ-

ees’ awareness of the problem.

We also conducted an energy audit at our headquarters in 

Nassau and at our central distribution hub in Zuzenhausen 

in the reporting period. As part of this audit, we identified 

additional potential for improvement in a variety of areas, 

such as the insulation of exteriors, more efficient closing 

mechanisms and protection from potential cold bridges 

through gate systems or heat regulation at logistics facili-

ties. The measures necessary for avoiding heat loss are 

being taken on a step-by-step basis and are leading to sig-

nificantly lower energy consumption for heating purposes.

In addition, the entire outdoor lighting at our distribution 

centre in Zuzenhausen, including parking spaces and ac-

cess roads, was replaced with energy-saving LED sys-

tems. LED technology successively replaced the previous 

lighting systems in all logistics facilities. Intelligent control 

solutions featuring motion detectors and light sensors 

were also installed. The use of energy-saving lighting and 

the reduction in the amount of time in which lights are on 

has made it possible to significantly reduce power con-

sumption in Zuzenhausen.

Environment and society

Acting responsibly towards our environment and the society in which our business is active 

is one of the foundations of long-term success. Ecologically efficient processes reduce the 

material and energy intensity of products, lower emissions, and increase recyclability and 

recycling. We hold our employees and suppliers accountable for compliance with ethical and 

legal principles. We are committed to the region at our locations.
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Responsibility for our products

Our goal is to make sure, through safe products, that nei-

ther people nor the environment are harmed. As a result, 

we have a comprehensive quality management system in 

place that covers both product quality and production pro-

cesses. We stand for products that feature high quality 

and above-average durability. We naturally dispense with 

any type of planned product lifetime, a principle that is re-

flected in the warranty periods of our products. We do not 

use any permanently fixed batteries and rely, wherever it 

makes sense to do so, on solar cells.

Dialogue with our stakeholders

As a brand supplier, the brands’ reputation and the per-

ception of our products by customers are of the utmost 

importance. For this reason, we strive for continuous dia-

logue with consumers and our retail partners.

We offer consumers the option of using our consumer hot-

line at the Group’s headquarters in Nassau, which is close-

ly interlinked with our quality management. In this way, we 

are able to ensure that comments or criticism are directly 

communicated to the company. We receive further feed-

back on our products and brands through market research 

institutes, plus we are in contact with professional organi-

sations and interest groups, such as the German Brands 

Association and representatives of the parquet industry. 

This dialogue promotes understanding of the requirements 

and needs of all sides.

We attend various exhibitions and trade fairs. One of the 

most important dates in our diary is the Ambiente trade fair 

in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, which we attended in 

2015 with a representative stand.

For more information 
about trade fairs, 

see page 42.

Recycling rate raised

We also put our own paper press into operation in Zuzen-

hausen in 2015, allowing us to press cardboard scraps 

into balls for our own marketing purposes. The ball format 

makes it possible to reduce transport volume when putting 

together full loads. By doing so, we have been able to sig-

nificantly increase the paper recycling rate. Since 2015, we 

have also been sorting items that have been returned by 

type of plastic, both in Nassau and Zuzenhausen, and re-

using them after proper separation in the manufacturing 

process.

Social responsibility

The ethical and legal principles of business management 

at the Leifheit Group go beyond statutory requirements in 

some cases. This is why our employees are bound to the 

Leifheit Code of Conduct, which regulates behaviour in 

accordance with applicable laws and standards. Our 

employees are required to notify their superiors, the works 

council or a Human Resources officer in cases of infringe-

ment.

We also have similarly high expectations towards our sup-

pliers, for whom we have also developed a Social Code of 

Conduct that stipulates the adherence to consistent work 

conditions – both within Germany and abroad. By doing 

this, we want to guarantee that the people who make our 

products or intermediate products can work in an appro-

priate and dignified environment, wherever they happen to 

be. Through on-site inspections, we regularly check com-

pliance with our guidelines.

Product quality
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The grammar school is open to all gifted young people, 

regardless of their parents’ income. The school’s largest 

sponsor is the G. und I. Leifheit Stiftung, a foundation that 

is financed by the legacy of company founder Günter 

Leifheit. The main pillar of the partnership between 

Leifheit-Campus and Leifheit AG is financial support 

through a scholarship programme. In addition, we equip 

the school with our products and provide work-placement 

programmes for pupils, career-orientation measures and 

presentations by our specialists on appropriate subjects.

We were deeply moved by the situation of refugees in 

2015. We therefore decided to support the aid efforts 

spearheaded by the German chapter of Malteser Interna-

tional by making a donation in kind. The organisation re-

ceived Leifheit products worth some € 35,000. Our trai

nees also organised a charity bazaar to benefit a 

non-profit project for the sixth time in a row. In 2015, the 

proceeds went to refugees and were donated to a local 

initiative.

As a listed stock corporation, we maintain an active dia-

logue with the capital market. In financial and corporate 

communication, we are guided by capital markets law, the 

transparency standards of the German corporate gover

nance code as well as the even more stringent transparency 

requirements of the Prime Standard segment on the 

German stock exchange, where shares in Leifheit AG are 

traded. We usually answer questions from the business, 

financial and trade media, as well as the local press, 

annually at two press conferences and further press 

events. Our presence in the media boosts public aware-

ness of our Leifheit and Soehnle brands as well as our 

company’s reputation.

Social commitment

We are aware of our social responsibility and feel closely 

linked to the environment at our locations. As a result, we 

regularly support social, sports and cultural projects there. 

We once again supported a range of small and large 

projects in 2015.

In particular, we expanded our commitment to promoting 

education and training at our headquarters to include an 

additional component. Leifheit is a business partner of the 

private Leifheit-Campus (grammar school) in Nassau, 

which was founded in 2015. The school is the result of a 

private-sector initiative and offers young people an excel-

lent education in the region while counteracting the nega-

tive impact triggered by the closing of local state schools. 

ir.leifheit-group.com
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Opportunities

An important part of business conduct is recognising op-

portunities early and making consistent use of them. We 

take current opportunities into consideration in our short-

term and medium-term plans. In the future, they can ex-

ceed our expectations and lead to a positive deviation 

from our prognosis or the objectives that we set for our-

selves. The business opportunities presented here are, of 

course, not the only ones presented to us. In addition, our 

assessment of individual opportunities may change be-

cause our environment, markets, key trends and technolo-

gies are all in a state of constant development.

As a result, new opportunities may arise, existing ones 

may lose their significance or the significance of an individ-

ual opportunity may change. The Leifheit Group does not 

record business opportunities within risk management, but 

instead considers them in medium-term and budget plan-

ning and tracks them in conjunction with periodic report-

ing. The Board of Management and the management of 

areas of operation are responsible for the prompt identifi-

cation, analysis and utilisation of opportunities that present 

themselves. We regularly consider detailed market and 

competition analyses, relevant cost parameters and critical 

success factors, which we then take into account in our 

strategy. Our overriding objective is to obtain a balanced 

ratio between opportunities and risks. Risk management 

at the Leifheit Group remained unchanged as compared 

with the previous year. In our view, the general situation 

with regard to opportunities for our company did not 

change significantly in the reporting period.

Macroeconomic opportunities

Our company is affected by various economic conditions. 

Accordingly, our financial objectives and medium-term 

planning are based on the macroeconomic development 

estimates described in the forecast. If basic conditions and 

the consumer’s propensity to consume, especially in our 

important markets in Europe, develop more positively than 

depicted in the forecast, there might be a chance that we 

would exceed our turnover and earnings expectation.

Industry-specific opportunities

As a European brand supplier for household products, we 

can benefit from trends and market developments in rela-

tion to these products. In order to meet market and cus-

tomer demands actively, we put particular emphasis in our 

product portfolio on the design and development of sys-

tem solutions that make life easier and more convenient. In 

our view, the following trends will be of importance to our 

company in the coming years and have the potential to 

have a positive effect on our business development.

Consumers are making increasing use of the Internet

Consumers are increasingly taking advantage of the op-

portunities provided by the Internet, starting with the 

search for information and continuing through to the buy-

ing of goods in online shops and similar services. For  

Leifheit, this results in numerous opportunities to tap into 

above-average growth potential.

Opportunities and risks report

Identifying opportunities early and consistently seizing them allows the Leifheit Group to contin-

ue growing profitably. We therefore keep an eye on trends and market developments at all times. 

We invest in processes, partnerships and technologies, and thus also in the opportunities of the 

future. At the same time, we regularly evaluate possible risks in order to identify these early on 

and to be able to counteract them actively.
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Customers are looking for easy, convenient solutions

Regardless of the generation, increased work pressure 

and increased stress at work can both be observed today. 

We see in this increasingly fast-paced world opportunities 

for our system solutions and products that make life a little 

easier and more convenient.

Increasing number of households

According to forecasts, Germany can expect to see an in-

creasing number of households, especially single-person 

and two-person households. This may lead to higher re-

quirements in terms of household items. For this reason, 

we assume that this development will have a positive effect 

on the Leifheit Group in the future, and we see a further 

growth opportunity in this.

Strategic business opportunities

Leifheit has strategic business opportunities as a result of 

its position as one of the leaders in the household goods 

sector in Europe with a focus on system solutions and 

products that make life easier and more convenient. To 

take advantage of the opportunities that arise from pro

duct innovations and developments, we rely on our own 

development department and invest in the expansion of 

internal and external expertise, including through estab-

lishing partnerships. It is this that results in our pipeline of 

medium- and long-term innovation projects. We invest 

both in new processes and technologies in order to be 

able to continue to develop new, innovative products that 

offer consumers added value. At the same time, we are 

shaping our organisation into one that can react with flexi-

bility when opportunities arise from market trends and cus-

tomer needs. We will anchor the ability to create additional 

opportunities from understanding consumers and custom-

ers in our organisation and its processes in the form of our 

“Leifheit 2020” strategy.

The expansion of our e-commerce activities is intended to 

reinforce ties to existing consumers while allowing us to 

reach new customer groups.  To do so, we are taking par-

ticular advantage of smart ways to link e-commerce and 

stationary retail. The Leifheit and Soehnle ranges are 

well-suited to online retail. While lower-priced items are pre-

dominantly sold in traditional retail, we offer many products 

in the medium-to-high price category for online retail. What 

is more, consumers increasingly appreciate having the op-

tion of having bulky items such as our laundry dryers or 

cleaning devices delivered to their front doors. Only retail 

also offers users the opportunity to make purchasing deci-

sions around the clock, almost anywhere in the world, re-

gardless of store locations or opening times. Furthermore, 

by cooperating with online distributors, we can increase our 

presence in international markets, which we have not yet 

fully developed. We are accordingly investing in the expan-

sion of our cooperation with the corresponding providers, 

especially on the human resources and technical side. All 

these effects can have a greater or more positive effect than 

expected on turnover in e-commerce, and thus can also 

have a greater impact than expected on the financial result.

Quality awareness on the rise

Besides price and functionality, factors such as quality and 

durability are once again playing a role in purchasing deci-

sions – and the conditions in which the item was made are 

also growing in importance. This trend, which is particular-

ly prevalent among the younger members of our target 

group, is likely to continue gaining significance in future. 

We are a brand supplier with a portfolio of high-quality and 

long-lasting products that were manufactured in our own 

production facilities or by our suppliers under controlled 

conditions in accordance with the Leifheit Social Code of 

Conduct. This allows us to continue improving our market 

position and appeal to future generations of shoppers in 

view of this development. “Leifheit 2020”
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Economic performance opportunities

There are economic performance opportunities for Leifheit, 

particularly resulting from business operations, cost man-

agement and greater efficiency. Our operating activities 

offer significant opportunities due to the fact that we can 

achieve additional success through the successful combi-

nation of our product portfolio with innovative sales 

measures thanks, for example, to integrated consumer-

oriented communication, specifically at the point of sale – 

both online and offline.

Cost management and greater efficiency offer the oppor-

tunity to boost the long-term earning power of Leifheit. In 

addition to reducing non-value-adding costs, we are pri-

marily focused on the efficiency of product development 

processes, as well as various manufacturing and distribu-

tion processes along the entire value chain. As part of our 

“Leifheit 2020” strategy, this applies especially to the 

expansion of our production location in Blatná, Czech 

Republic, and our distribution centre in Zuzenhausen. We 

regularly check whether products from suppliers can alter-

natively be manufactured more efficiently at our own facili-

ties. Specific relocation of the production of specific pro

ducts can boost our flexibility and competitiveness and 

might even reduce costs.

Other opportunities

Our employees are a source of new product developments 

and are a cornerstone of the Leifheit Group’s successful 

growth in the long term. We regularly invest in their exper-

tise so that we can take advantage of growth opportunities 

at all times. With regard to this, we also promote various 

measures to further boost the commitment and motivation 

of our employees.

Cooperation with our sales partners provides Leifheit with 

further opportunities. Traditional retail is relying more heavi

ly on its suppliers’ expertise in category management. We 

are reacting to this development, which enables us to op-

timally position our product portfolio and seize the oppor-

tunity for additional turnover growth, as part of our POS 

Excellence initiative.

In addition, we see strategic business opportunities in the 

expansion of our market presence – both in traditional re-

tail and in e-commerce. To take advantage of the opportu-

nities arising from this, we will invest in the future in various 

distribution channels and support them with smart com-

munication concepts.

Greater penetration of existing markets and additional re-

gional diversification offer us opportunities. Leifheit focus-

es its business activities on Europe. We want to secure 

and expand on our strong positions in the DACH region, 

as well as in France, Belgium, Luxembourg, the Nether-

lands and the Czech Republic. We also see interesting 

growth opportunities in Spain, the Nordic countries, Po-

land and other Eastern European markets. We will support 

these in a targeted way in order to strengthen our market 

presence. Country-specific sales programmes should help 

us expand our distribution and manage international key 

customers even more effectively.

In addition, we will draw on opportunities that present 

themselves outside of Europe, where we have the oppor-

tunity to benefit disproportionately from the major and ra

pidly growing markets, especially in emerging economies, 

through partnerships with our distributors – and this large-

ly without making our own investments. We are also con-

stantly evaluating the potential development of markets 

where the Leifheit Group has not yet had a presence. Un-

expected positive financial developments in the markets 

mentioned therefore offer lasting potential for us to sur-

pass our targets.

We constantly monitor our current and future markets in 

search of opportunities for strategic acquisitions and part-

nerships. Our company has the good financial situation 

and liquidity necessary for acquisitions. This puts us in a 

position to seize acquisition opportunities that would 

meaningfully enhance our product portfolio, strengthen our 

market position and ultimately boost our turnover and 

earnings situation disproportionately and more strongly 

than forecast.
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risk areas. The respective risk owner is responsible for risk 

management within the risk areas. The risk owner’s job is 

to identify and evaluate all risks continuously, notify the 

company about them, and monitor the implementation of 

countermeasures. Opportunities are not determined as 

part of risk management.

The central element of the risk management system is the 

systematic risk management process that is implemented 

on a regular basis. It includes the risk identification, risk 

evaluation, risk aggregation, risk control, risk monitoring 

and risk reporting phases. This process begins with risk 

identification, during which all risks, sources of hazards, 

damage and potential disruptions are systematically docu-

mented in uniform risk tables and afterwards analysed 

every six months. In case of the appearance of new risks 

that could have a significant effect on the economic results 

or the further development of the company, the risk owner 

immediately notifies all responsible offices, in particular, as 

part of ad hoc reporting.

Identified risks are assessed and categorised according to 

the extent of their effect and their probability of occur-

rence. In addition, individual risks are systematically ana-

lysed for dependencies and merged into new risks if re-

quired. The aggregated form of all individual risk tables that 

emerge from this is the risk inventory.

This is represented graphically in a risk map and commu-

nicated to the Board of Management as well as the Super-

visory Board. In risk management, each risk owner de-

fines, documents, actively implements and monitors 

measures to avoid, reduce or transfer risks in each case 

using the risk table. The status of each countermeasure is 

also documented in the risk table by the risk owner.

In risk monitoring, general warning indicators are defined, as 

are case-by-case indicators for specific individual risks. All 

indicators are regularly observed in order to better monitor 

risks and the effectiveness of introduced countermeasures.

No significant changes were made to the risk management 

system in the financial year 2015 compared to the previous 

year.

Risks

We are exposed to various risks as part of our business activi

ties. We have therefore set up a risk management system that 

allows us to identify risks early, analyse them and take suitable 

countermeasures. We use this system to identify potential in-

cidents that can have major disadvantageous effects on our 

business, net assets, financial position and results of opera-

tions, as well as our reputation, or could even compromise the 

survival of the company. To ensure the effectiveness of risk 

management, allow the aggregation of risks and facilitate 

transparent reporting, we use a company-wide uniform ap-

proach to risk management. As a listed stock corporation with 

headquarters in Germany, the company’s Board of Manage-

ment set up a monitoring system in accordance with section 

91 para. 2 of the German stock corporation act to ensure 

compliance with statutory regulations and the effective man-

agement of risks. In addition, the Board of Management is 

responsible for the effectiveness of the internal control system.

Risk management system

The risk management manual issued by the Board of Man-

agement governs the handling of risks within the Leifheit 

Group and describes a uniform methodology that applies 

to all company divisions. This manual delineates responsi-

bilities for the execution of risk management tasks as well 

reporting structures. The effectiveness of the risk manage-

ment system is monitored via regular internal audit checks. 

In addition, auditors carry out annual checks as to whether 

our early risk-detection system is capable of promptly 

identifying risks that jeopardise the company.

Our risk strategy is based on the global objective of ensur-

ing the continuation of our business activities.

Our risk management organisation consists of a risk man-

ager working right across the Group and risk owners in the 

individual operational areas. The risk manager is responsi-

ble for updating the risk management manual as well as for 

the uniform implementation of the described methods, for 

the risk aggregation and standardised risk reporting to the 

various levels of the company. The Brand Business and 

Volume Business segments are completely divided into 
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In addition, our system includes guidelines, procedures and 

measures ensuring that our accounting follows laws and 

regulations. To this end, we analyse new laws, accounting 

standards and other pronouncements where non-compli-

ance would represent a significant risk for the correctness of 

our accounting. The Group’s Accounting Department pre-

sents uniform Group-wide accounting and evaluation meth-

ods in the Group’s Accounting Manual pursuant to the IFRS. 

These guidelines, in conjunction with the schedule for the 

preparation of annual financial statements, constitute the 

foundation of the annual financial statement preparation 

process. All Group companies and accounting areas must 

present their financial statements to the Group Accounting 

Department using the consolidation software used through-

out the Group. Subsidiaries and accounting areas are re-

sponsible for compliance with the accounting regulations 

applicable throughout the Group when preparing their finan-

cial statements and are supported and monitored by the 

Group Accounting Department in this process. They carry 

out the adjustment of internal assets and liabilities as well as 

supply and service relationships according to Group guide-

lines.

Consolidation is carried out globally by the Group Account-

ing Department. In addition, we use external service provid-

ers for the evaluation of pension obligations or long-term 

incentive pay, for example. Employees in charge of financial 

reporting are familiar with our internal guidelines and pro-

cesses and undergo regular training. Our ICS covers the 

annual and consolidated financial statement process. The 

risks and controls are defined in the corresponding risk con-

trol matrices. This includes IT-supported and manual con-

trols and adjustments, the set-up of functional separation 

and the dual control principle, rules governing access to the 

IT system and monitoring.

Internal control and risk manage-
ment system in the accounting 
process

The internal control system (ICS) is an integral part of the 

risk management system. Our manual for the ICS defines 

the creation of the internal control and monitoring system for 

all major business processes in the company and describes 

the structural organisation. Our goal is the systematic crea-

tion of control measures in the processes in order to comply 

with laws, standards and directives, avoid financial loss and 

ensure the functional capability and profitability of business 

processes. The ICS officer is responsible for designing the 

content of the system, coordinating ICS tasks and ensuring 

central documentation. Process officers see to it that there 

is correct and complete documentation of significant pro-

cess risks and guarantee the effectiveness, efficiency and 

execution of adequate and specific controls. Apart from di-

rectives and work instructions, risk control matrices are the 

central element in risk-related processes. They define the 

significant risks in processes, the risk analysis and the re-

quired controls and responsibilities of the control officers. 

The principles of functional separation and dual control are 

strictly followed.

With respect to accounting in the ICS and risk management 

system, our goal is to ensure and uniformly implement the 

statutory prescriptions, the principles of correct bookkeep-

ing, rules of the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and the ICS itself. Our internal control and risk man-

agement system for accounting is embedded in the Group-

wide risk management system. With respect to organisa-

tional, control and monitoring structures, we ensure that 

business matters are recorded, processed and analysed 

pursuant to the law and entered in annual accounts and 

annual consolidated financial statements.
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The purpose of the ICS in accounting and financial reporting 

is to ensure with adequate security that financial reporting is 

reliable and that annual and consolidated financial state-

ments present an accurate picture of net assets, financial 

position and results of operations.

Internal auditing projects include both process- and 

function-related aspects of ICS.

Risk assessment

Our goal is to determine which risks could have a disadvan-

tageous effect on defined risk areas such as financial posi-

tion, net assets and results of operations or our image, and 

what risks are most likely to jeopardise Leifheit. For this pur-

pose, the individual risks are rated as critical, medium or low 

in terms of their estimated probability of occurrence and 

their effects on our business objectives. The effects are pre-

sented in front of the risk management measures imple-

mented. The scales to measure these two indicators are 

shown in the tables below.

Probability of occurrence Description

  1 – 20% very low

21 – 40% low

41 – 60% medium

61 – 80% high

81 – 99% very high

According to this classification, we define a very small risk 

as that which occurs only under extraordinary circum-

stances and a very high risk as that whose occurrence is 

expected within a specific time period.

According to their probability of occurrence and the extent 

of their effect on our business activities, our financial 

position and results of operations, our cash flows and our 

image, we classify risks as critical, medium or low in the 

form of a risk map.

Probability  
of occur-
rence/effect

very 
low 
1 – 

20%

low 
21 – 
40%

medium 
41 – 
60%

high 
61 – 
80%

very 
high 
81 – 
99%

very low low low low low low

low low low low medium medium

medium low medium medium medium critical

high medium medium critical critical critical

very high critical critical critical critical critical

Risk factors

We describe below risk factors that we identify and track 

using our risk management system. They are aggregated 

more closely in the description below than they are used 

for internal control. The risk factors generally affect both 

segments: Brand Business and Volume Business.

Extent of effect Definition of effect

very low

Low risks that do not have a noticeable 
effect on business activities, financial 

position and results of operations, cash 
flows, company objectives and image 

 (< € 1 million)

low

Medium risks that have a noticeable 
effect on business activities, financial 

position and results of operations, cash 
flows, company objectives and image 

(€ 1–2 million)

medium

Significant risks that have a strong 
effect on business activities, financial 

position and results of operations, cash 
flows, company objectives and image 

(€ 2–5 million)

high

Serious risks that have a considerable 
effect on business activities, financial 

position and results of operations, cash 
flows, company objectives and image 

(€ 5–25 million)

very high
Risks that jeopardise the company’s 
continued existence (> € 25 million)
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Turnover and pricing risks

In order to achieve our turnover and profitability objectives, 

we must generate sales growth, promote sales at the point 

of sale and pay attention to our product prices to ensure 

they are competitive in the respective country. In addition, it 

is possible that rising product costs might not be compen-

sated for by higher prices on the market. This would have a 

negative effect on our margins. Furthermore, potentially 

lower turnover could lead to lower contribution margins.

We counteract these risks using our international sales 

strategy in the focus countries, country-specific implemen-

tation plans, intensification of activities in our POS Excel-

lence initiative as well our e-commerce activities.

We believe that the potential effects of these risks, in con-

junction with turnover and pricing, can currently be classi-

fied as low, as is the probability of their occurrence.

Dependence risks

Dependence on specific suppliers, customers, products or 

even markets is fraught with risks. If a large part of our 

product volume was concentrated on one supplier or if 

there was great dependence on a specific customer, this 

would increase vulnerability to delivery and turnover short-

falls or business interruptions. Strong dependence on indi-

vidual products, product groups or markets could lead to 

fluctuations in turnover and margin reductions.

To minimise these risks, we rely on a broad supplier net-

work and a balanced customer and product portfolio.

Although we reduce possible dependence through our di-

versification activities, we remain vulnerable to negative 

developments in important procurement countries such as 

China, as well as important sales markets such as Germa-

ny, France, Austria and the Netherlands. For this reason, 

we estimate the potential effects of dependence risks as 

high and their probability of occurrence as very low.

Macroeconomic, political, social and regulatory risks

Uncertainty in the global economy, financial markets or in 

the political sphere could have a negative effect on our busi-

ness activities, our financial position, results of operations 

and our cash flow as well as increase pressure on our EBIT. 

Further terrorist attacks, the escalation of violence in 

crisis-prone regions or other external shocks may have a 

major effect on the economy that we might not be able to 

avoid entirely. Geopolitical instability may also continue to 

affect our business in Eastern Europe. Unresolved sovereign 

debt crises in the Eurozone may also reduce our market 

perspectives in Southern Europe in particular.

Growth in the consumer goods sector is largely dependent 

on consumer confidence and consumption expenditure. 

Therefore, declining sales resulting from the general eco-

nomic situation or social and political factors, especially in 

regions where we have a strong presence, represent a risk 

for the development of sales. In addition, changes in the 

regulatory environment (for example trade policies, tax 

regulations, product quality and safety standards) can also 

bring about potential turnover shortfalls and cost increases.

We are monitoring the macroeconomic, political and regu-

latory situation in our major markets in order to identify 

potential problem areas early and to be able to adapt our 

business activity quickly. To avoid macroeconomic, 

political, social and regulatory risks, we strive to have a 

balanced distribution of turnover among the important 

regions and react to current changes in the short term 

using various activities to cushion possible negative ef-

fects.

We consider the probability of occurrence of this risk as 

medium, and we expect a medium effect on our business 

activities, financial position, results of operations, and on 

our cash flow.
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increases for merchandise. We reduce the financial effects 

of higher procurement costs on our product mar- gins by 

concluding long-term delivery agreements and resorting to 

time and cost-saving procurement measures. We revise 

our products and respond with price increases. The aim of 

strategic procurement is to maintain the competitiveness 

of the procurement chain in the context of increasing 

acquisition costs.

In light of the measures taken and the current market 

situation, we consider the effect of potentially increasing 

procurement costs as a low risk with a low probability of 

occurrence.

Risks due to extraordinary external incidents

We are exposed to external risks such as natural disasters, 

fire, accidents and malicious acts. Such events may inflict 

material damage on buildings, production facilities, 

warehouses or cause interruptions in business activities 

both within our company and among suppliers.

We counteract risks caused by extraordinary external inci-

dents in a variety of ways. For example, we cooperate with 

reliable suppliers and service providers. In addition to in-

surance cover, we have put preventative measures in 

place such as fire detection, fire-extinguishing systems in 

buildings and emergency plans for the prompt restoration 

of business activities. This should minimise potential ef-

fects of external faults.

The occurrence of such risks could have major financial 

effects. We believe the probability of occurrence is, 

however, very low.

Risks in the risk and control environment

The failure to identify considerable risks, to counteract 

them and introduce and maintain adequate internal control 

systems in the Group could result in inappropriate 

decisions, higher costs, breaches of compliance, fraud, 

corruption and damage to the Group’s reputation. The 

danger further exists that employees will breach guidelines 

and standards.

Risks inherent in product innovation and development

Innovative products with high practical utility, attractive design 

and high standards in terms of product quality and safety 

generate high turnover and comfortable margins for us as a 

brand seller. Bringing new, innovative and high-quality prod-

ucts quickly to the market is a decisive factor. If over the 

longer term we are incapable of developing innovative prod-

ucts continuously, this could expose us to a considerable 

decline in turnover and margins. Moreover, poor product 

quality could lead to turnover shortfalls and higher costs.

To be able to launch our products more quickly, we have thor-

oughly revised our product development process and our 

teams. Product management and product development are 

working in a clearly defined idea generation process in close 

cooperation with each other and utilise external providers as 

well in the search for ideas.

Innovation is a significant success factor. Due to our innova-

tive strength, we rate the potential effects of risks inherent in 

product innovation and development as high and the proba-

bility of occurrence as medium.

Product quality risks

The risk of possible product defects could lead to consumer 

injuries and damage the image of our brands and products. 

To reduce these risks, we have set up interdisciplinary 

teams that will deal with product quality across the entire 

procurement chain. We carry out intensive quality controls in 

our own laboratories and with external providers and work 

closely with suppliers. However, we counteract possible 

damage claims by taking out product liability insurance.

We classify the potential effects of product liability cases 

and product recalls as medium, but their probability of 

occurrence as low.

Risks due to increasing procurement costs

Personnel costs and raw materials represent a large pro-

portion of the cost of turnover. Above all, materials such as 

plastics, aluminium, cotton and steel are subject to the risk 

of price fluctuations. Increasing wage costs among suppli-

ers, particularly in the Far East, increase the risk of price 
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According to our credit guidelines, new customers are re-

viewed for creditworthiness and caps on receivables are 

determined. Creditworthiness, caps on receivables and 

amounts overdue are continually monitored. In order to 

reduce the risk of default, we selectively use credit insur

ances such as bank guarantees.

Currency hedging transactions and investments of liquid 

assets are only performed with banks with a high level of 

creditworthiness. Group companies are exclusively permit-

ted to cooperate with banks that have a rating of BBB or 

higher. Cash and cash equivalents are only invested in in-

struments that are covered by the deposit protection fund. 

Furthermore, maximum investment amounts are deter-

mined for each contracting party. In the financial year 

2015, the maximum individual contracting party limit was 

€ 40.0 million.

The potential financial effects of risks of default could be 

very high. We consider this risk to be critical, but we be-

lieve the probability of occurrence is, however, very low.

Financing and liquidity risks

Liquidity risks arise from a possible lack of funds required to 

satisfy due liabilities in respect of maturity, volume and cur-

rency structure. As at 31 December 2015, cash and cash 

equivalents and financial assets amounted to € 68.2 million. 

There were no interest-bearing financial liabilities such as 

bank loans. Short-term lines of credit in the amount of 

€ 11.5 million are available, which, however, are used only in 

part for bills of guarantee and derivatives. Liquidity is man-

aged across the Group by employees in the treasury 

department at the headquarters.

Due to our current financing structure, we consider both the 

probability of occurrence and the potential effect of financ-

ing and liquidity risks as very low.

We reduce these risks in the risk and control environment 

by introducing directives and guidelines that are available 

to all employees on the intranet. Furthermore, we use a 

risk management system consisting of early detection, an 

internal control system and internal auditing. With guide-

lines such as the Leifheit Code of Conduct and the Leifheit 

Anti-trust Code of Compliance, clear rules and principles 

for the conduct of our employees have been laid down in 

key areas. Nevertheless, the potential effects of these risks 

could be wide-ranging. We believe the probability of oc-

currence is, however, very low.

Legal risks

As an international company, Leifheit is exposed to various 

legal risks. These include contractual risks, liability risks or 

the risk that third parties could assert claims or pursue ac-

tions due to infringement of trademark, patent or other 

rights. In order to reduce any such contractual infringe-

ments, we monitor compliance with our contractual obliga-

tions and consult internal and external legal advisers. We 

minimise the risk of an infringement of third-party industrial 

property rights by diligently reviewing constructions, de-

signs and names. Our Legal & IP department optimises our 

patent portfolio and reviews and analyses third-party patent 

rights. Allowances for provisions of € 0.4 million for potential 

exclusivity infringements abroad and of € 0.3 million for liti-

gation costs and legal fees from active cases were made in 

the annual financial statements. There were no major legal 

disputes or process risks ongoing beyond this.

Despite recourse to precautionary measures, we consider 

the potential effects as medium and the probability of occur-

rence as low.

Default risks

Default risks arise if a customer or another counterparty of 

a financial instrument does not meet the contractual obli-

gations. Default risks arise due to trade receivables and 

other contractual obligations of a counterparty such as for 

deposits and financial investments.
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According to the requirements of IFRS 7, we have estima

ted the effects of changes to our key exchange rates (US 

dollar and Czech koruna) on result and equity and listed 

them under Note 34 of the financial statements. The effects 

are primarily due to the change in the fair values of our 

hedging instruments. The analysis does not recognise 

effects arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of our foreign subsidiaries to the reporting currency of the 

Group. As a result of that sensitivity, a 10% appreciation of 

the euro against the US dollar as at 31 December 2015 

would have led to a reduction in profit of € 2.6 million.

As a result of the development of the US dollar in 2015, 

we categorise the likelihood of occurrence and the poten-

tial financial effects of currency risks as high, especially 

from 2018.

Interest rate risks

Changes to market interest impact future interest payments 

for financial investments for variable interest-bearing liabili-

ties. Because the Group does not currently have any bank 

loans or other interest-bearing liabilities in its financing struc-

ture, changes in interest rates do not affect the profitability, 

liquidity or financial situation of the Group. Changes to the 

IFRS actuarial interest for discounting pension obligations 

can affect other comprehensive income. A sensitivity analy-

sis is presented under Note 26. Despite the currently low in-

terest rates, further reductions in interest rates may have a 

negative impact on the overall result. The risk of potential 

negative interest rates on credit balances at banks continues 

to exist.

For this reason, we consider both the probability of occur-

rence and the potential financial effects of interest risks as 

medium.

Currency risks

Leifheit is exposed to currency risks, as cash flows accu-

mulate in various currencies. Furthermore, currency effects 

from the translation of results not denominated in euros, 

the functional currency of the Group, may affect other 

comprehensive income. Risks are created in particular due 

to the fact that our products are procured and sold in dif-

ferent currencies in different amounts on different dates. A 

large part of our procurement costs are accrued in US dol-

lars and Czech korunas, while most Group turnover is ac-

crued in euros.

Leifheit operates a centralised system for the management 

of currency risks. We hedge units of the planned currency 

requirements up to two financial years, exeptionally for 

three years in advance. According to the treasury prin

ciples, hedging instruments such as forward foreign ex-

change contracts, currency options, currency swaps or 

combinations of options may be used to safeguard against 

negative currency fluctuations and, at the same time, offer 

the potential to benefit from future exchange rate develop-

ments on the financial markets. The scope of currency 

hedging is evaluated on a regular basis.

The following hedging measures existed as at 31 Decem-

ber 2015:

Value of 
liability

Foreign  
currency

Nominal 
value

Buy USD/€ € 104.6 m USD 127.4 m € 114.0 m

�of which 
hedge 
accounting € 78.2 m USD 96.5 m € 86.2 m

Sell USD/€ € 1.2 m USD 1.6 m € 1.2 m

Buy HKD/€ € 17.9 m HKD 166.6 m € 18.8 m

   �of which 
hedge 
accounting € 6.7 m HKD 60.0 m € 6.9 m

For the years 2016 to 2017, we have hedged approxi-

mately 95 to 100% of the US dollar requirements through 

forward foreign exchange contracts. For the year 2018, we 

have hedged approximately 60 to 70% of the US dollar 

requirements. Most of our hedging is done through hedge 

accounting.
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No major changes  
since the balance sheet date

There were no events after the end of the financial year of 

material importance for assessing the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations of the Leifheit Group.

Report on events after the balance 
sheet date

We consider the potential effects of information security 

risks as high and the probability of occurrence as low.

Overall assessment of opportunities 
and risks

Under consideration of each probability of occurrence and 

the potential financial effects of the explained risks, as well 

as in light of the solid balance sheet structure and the cur-

rent business outlook, the Board of Management does not 

anticipate any substantial risk to the continuation of the 

company as a going concern. We continue to be confident 

that our earning power and balance sheet structure pro-

vide a sound basis for our future business development 

and contain the necessary resources to leverage potential 

opportunities.

The changes to individual risks compared to the previous 

year do not have a significant effect on the overall risk pro-

file. We believe this remains unchanged as compared to 

the previous year.

Tax risks

Tax risks arise in particular due to the findings of tax audits. 

The tax authorities are increasingly reviewing international 

intercompany transfer prices. VAT regulations in the Eu-

rope-wide provision of goods and services are very com-

plex. Adjustments to tax payments have an impact on li-

quidity and net result for the period. We counteract these 

risks with the support of international tax consultants.

We consider the potential financial effects of tax risks as 

medium and the probability of occurrence as low.

Information security risks

Our IT-based business processes are subject to various in-

formation security risks. Risks may occur as a result of hu-

man error, organisational or technical processes and/or se-

curity breaches when processing information. These may all 

jeopardise the confidentiality, availability and integrity of the 

information. In partnership with our service providers and 

outsourcing partners, we minimise these risks by adopting 

organisational and technical measures, and through profes-

sional project management. The IT-security structure is veri

fied regularly and improved where necessary.
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Strategic focus of the Group

We will continue to push ahead with our “Leifheit 2020” 

strategy in the financial year 2016. One major aspect of 

this is building on our market position in European coun-

tries. With a view to our brands and product portfolios, we 

plan to develop Leifheit and Soehnle in a targeted way and 

boost their position against the competition. We aim to tap 

into new price categories and additional target groups with 

a comprehensive product category approach for our major 

ranges. Our overarching goals remain to attain high effi-

ciency in the value chain and continually improve our oper-

ating result.

Our financial position gives us the strategic option of being 

able to make use of opportunities for external growth 

through acquisitions, provided they are financially viable.

Forecasts predict another year of 
modest economic growth

According to information from the International Monetary 

Fund (IMF), the global economy grew by 3.1% in 2015 – 

the lowest growth rate since the 2008/2009 financial and 

economic crisis. The expectation that global development 

could benefit from falling oil prices did not materialise. This 

was compounded by lower growth rates in China and 

emerging markets. Although the IMF expects growth to 

continue, it has slightly downgraded its outlook for 2016 

and 2017 by 0.2 percentage points per year since its pre-

vious forecast in autumn 2015. The forecast now calls for 

global economic growth of 3.4% in 2016 and 3.6% in 

2017.

The IMF believes that the economy in the USA will grow by 

2.1% in 2016, down 0.2 percentage points since its last 

forecast. The IMF’s current growth forecast for China re-

mains unchanged at 6.3%. By contrast, a decline of 1.0% 

(0.4 percentage points lower than the last estimate) is an-

ticipated in Russia. For Eastern Europe, the IMF now ex-

pects growth of 3.1% (+0.1 percentage points).

According to the European Commission’s most recent 

forecast, the European economy is poised for another year 

of modest growth. The estimates remain nearly unchanged 

from the autumn 2015 forecast. In light of the challenges 

that the global economy faces, the Commission has also 

identified increasing risks for economic development in the 

European Union. The Commission sees private consump-

tion as the main driving force behind economic growth in 

the two years ahead. The forecast calls for a growth rate of 

1.7% in 2016 and 1.9% in 2017 (2015: 1.6%) in the Euro-

zone. Economic growth is forecast to come in at 1.9% in 

2016 (2015: 1.9%) and 2.0% in the year after that in the 

European Union as a whole.

The ifo (Munich), Insee (Paris) and Istat (Rome) economic 

research institutes published comparable growth forecasts 

for the Eurozone in the first six months of 2016. However, 

they stressed the risk resulting from the political tensions in 

the Middle East. Further escalation there could unsettle 

consumers, producers and investors and noticeably slow 

economic growth.

The International Monetary Fund currently expects to see 

growth of 1.3% in France in 2016 (0.2 percentage points 

lower than the last forecast). The estimate for economic 

growth in Italy remained unchanged at 1.3% as well.  

Forecast

In 2016, we expect to see modest economic growth in our key sales markets. At the same 

time, we plan to expand our market position in European countries and attract additional target 

groups. This is countered by unforeseeable factors, such as the refugee crisis and unresolved 

geopolitical conflicts. Against this backdrop, we anticipate Group turnover growth of 3 to 4% – 

along with growth of 4 to 5% in Brand Business – and an increase in the operating result.

“Leifheit 2020”
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Economic sentiment worsens  
slightly in Germany and Europe

The ifo institute’s economic climate index for the industrial 

sector in Germany declined noticeably in January 2016. It 

fell from a peak of 109.0 points in November 2015 to 

108.6 points in December 2015 and 107.3 points in Janu-

ary 2016 due to more cautious expectations of future 

events among those surveyed. However, the index is still 

up on the January 2015 survey (106.7 points). In retail, the 

economic climate index remained virtually unchanged.

The European Commission’s Business Climate Indicator 

for the Eurozone also lost 0.1 points in January 2016. As a 

result, economic sentiment at a European level fell from a 

high of 0.43 points in October 2015 to 0.39 points in De-

cember 2015 and 0.29 points in January 2016. At this lev-

el, the indicator is still up on the January 2015 survey, 

when it came in at 0.17 points.

Further appreciation of the US dollar 
to be expected

The development of the euro and US dollar exchange rate 

was strongly influenced by central banks’ decisions in re-

cent months. Whereas the US Federal Reserve raised the 

prime rate slightly for the first time in seven years, the Eu-

ropean Central Bank (ECB) continued its expansive mone-

tary policy. In anticipation of further loosening by the ECB, 

the exchange rate amounted to US dollar 1.06 at the end 

of November 2015. Because the measures resolved by the 

ECB Governing Council in December turned out to be 

weaker than the market had expected, the euro regained 

value within a short space of time. In mid-February 2016, 

the euro was trading at US dollar 1.12. However, the mar-

ket expects the ECB to expand its bond-buying pro-

gramme and lower the deposit rate further in light of the 

continued low inflation in the Eurozone. At the same time, 

it is also expected that the US Federal Reserve will resolve 

a second rate hike in autumn. Against this backdrop, the 

average forecast of 52 banks surveyed by Reuters in 

December 2015 is US dollar 1.05 for the end of 2016 and 

the beginning of 2017.

The Spanish economy, by contrast, will grow by 2.7% in 

2016, the IMF believes – an increase of 0.2 percentage 

points over the previous forecast. The German federal 

government’s annual forecast, published in January 2016, 

anticipates gross domestic product (GDP) growth of 1.7% 

in the current year, representing an unchanged continua-

tion of the economic growth rate seen in Germany in 2015 

(2015: 1.7%).

Consumers’ propensity to consume 
remains largely stable

At the start of 2016, sentiment among German consumers 

had not changed greatly year on year, according to sur-

veys by the GfK market research institute. The organisa-

tion forecast consumer confidence index of 9.4 points for 

February, indicating largely stable consumer sentiment for 

the past four months. The indicator only fell slightly to 9.3 

points in December 2015. Consumer sentiment remains 

more positive than it was at the start of the previous year. 

In January 2015, the consumer confidence index stood at 

9.3 points. Despite the current climate of terrorist attacks 

and the refugee crisis, consumers expect the German 

economy to continue growing. One major cause of the op-

timism is the good situation on the labour market. Falling 

petrol and heating-oil prices provide additional financial 

freedom, and the propensity to save remains low on ac-

count of the low interest rates.

GfK also expects private consumption to remain a key 

supporting factor for economic growth in the current finan-

cial year in both Germany and Europe. For Germany, it 

forecasts a real increase in private consumption expendi-

ture of 2.0%; for the European Union, it expects expendi-

ture to grow by 1.5 to 2.0%. Adjusted for price, consump-

tion expenditure rose by 1.9% in Germany in 2015.

At a European level, consumers’ propensity to consume 

deteriorated in the first two months of the current year. In 

February, the consumer confidence indicator for the Euro-

zone fell by 2.5 points to – 8.8 points, whereas the indica-

tor for the entire European Union fell by 2.4 points to 

– 6.6 points. However, the indicator remained above the 

long-term average, as it did in Germany.
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In the medium term, we are planning investments of 

around € 6 million per year, which roughly corresponds to 

the level of annual depreciation.

Solid financial and liquidity position

We will also maintain our conservative financial policy in 

the financial year 2016. Free cash flow of € 14.1 million in 

the financial year 2015 was influenced by the good results 

of operations, lower receivables and an increase in liabili-

ties to be paid back. We are planning free cash flow of 

€ 14.0 million, on par with the previous year, in 2016.

We additionally expect a return on capital employed 

(ROCE) of 18%, which will also be about the same as the 

high level seen in 2015.

Overall statement of prospective 
development

The Leifheit Group once again expects to see solid turn

over and earnings growth in 2016. With our “Leifheit 2020” 

strategy, we will consistently take advantage of current 

market opportunities and thereby enhance our market po-

sitions. We will use sound judgement in making the neces-

sary investments.

Forecast 2016

2015 Forecast 2016

Group turnover € 231.8 m +3 to 4%

Group EBIT € 21.7 m € 22 m to € 23 m

Group forecast:  
solid turnover and earnings growth

Our forecast for the financial year 2016 is based on the 

following assumptions: We expect to see modest eco-

nomic growth in our largest European sales markets. This 

is offset by a number of unforeseeable factors, such as the 

refugee crisis and the conflicts in South-east Europe and 

the Middle East.

Based on these assumptions, we expect to see a growth 

in turnover of between 3 and 4% at Group level in 2016. 

We will increasingly focus on the Brand Business and con-

duct the Volume Business mainly with profitability in mind. 

We expect the Brand Business to increase by 4 to 5%. In 

the Volume Business, we anticipate that turnover will 

remain on par with the previous year. We will provide fur-

ther details of our turnover forecast as the year proceeds.

In the financial year 2016, we expect to see earnings be-

fore interest and taxes (EBIT) of € 22 million to € 23 million. 

This is the result of higher contribution margins as a result 

of an increase in turnover and the positive effect on earn-

ings that our new distribution centre in the Czech Republic 

will have. We expect the forecast EBIT to contain foreign 

currency results of around € 1 million. The Brand Business 

will likely contribute roughly 80% to EBIT, and the Volume 

Business roughly 20%.

Investments for further growth 

In 2016, we plan investments totalling € 8.0 million which 

are financed from own funds. With a volume of roughly 

€ 2 million, the investments will focus on the completion of 

the new logistics hub as well as a powder-coating facility at 

our location in Blatná, Czech Republic. In addition, we will 

invest primarily in tools, machines and production facilities 

for new products; merchandising equipment and IT 

solutions; as well as manufacturing and office equipment. 

By far, the lion’s share of investments will be made in the 

Brand Business.

+ 3 to 4%
Group  
turnover growth

+ 4 to 5%
Brand Business  
turnover growth

€ 22 m to 23 m
EBIT

€ 8.0 m 
Investments
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Information under takeover law 
and explanatory report

Takeover information required under section 315 para. 4 

German commercial code (HGB) as at 31 December 2015 

is presented below:

The subscribed capital (share capital) of Leifheit AG as at 

31 December 2015 remains unchanged at k€ 15,000 and 

is divided into 5,000,000 no-par-value bearer shares. Each 

share grants the same rights and entitles the holder to one 

vote at the Annual General Meeting.

A lock-up period is established for the shares issued by 

Leifheit AG in the context of the employee stock pro-

gramme – and therefore a restriction is set to the transfer

ability of these shares – for at least two years. The lock-up 

period starts upon the receipt of the acquired shares in the 

beneficiary’s depot and ends at the expiration of 30 June in 

the year in which 30 June falls in the period when 24 up to 

35 full months have passed since the acquired shares were 

entered to account in the beneficiary’s depot. There are no 

additional restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of 

shares that the Board of Management is aware of. Howev-

er, the statutory voting rights limitations apply pursuant to 

section 28 sentence 1 German securities trading act 

(WpHG) – (violation of voting rights information duties), sec-

tion 71b German stock corporation act (AktG) – (no rights 

from own shares) and section 136 para. 1 AktG (exclusion 

of voting rights in the presence of certain conflicts of inter-

est).

Direct and indirect equity interests are held in the capital of 

Leifheit AG exceeding 10% of the voting rights: MKV Ver-

waltungs GmbH in Grünwald informed us in February 2009 

that it holds 10.03% of the voting rights in Leifheit AG.

There are no shares in Leifheit AG with special rights. 

There are also no employee participation schemes and no 

controls on voting rights.

Members of the Board of Management of Leifheit AG are 

appointed and dismissed according to the stipulations of 

section 84 and section 85 AktG. In addition, section 6, 

para. 1 of the Articles of Incorporation stipulates that the 

Board of Management consists of one or several members 

and section 6, para. 2 stipulates that the Supervisory 

Board appoints the members of the Board of Manage-

ment, determines their number, appoints deputy Board of 

Management members and may appoint a member of the 

Board of Management as Chairperson of the Board of 

Management.

Changes to the Articles of Incorporation are resolved by 

the Annual General Meeting according to section 179 

AktG. Unless it is a change of the company purpose (which 

requires a majority of three-quarters of the share capital 

represented in the resolution), the resolution by the Annual 

General Meeting in accordance with the Articles of Incor-

poration in accordance with section 18, para. 1 therein 

requires the simple majority of the share capital represent-

ed in the resolution. According to section 18, para. 3 of the 

Articles of Incorporation, the Supervisory Board is autho

rised to make amendments to the Articles of Incorporation 

provided these amendments solely relate to the wording of 

the Articles.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting 2011, the 

Board of Management is authorised, subject to the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share cap-

ital on one or more occasions by a total of up to k€ 7,500 

until 25 May 2016 by issuing new no-par-value bearer 

shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contribu-

tions. The Board of Management is also authorised by re

solution of the Annual General Meeting 2015 to buy back 

and appropriate shares amounting to up to 10% of the 

share capital until 20 May 2020. The terms of both resolu-

tions can be found in the respective agendas of the Annu-

al General Meeting on our website.

Legal information
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“Our company has received and will receive appropriate 

compensation for all legal transactions listed in the report 

regarding relations with affiliated parties, in accordance 

with the conditions known at the time when such transac-

tions were exercised. No business transactions subject to 

reporting requirements that were disadvantageous to the 

corporation were exercised in the reporting period.”

Remuneration report

The remuneration report was prepared in accordance with 

the recommendations of the German corporate governance 

code (DCGK) and contains the statements that are required 

pursuant to the German commercial code (HGB) and re-

spectively the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). It describes the fundamental characteristics of the 

remuneration system for the Board of Management as well 

as the components of the Supervisory Board remuneration.

Remuneration of the Board of Management

After preparation by the Personnel Committee of the Su-

pervisory Board, the plenary session of the Supervisory 

Board is responsible for establishing the individual remu-

neration of the Board of Management members. The re-

muneration structure is based on long-term corporate per-

formance.

At the current time, the members of the Board of Manage-

ment receive remuneration consisting of a fixed basic an-

nual salary, annual variable remuneration and longer-term 

variable remuneration.

The fixed basic annual salary is paid monthly and is based 

on the area of responsibility and individual performance of 

the respective Board of Management member. It is re-

viewed at regular intervals to determine if it is appropriate 

and in line with market standards.

The amount of short-term variable remuneration paid is 

measured against the earnings of the Leifheit Group before 

income tax. For both Board of Management contracts, the 

There are no substantial agreements which take effect 

upon a change of control. A loan agreement for a line of 

credit merely contains an agreement that in the event of a 

change of control the parties shall conclude a satisfactory 

agreement with regard to the continuation of the loan 

agreement.

A Board of Management contract contains a change of 

control clause, according to which in the case of a change 

of control causes the loss of the Board position and go 

along with the early termination of the employment or the 

resignation of the Board position by the Board member, 

the fixed remuneration by the regular end of the contract 

shall be paid unabbreviated as indemnity and the variable 

remuneration payed on a basis of a regular termination of 

the employment status.

No additional agreements with members of the Board of 

Management or employees that take effect upon a change 

of control existed at the balance sheet date.

Declaration of corporate  
management

The declaration of corporate management in accordance 

with section 289a German commercial code (HGB) is ac-

cessible on our website. It includes the declaration of con-

formity regarding the German corporate governance code, 

information about our relevant corporate management 

practices, and a description of the work methods of the 

Board of Management and the Supervisory Board, as well 

as the composition and work methods of their committees 

and the declaration on the defined targets according to the 

German law on the equal participation of women and men 

in management positions.

Report of the Board of Management  
regarding relationships with related 
parties

In accordance with section 312 AktG, the Board of Man-

agement prepared a report on relationships with related 

parties, which contains the following final declaration:

corporate.management.
leifheit-group.com
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The members of the Board of Management do not receive 

remuneration for their work on the Board of Management, 

Administrative or Supervisory Board at subsidiaries in ad-

dition to the remuneration for their activities as members of 

the Board of Management of Leifheit AG.

There are no stock option programmes or similar share-

based incentive systems. The acting members of the 

Board of Management have not received any perfor-

mance-oriented pension commitments (defined benefit 

obligations in accordance with IFRS).

The company does not provide fringe benefits other than 

the use of a company car.

The Board of Management contracts do not contain an 

express commitment to severance payment in the event of 

early termination. Severance payments can, however, be 

stipulated in individual termination agreements. A Board of 

Management contract contains a change of control clause, 

according to which in the case of a change of control 

causes the loss of the Board position and go along with 

the early termination of the employment or the resignation 

of the Board position by the Board member, the fixed re-

muneration by the regular end of the contract shall be paid 

unabbreviated as indemnity and the variable remuneration 

payed on a basis of a regular termination of the employ-

ment status.

payment amounts are capped. Payment is made within 

four weeks of the resolutions on the appropriation of profits 

by the Annual General Meeting.

The amount of long-term variable remuneration paid is cal-

culated using an EBIT multiplier and a market capitalisation 

multiplier. The market capitalisation multiplier is 2.5% of 

the growth in the market capitalisation of Leifheit AG on 

the basis of average prices on the last 90 trading days 

prior to the commencement of the contract and the last 90 

trading days prior to the expiration of the contract. The 

EBIT multiplier is based on the average performance in the 

Group’s EBIT reported in the consolidated financial state-

ments in the respective calendar years. Both the EBIT mul-

tiplier and the payment amount are capped. The value of 

granted long-term variable remuneration is calculated 

within the vesting period each year on the basis of analy-

ses by a third-party expert using Monte Carlo simulations 

and is transferred to provisions pro rata temporis over the 

respective vesting period. 

The value is calculated using historical data at the end of 

the vesting period. The payment will be made within four 

weeks following the adoption of the annual financial state-

ments by the Annual General Meeting of the last contrac-

tual year. The Supervisory Board can determine appropri-

ate advance wage payments. The provision recorded on 

the balance sheet amounted to k€ 2,627, while fair value 

was k€ 2,560.
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Thomas Radke
CEO

Joined on 1 January 2014

Dr Claus-O. Zacharias
CFO

Joined on 1 December 2008

Granted benefits in k€ 2014 2015
2015 
(min.)

2015 
(max.) 2014 2015

2015 
(min.)

2015 
(max.)

Fixed remuneration 330 330 – – 270 300 – –

Fringe benefits 24 25 – – 9 9 –

Total 354 355 – – 279 309 –  –

 
Single-year variable remuneration 200 210 0 250 250 210 0 250

Multi-year variable remuneration

LTI 2014-2016 1,050 1,030 0 4,000 – – – –

LTI 2011-2014 – – – – 2,065 – – –

LTI 2015-2017 – – – – – 480 0 4,000

Other – – – – 300 – – –

Total 1,250 1,240 – – 2,615 690 – –

 
Pension expenses – – – – – – – –

Total remuneration 1,604 1,595 – – 2,894 999 – –

Thomas Radke
CEO

Joined on 1 January 2014

Dr Claus-O. Zacharias
CFO

Joined on 1 December 2008

Cash flow/payment in k€ 2014 2015 2014 2015

Fixed remuneration 330 330 270 300

Fringe benefits 24 25 9 9

Total 354 355 279 309

 
Single-year variable remuneration 0 198 0 250

Multi-year variable remuneration

LTI 2014-2016 0 0 – –

LTI 2011-2014 – – 835 2,749

LTI 2015-2017 – – – –

Other – – 300 –

Total 0 198 1,135 2,999

 
Pension expenses – – – –

Total remuneration 354 553 1,414 3,308
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No remuneration was paid to the members of the Supervi-

sory Board for personally performed services.

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board in the financial 

year 2015 amounted to k€ 280.0 and can be broken down 

as follows:

k€ 2015

Helmut Zahn 100.0

Dr Robert Schuler-Voith 57.5

Baldur Groß 30.0

Karsten Schmidt 32.5

Thomas Standke 30.0

Dr Friedrich M. Thomée 30.0

Nassau/Lahn, Germany, 17 March 2016

Leifheit Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

     

Thomas Radke	 Dr Claus-O. Zacharias

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is regulated by 

the Articles of Incorporation of Leifheit AG. The remunera-

tion accords to the responsibilities and extent of activities of 

the members of the Supervisory Board.

Besides the compensation of their expenses and the value 

added tax incurred for the Supervisory Board activity, each 

member of the Supervisory Board shall receive an allow-

ance for meetings in the amount of € 2,500.00 per Supervi-

sory Board meeting day as well as an annual remuneration 

in the amount of € 20,000.00, which shall be paid out annu-

ally after the expiration of the business year. The chairman 

shall receive three times this remuneration, while his or her 

deputy shall receive 1.5 times this amount.

If a member of the Supervisory Board is only a member for 

a part of a business year, the annual remuneration shall be 

paid merely on a pro rata basis. For their membership in a 

committee, each member of the Supervisory Board shall 

receive an additional meeting allowance in the amount of 

€ 2,500.00 per committee meeting day. The chairman of a 

committee shall receive twice this amount. If several Super-

visory Board and/or committee meetings take place on one 

day, a member of the Supervisory Board attending several 

meetings may not demand more than € 2,500.00 in total.
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Statement of profit or loss 
and statement of comprehensive income

k€ Notes 2014 2015

Turnover 1 220,695 231,832

Cost of turnover 2 – 115,446 – 123,554

Gross profit 105,249 108,278

Research and development costs 3 – 3,763 – 4,824

Distribution costs 6 – 69,356 – 70,221

Administrative costs 7 – 16,805 – 15,326

Other operating income 8 1,135 1,456

Other operating expenses 9 – 20 – 169

Foreign currency result 10 5,103 2,457

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 21,543 21,651

Interest income 11 402 115

Interest expenses 12 – 2,174 – 1,527

Net other financial result 36 – 1

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 19,807 20,238

Income taxes 13 – 5,694 – 5,905

Net result for the period 14,113 14,333

Contributions that are not reclassified in future periods in the statement of profit or loss

Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit pension plans 26 – 12,224 2,531

Effect from income taxes 3,600 – 640

Contributions that may be reclassified in future periods in the  
statement of profit or loss

Currency translation of foreign operations 113 299

Currency translation of net investments in foreign operations – 173 302

Net result of cash flow hedges 3,366 5,147

Effect from income taxes – 932 – 1,619

Other comprehensive income – 6,250 6,020

Comprehensive income after taxes 7,863 20,353

Earnings per share based on net result for the period  
(diluted and undiluted) 14 € 2.97  € 3.02

Earnings per share based on comprehensive income after taxes  
(diluted and undiluted) 14 € 1.66  € 4.28
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Balance sheet

k€ Notes 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 58,808 64,200

Financial assets 16 4,000 4,000

Trade receivables 17 48,644 46,063

Inventories 18 35,436 42,985

Income tax receivables 951 224

Derivative financial instruments 19 3,276 5,639

Other current assets 20 3,579 4,441

Total current assets 154,694 167,552

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 21 35,007 36,086

Intangible assets 22 18,535 18,738

Deferred tax assets 13 11,388 9,837

Income tax receivables 23 1,520 762

Derivative financial instruments 19 1,996 4,773

Other non-current assets 151 156

Total non-current assets 68,597 70,352

Total assets 223,291 237,904

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities 24 47,820 50,816

Derivative financial instruments 19 661 11

Income tax liabilities 377 947

Provisions 25 5,959 6,540

Total current liabilities 54,817 58,314

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 25 2,066 2,075

Employee benefit obligations 26 69,019 66,448

Deferred tax liabilities 13 2,454 4,262

Derivative financial instruments 19 11 3

Other non-current liabilities 100 100

Total non-current liabilities 73,650 72,888

Equity

Subscribed capital 27 15,000 15,000

Capital surplus 28 16,956 16,984

Treasury shares 29 – 7,542 – 7,493

Retained earnings 30 84,755 90,536

Other reserves 31 – 14,345 – 8,325

Total equity 94,824 106,702

Total equity and liabilities 223,291 237,904
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Statement of changes in equity

k€
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
surplus

Treasury 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Other  
reserves Total

As at 1 January 2014 15,000 16,934 – 7,598 78,479 – 8,095 94,720

Issue of treasury shares – 22 56 – – 78

Dividends – – – – 7,837 – – 7,837

Comprehensive income after taxes – – – 14,113 – 6,250 7,863

of which net result for the period – – – 14,113 – 14,113

of which actuarial gains/losses on  
defined benefit pension plans – – – – – 8,624 – 8,624

of which currency translation of  
foreign operations – – – – 113 113

of which currency translation of  
net investments in foreign operations – – – – – 141 – 141

of which net result of 
cash flow hedges – – – – 2,402 2,402

As at 31 December 2014 15,000 16,956 – 7,542 84,755 – 14,345 94,824

Issue of treasury shares – 28 49 – – 77

Dividends – – – – 8,552 – – 8,552

Comprehensive income after taxes – – – 14,333 6,020 20,353

of which net result for the period – – – 14,333 – 14,333

of which actuarial gains/losses on  
defined benefit pension plans – – – – 1,891 1,891

of which currency translation of  
foreign operations – – – – 299 299

of which currency translation of  
net investments in foreign operations – – – – 207 207

of which net result of  
cash flow hedges – – – – 3,623 3,623

As at 31 December 2015 15,000 16,984 – 7,493 90,536 – 8,325 106,702
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Statement of cash flow

k€ Notes 2014 2015

Net result for the period 14,113 14,333

Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation 4 6,254 5,757

Change in provisions 88 546

Result from disposal of fixed assets and other non-current assets 15 – 69

Change in inventories, trade receivables and other assets  
not classified as investment or financing activities – 3,053 – 4,063

Change in trade payables and other liabilities  
not classified as investment or financing activities 8,133 3,790

Other non-cash income/expenses – 1,050 462

Cash flow from operating activities 24,500 20,756

Acquisition of tangible and intangible assets 21, 22 – 6,150 – 7,128

Inflow in financial assets 16 1,001 –

Outflow for financial assets 16 – 4,000 –

Proceeds from the sale of tangible assets and other non-current assets 83 455

Cash flow from investment activities – 9,066 – 6,673

Changes in treasury shares 29 78 77

Dividends paid to the shareholders of the parent company – 7,837 – 8,552

Cash flow from financing activities – 7,759 – 8,475

Effects of exchange rate differences 180 – 216

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 7,855 5,392

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the reporting period 50,953 58,808

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 15 58,808 64,200

Income taxes paid – 2,732 – 3,104

Interest paid – – 3

Interest received 209 49
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Notes: General accounting and 
valuation principles

General information

Leifheit AG, whose registered office is in Leifheitstraße, Nassau/Lahn, 

Germany, focuses on the development and distribution of high-quality 

branded products for selected areas of the household. The company 

has been entered in the Commercial Register of Montabaur Local 

Court under HRB 2857. The shares of Leifheit AG are traded in  

the Prime Standard trading segment in the stock markets of Xetra, 

Frankfurt am Main, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Hamburg, Hanover and Stuttgart 

under ISIN DE0006464506. 

Until the sale of its shares on 27 April 2015, Home Beteiligungen 

GmbH, Munich, Germany was the parent company of Leifheit AG.

In accordance with section 315a, para. 1 HGB, the consolidated finan-

cial statements for 2015 have been prepared according to the Inter

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) formulated by the Inter-

national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as applicable in the EU. All 

of the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Finan-

cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations of the IFRS Inter-

pretation Committee (IFRIC and SIC) requiring application in financial 

year 2015 were applied. The figures for the previous year were calcu-

lated on the same basis.

The financial statements drawn up in euros were prepared on the basis 

of the purchase cost principle with the exception of derivatives and in-

struments that are specifically designated for affecting net income in 

their attributed fair value. The financial statements provide a true and 

fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of 

the Leifheit Group. Unless stated otherwise, all figures are shown in 

thousands of euros (k€).

The statement of profit or loss was prepared according to the cost of 

turnover method.

The consolidated financial statements are being submitted to the 

Supervisory Board for approval on 30 March 2016. They will then be 

published without further delay.

Consolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements include Leifheit AG and the com-

panies controlled by it. The Group controls a holding company specifi-

cally when it possesses all of the following attributes:

-	 �Full control over the holding company (i.e. based on its current 

rights, the Group is entitled to control any activities by the holding 

company that may have a significant influence on its returns),

-	 �risk exposure or entitlements to fluctuating returns through its inter-

ests in the holding company, and

-	 �the ability to use its control over the holding company in such a way 

that influences the returns of the holding company.

If the Group does not hold the majority of voting rights or similar rights 

in a holding company, the Group must consider all facts and circum-

stances when assessing whether it has full control over the holding 

company. This includes:

-	 �A contractual agreement with other persons entitled to vote.

-	 �Rights based on other contractual agreements.

-	 �Voting rights and potential voting rights of the Group.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared in application of 

standardised accounting policies as at the same balance sheet date as 

the financial statements of the parent company and the Group.

Acquired companies are included in the consolidated financial state-

ments starting when control is obtained (acquisition date). Intragroup 

balances and transactions and resulting unrealised intragroup profits 

and losses, as well as dividends are fully eliminated. Deferred taxes are 

recognised for temporary differences from consolidation as required by 

IAS 12.

The same consolidation methods were used for the financial state-

ments for 2015 and 2014.

Business combinations before 1 January 2010:

The acquisition method according to IFRS 3 rev. 2004 (Business Com-

binations) is applied for companies acquired before 1 January 2010. All 

identifiable assets and liabilities were valued in their attributable fair 

value at the time of acquisition. Non-controlling interests (minority inter-

ests) were therefore carried at their share in the fair value of the assets 

and liabilities. If the acquisition cost of an interest exceeded the Group’s 

share in the equity of the company concerned, the resulting goodwill 

had to be capitalised. Previously undisclosed reserves and liabilities are 

carried, written down or dissolved during subsequent consolidation, 

depending on the corresponding assets and liabilities. Goodwill is test-

ed at least annually for impairment at the level of the cash-generating 

units and written down to the recoverable amount as necessary. Differ-

ence amounts in liabilities were recognised as affecting net income. 

Transaction costs directly allocated to the acquisition of the company 

were a part of cost.
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Business combinations after 1 January 2010:

The acquisition method according to IFRS 3 rev. 2008 (Business Com-

binations) is applied for companies acquired on or after 1 January 

2010. All identifiable assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at 

the time of acquisition. Cost is measured as the total of the consider

ation transferred (valued at the fair value at the date of acquisition) and 

the value of the shares without controlling interest. Non-controlling in-

terests therefore continued to be carried at their share in the fair value 

of the assets and liabilities. If the acquisition cost of an interest exceeds 

the Group’s share in the equity of the company concerned, the result-

ing goodwill must be capitalised. Previously undisclosed reserves and 

liabilities are carried, written down or dissolved during subsequent con-

solidation, depending on the corresponding assets and liabilities. 

Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment at the level of the 

cash-generating units and written down to the recoverable amount as 

necessary. Negative goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. Transaction 

costs incurred during the company acquisition are reported as admin-

istrative costs affecting net income.

In step acquisitions, the share of equity is remeasured at the date of 

acquisition and the amount exceeding the book value is recognised in 

profit or loss. Contingent purchase price liabilities from business com-

binations that took or take place place after 1 January 2010 are recog-

nised at fair value on the balance sheet date. The adjustments of these 

liabilities are recognised as affecting net income in the statement of 

profit or loss. Losses of a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling 

interest even if the value of the shares leads to a negative balance.

Scope of consolidation

The wholly-owned subsidiary Soehnle GmbH with its registered office 

in Nassau, Germany was founded in Q2 2015. This company has not 

yet commenced business operations. There were no other changes in 

the scope of consolidation or major changes in the organisational 

structure or business model in reporting period.

There were no business combinations in the 2015 reporting period, as 

in the prior year.

The following companies based both inside and outside Germany  

were included in the consolidated financial statements in addition to 

Leifheit  AG. Leifheit AG directly or indirectly held the majority of the 

voting rights in these companies as at 31 December 2015.

Date of initial 
consolidation

Interest in 
equity and 

voting rights in 
2015 in %

Leifheit España S.A., Madrid (E) 1 Jan 1989 100.0

Leifheit s.r.o., Blatná (CZ) 1 Jan 1995 100.0

Leifheit International U.S.A. Inc.,  
Bay Shore, NY (USA) 1 Jan 1997 100.0

Meusch-Wohnen-Bad und  
Freizeit GmbH, Nassau (D) 1 Jan 1999 100.0

Birambeau S.A.S., Paris (F)* 1 Jan 2001 100.0

Leifheit-Birambeau S.A.S., Paris (F) * 1 Jan 2001 100.0

Leifheit Distribution S.R.L., Bucharest (RO) 18 Dec 2007 100.0

Herby Industrie S.A.S., La Loupe (F) * 1 Jul 2008 100.0

Leifheit France S.A.S., Paris (F) 23 Nov 2009 100.0

Leifheit CZ a.s., Hostivice (CZ) ** 1 Dec 2011 71.0

Leifheit Polska Sp. z o.o., Warsaw (PL) 11 Oct 2012 100.0

Soehnle GmbH, Nassau (D) 25 Jun 2015 100.0

* 	 Indirect shareholding through Leifheit France S.A.S.
** 	�According to IFRS 3, reported to 100% on the balance sheet due to the regulations on the acquisition 

of the outstanding shares (takeover on 1 January 2016)

Foreign currency conversion

Where individual financial statements of consolidated companies are 

prepared in local currencies, monetary items in foreign currencies (cash 

and cash equivalents, receivables, liabilities) are measured at the 

exchange rate as at the end of the balance sheet date, with any 

differences recognised in profit or loss. Exceptions thereof include 

conversion differences for monetary items which substantially form part 

of the net investment in an independent foreign entity (e.g. non-current 

loans replacing equity).

Currency translation of the financial statements of consolidated com-

panies prepared in foreign currencies is performed on the basis of the 

functional currency concept using the modified closing rate method in 

accordance with IAS 21.

As our subsidiaries and branches operate independently in financial, 

commercial and organisational terms, their functional currency is usu-

ally the local currency. For inclusion in the consolidated financial state-

ments, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries and branches are 

translated at the exchange rate as at the end of the balance sheet date 

and income and expenses are translated at annual average exchange 

rates. The exchange rate differences arising from currency translation 

are recognised in other reserves in equity. Exchange rate differences 

that arise as against the previous year’s translation are taken to this 

translation reserve without affecting net income.
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The exchange rates applied to the translation of the relevant currencies 

are shown in the following table:

Base: € 1
Mid-market rate on the 

balance sheet date
Annual  

average rate

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015 2014 2015

CZK 27.74 27.03 27.56 27.35

USD 1.22 1.09 1.34 1.11

PLN 4.29 4.26 4.18 4.20

HKD 9.44 8.44 10.31 8.60

Assessment of fair value

The fair value is the price which would be received for the sale of an asset 

or paid for the transfer of a liability in the context of an orderly business 

transaction between market participants on the valuation date. The 

assessment of the fair value is based on the presumption that the business 

transaction in the context of which the asset is sold or the liability is trans-

ferred occurs in

-	 �either the primary market for the asset resp. liability in question �

-	 �or, where no primary market exists, the most advantageous market 

for the asset or liability in question.

The Group must have access to the primary or most advantageous 

market.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is determined by reference to the 

assumptions on which the market participants would base their pricing 

of the asset or liability. In this regard, it is assumed that the market 

participants would thereby be acting in their own best economic inter-

ests. The assessment of the fair value of a non-financial asset takes 

account of the market participant’s capability to generate economic 

benefits by opting to use the asset to the greatest and best degree or 

to sell it to another market participant able to use it to the greatest and 

best degree. The Group applies valuation techniques which are appro-

priate in the individual circumstances and for which sufficient data is 

available to carry out an assessment of the fair value. In this context, 

relevant and observable input factors are to be applied to the greatest 

possible extent and the application of non-observable input factors to 

be kept to a minimum.

All assets and liabilities for which the fair value is determined or reported 

in the financial statements are classified in accordance with the follow-

ing fair value hierarchy, based on the input parameter at the lowest 

level which is of overall significance for the valuation at fair value. 

-	 �Level 1: �(Unadjusted) prices quoted in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities

-	 �Level 2: �Assessment procedures pursuant to which the input param-

eter at the lowest level which is of overall significance for the 

valuation at fair value can be observed either directly or indi-

rectly in the market

-	 �Level 3: �Assessment procedures pursuant to which the input param-

eter at the lowest level which is of overall significance for the 

valuation at fair value cannot be observed in the market

In the case of assets or liabilities which are recognised in the financial 

statements on a recurring basis, the Group will decide whether the 

levels within the hierarchy have been reached by carrying out a review 

of the classification (on the basis of the input parameter at the lowest 

level which is of overall significance for the valuation at fair value) at the 

end of each reporting period.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents 

are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

a given amount of cash at any time and are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value. Their remaining term is not more than three 

months.

Inventories

Inventories are recognised at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is measured on the basis of the weighted average cost method.

The cost of internally manufactured products includes the full produc-

tion cost based on normal capacity utilisation. In detail, cost includes 

the direct costs directly attributable to products (e.g. material and la-

bour) and fixed and variable production overheads (e.g. material and 

production overheads, depreciation and amortisation). In particular, 

costs incurred by the specific cost centres are taken into account.

The risks in holding inventories due to reduced realisable value are 

taken into account through appropriate write-downs. These write-

downs are calculated on the basis of the future sales plan or actual 

consumption. Depending on the respective inventory item, individual 

periods are applied and subsequently reviewed and modified on the 

basis of objective evaluation criteria. The lower net realisable value at 

the balance sheet date is taken into account in valuation. If the circum-

stances which previously caused inventories to be written down no 

longer apply such that the net realisable value is increased, the result-

ing increase in value is recognised as a reduction in the cost of materi-

als.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are carried at cost less cumulative depreciation and 

impairment. If items of tangible assets are sold or scrapped, the asso-

ciated costs and cumulative depreciation are charged off; any realised 

profit or loss from the disposal is reported in the statement of profit or 

loss.

The cost of an item of tangible assets comprises the purchase price 

including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, and any 

directly attributable costs of bringing the asset into working condition 

and to the location for its intended use. Subsequent expenses, such as 

maintenance and repair costs, which arise after the fixed assets are 

taken into operation, are recorded as expenses in the period in which 

they are incurred.

The useful lives and depreciation methods for tangible assets are 

reviewed periodically to ensure that the method of depreciation and the 

depreciation period comply with the expected useful life of the items of 

tangible assets. If a useful life must be changed, this is done prospec-

tively as of the date of reassessment.

Assets under construction are classified as unfinished tangible assets 

and are carried at cost. Assets under construction are depreciated 

from the time at which the respective asset is completed and used in 

operation.

Depreciation is performed on a straight-line basis using the expected 

useful life:

Years

Buildings 25 – 50

Other structures 10 – 20

Injection-moulding machines 10

Technical equipment and other machinery 5 – 10

Injection-moulding and stamping tools 3 – 6

Vehicles 6

Software 3 – 8

Operating and office equipment 3 – 13

Display and POS stands 3
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Leases

In the case of finance leases where, in essence, all the risks and re-

wards of ownership of an asset are transferred to Leifheit, the leased 

asset is capitalised from the date on which the lease is arranged. The 

asset is recognised at the lower of its fair value and the present value of 

the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned be-

tween the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability 

so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability over the lease term. Financing expenses are rec-

ognised immediately in profit or loss.

If it is not reasonably certain that Leifheit will obtain ownership of the 

asset at the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated in full over 

the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the state-

ment of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Intangible assets

Patents, licences and software

Expenses for patents and licences are capitalised and subsequently 

amortised over their expected useful life on a straight-line basis. The 

estimated useful life of patents and licences varies between three and 

15 years. The carrying amount of assets is regularly reviewed for im-

pairment.

The cost of new software and implementation costs are capitalised and 

treated as an intangible asset unless these costs are not an integral 

part of the associated hardware.

Brands

Consideration paid for brands is capitalised. Brands are recognised as 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and are not amortised, as 

no time limit can be set for the period during which the asset generates 

economic benefits for the company. Brands are assessed annually for 

possible impairment in accordance with IAS 36 and written down to 

their fair value as necessary.

Goodwill

The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the company’s interest in 

the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired on the 

acquisition date is known as goodwill and is recognised as an asset. In 

accordance with IFRS 3 in combination with IAS 36, goodwill is tested for 

impairment annually and written down to the recoverable amount as 

necessary.

For the impairment test, the value of the asset at the acquisition date is 

allocated to the cash-generating units at the lowest level of the company 

at which the asset is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible 
assets

Tangible assets and intangible assets are tested for impairment if there 

is a change in circumstances or there are material grounds for believing 

that the book value of an asset may not be recoverable (IAS 36). As 

soon as the book value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an 

impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount 

is the higher of the asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The net 

selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an 

arm’s length transaction (fair value) less the cost of disposal. 

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its dis-

posal at the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is identified 

for each asset individually or, if this is not possible, for the cash-gener-

ating unit to which the asset belongs.

Research and development costs

Research costs cannot be capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 and 

are therefore recognised directly as an expense in the statement of 

profit or loss.

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 if they 

can be clearly allocated and both the technical feasibility and marketing 

of the newly developed products are ensured. Development work must 

also generate probable future economic benefits. Leifheit has smaller 
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research and development projects involving further development of 

existing products and/or components. They are not recorded in terms 

of development cost to be capitalised for reasons of materiality. For 

larger research and development projects, the point at which it is clear 

whether future benefits will be generated from the potential product is 

extremely late in the overall project phase, so that the costs allocated 

to development are immaterial and recognised in profit or loss like the 

research costs.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are recognised using the balance sheet liability method 

for all temporary differences between the tax base of an asset or liabil-

ity and its carrying amount in the consolidated balance sheet (tempo-

rary concept). In addition, deferred tax assets from loss carry-forwards 

are recognised.

The carrying amount of deferrals is the probable tax liability or asset  

in the following financial year based on the prevailing tax rate at the 

realisation date.

Deferred tax assets whose realisation is or becomes improbable are 

not recognised or are adjusted.

Deferred taxes are reported separately on the balance sheet.

Provisions

Under IAS 37, provisions are recognised where there is a current obli-

gation to third parties as a result of a past event which will probably 

lead to an outflow of resources and which can be reliably estimated.

Provisions for warranty claims are recognised under IAS 37 on a case-

by-case basis and based on the present or estimated future outflows 

for the warranty obligations on the products sold.

Other provisions are recognised under IAS 37 for all identifiable risks 

and uncertain obligations in the amount that is likely to be required to 

settle them and are not offset against reimbursement claims.

Provisions which do not lead to an outflow of resources in the following 

year are recognised at the discounted amount required to settle the 

obligations at the end of the balance sheet date. The discount rate is 

based on market interest rates.

Share-based payment

The obligations of share-based payment, which provide for a settle-

ment in cash, are calculated during the vesting period on the basis of 

analyses using Monte Carlo simulations. The obligations are deferred 

on a pro rata temporis basis over the respective vesting period.

Employee benefit obligations and pension 
reserves

The actuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligation arising out of 

the defined benefit plans is based on the projected unit credit method. 

Revaluations, including actuarial gains and losses, are directly recorded 

on the balance sheet and included in other reserves (debit or credit 

balance) via other comprehensive income in the period in which they 

accrue. Revaluations may not be reclassified as profit or loss in subse-

quent periods. Any adjustments to the pension plans are recognised in 

profit or loss.

Under this method, the post-employment benefits and vested benefits 

known at the end of the balance sheet date are taken into account 

along with the expected future increases in salaries and pensions.

Equity

Treasury shares reduce the equity reported in the balance sheet. The 

acquisition of treasury shares is shown as a change in equity. Any sale, 

issue or cancellation of treasury shares is recognised without affecting 

net result. Consideration received is recognised in the financial state-

ments as a change in equity.

Provisions for currency translation are recognised in other reserves for 

exchange rate differences arising from the consolidation of the financial 

statements of independent foreign subsidiaries or branches.
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Exchange rate differences for monetary items which become a part of 

the company’s net investment in an independent foreign entity, for 

example long-term loans, are recognised in equity in the consolidated 

financial statements without affecting net income until disposal or 

repayment. When the relevant assets are sold, the translation reserves 

are recognised in other reserves as income or expenses in the same 

period as the profit or loss from the sale is recognised.

Revaluations, including actuarial gains and losses arising out of the 

valuation of pension obligations, are recorded in other reserves.

Profits and losses from effective hedging transactions are likewise 

recorded as not affecting net income in the reserve for hedging cash 

flows in other reserves, to the extent effectiveness can be proven.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and receivables, investments held to maturity or 

investments held for sale within the meaning of IAS 39. Derivatives that 

are not formally designated as hedging instruments are valued at the 

fair value pursuant to IAS 39 and classified as financial assets or liabili-

ties.

Financial liabilities within the meaning of IAS 39 are classified as finan-

cial liabilities carried at amortised cost.

The Group establishes the classification of its financial assets and 

liabilities on initial recognition. Reclassifications are carried out at the 

end of the financial year to the extent that they are permitted and re-

quired. Financial assets and liabilities are recognised at fair value on 

initial recognition on the settlement date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not listed on an active market. After 

initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method less any write-downs. Gains 

and losses are recognised in the net result for the period if the loans 

and receivables are derecognised or written down. Loans and receiv

ables include trade receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents 

and other financial assets held by the Group.

Financial liabilities and interest-bearing loans

Financial liabilities and interest-bearing loans are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss if liabilities are derecognised or in the case 

of write-downs.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group utilises derivative financial instruments, such as forward ex-

change contracts, in order to hedge against exchange rate risks.

For accounting purposes, the hedging instruments are differentiated as 

follows:

-	 �As cash flow hedges to protect against the risk of cash flow fluctu

ations, which can be attributed to to the currency risk of an asset on 

the balance sheet, a liability on the balance sheet or a fixed liability 

not on the balance sheet that is related to a highly probable future 

transaction. In the process, both the hedging relation as well as the 

risk management objectives and the strategies of the Group with 

regard to the hedging are defined formally and documented at the 

beginning of hedging. The documentation contains the definition of 

the hedging instrument, the underlying transaction or the hedged 

transaction, as well as the nature of the hedged risk and a descrip-

tion of how the company assesses the effectiveness of the changes 
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in the attributable fair value of the hedging instrument in the compen-

sation of risks from changes in the attributable fair value or the cash 

flows of the hedged underlying transaction that are based on the 

hedged risk. Hedging relations of this kind are assessed to be highly 

effective with regard to achieving a compensation of risks from 

changes in the attributable fair value or the cash flows. They are 

evaluated continuously as to whether they have in fact been highly 

effective during the entire reporting period for which the hedging 

relation was defined.

In hedging transactions that fulfil the strict criteria for the recognition 

of hedging relationships (hedging of cash flows/cash flow hedges), 

the ineffective part of the profit or loss from the hedging instrument is 

recorded immediately in the foreign currency result as affecting net 

income. In contrast, the effective part is recorded as not affecting net 

income in the reserve for hedging cash flows in other reserves. The 

amounts included in other comprehensive income are reposted 

upon the receipt of the hedged goods as a part of the purchase 

costs. Recognition in terms of the result is performed by way of 

entering the material consumption to accounts upon the disposal of 

inventories.

-	 �As cash flow hedges to protect against the risk of cash flow fluctua-

tions, which can be attributed to the currency risk of an asset on the 

balance sheet or a liability on the balance sheet but that is not related 

to a highly probable future transaction.

�These hedges are assessed at the fair value to be attributed at the 

time of closing the contract and are revalued in the following periods 

at the attributable fair value. They are assessed as financial assets if 

there is a positive attributable fair value and as financial liabilities if 

their attributable fair value is negative. Gains or losses from changes 

in the attributable fair value of derivatives are immediately recorded 

as affecting net income.

Forward foreign exchange transactions were valued in accordance with 

the fair value method, with the forward rate and the nominal amount 

having been discounted to the reporting date, taking into account the 

interest rate (swap curve). The swap curves applied relate solely to 

market data.

The applied market values are calculated as market averages.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group determines whether there are 

indications of impairment of a financial asset or if a group of financial 

assets exists. The objective indication for impairment is if the fair value 

is consistently and significantly below the book value. If such an asset 

is impaired, this effect is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative loss 

that was previously recognised directly in equity (in the case of avail

able-for-sale financial assets) is recognised in profit or loss. In the case 

of trade receivables, impairments are recognised in separate adjust-

ment accounts.

Derecognition of financial assets  
and financial liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised if the Group loses control of the con-

tractual rights embodying the financial asset. A financial liability is 

derecognised if the obligation it is based on is fulfilled or cancelled or 

has expired.

Recognition of income and expenses

Turnover and other operating income are only recognised when the 

service has been provided or the goods or products delivered and the 

risk has thus been transferred to the customer. Revenue-dependent 

sales deductions in the form of customer bonuses or discounts are 

reflected in turnover.
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The cost of turnover includes costs incurred to generate turnover and 

the cost of merchandise purchased and held for resale. This item also 

includes the cost of additions to provisions for warranty obligations.

Distribution costs include labour and materials costs and the deprecia-

tion and amortisation attributable to selling activities, as well as ship-

ment, advertising, sales promotion, market research and customer 

service costs, and outbound freight.

Administrative costs include labour and materials costs and the depre-

ciation and amortisation attributable to administration.

Taxes such as real estate tax and vehicle tax are attributed to produc-

tion, research and development, distribution or administrative costs in 

accordance with the respective source.

Interest income and interest expenses are recognised on a pro rata 

basis. In all financial instruments valued at their amortised costs, as 

well as the interest-bearing financial assets that are classified as avail-

able for sale, the interest income and interest expenses are recorded 

by means of the effective interest rate. This involves the calculatory in-

terest rate, by which the estimated future incoming and outgoing pay-

ments are discounted over the expected term of the financial instru-

ment, or, if applicable, over a shorter period, precisely to the net book 

value of the financial asset or financial liability.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense affecting net income 

in the period they are incurred. There are no significant interest expen

ses that would have to be capitalised in manufacturing costs.

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements. 

They are shown in the Notes, except when the probability of an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits is extremely low. Contin-

gent assets are also not recognised in the financial statements. How

ever, they are disclosed in the Notes if it is likely that an inflow of eco-

nomic benefits will arise.

Events after the balance sheet date

Events after the end of the balance sheet date that provide additional 

information on conditions that existed at the end of the balance sheet 

date (adjusting events) are included in the financial statements. Non- 

adjusting events after the end of the balance sheet date are shown in 

the Notes if they are material.

Material exercises of discretion, estimates 
and assumptions

In certain instances, preparing the annual financial statements requires 

exercises of discretion and estimates and assumptions about the 

amounts of receivables, liabilities and provisions (Note 25), deprecia-

tion and amortisation periods, deferred taxes, contingent liabilities, 

impairment tests and recognised income and expenses. The actual 

figures may differ from these estimates. The most important assump-

tions and estimates in connection with impairment testing of intangible 

assets and tangible assets are stated in Note 22, the assumptions and 

estimates in connection with the recognition of pension liabilities in 

Note 26 and the assumptions and estimates in connection with the 

recognition of deferred taxes in Note 13.

Furthermore, in the scope of the accounting and valuation principles, 

discretion was applied as to the research and development costs in the 

sense that the costs for smaller projects (less than k€ 100) are record-

ed directly as expenses and that the time of realisability is determined 

subjectively for larger projects.

Changes in accounting and valuation 
principles

New mandatory accounting standards applicable 
as of 2015

The IASB has published no standards or interpretations relevant to 

Leifheit that have already been endorsed by the EU in the process of 

comitology and for which application was first mandatory starting with 

financial year 2015.
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New accounting standards mandatorily applicable 
in future

EU endorsement obtained

The IASB has published the standards and interpretations listed below 

that have already been endorsed by the EU in the process of comitology, 

but were not yet to be mandatorily applied in financial year 2015. These 

standards and interpretations are not being applied early by the Group.

-- �Amendment to IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Plans:  

Employee Contributions

The amendment to IAS 19 was published in November 2013 and is 

applicable for the first time in the financial year beginning on or after 

1 February 2015. The amendment governs the reporting of contribu-

tions to the pension plan from employees or third parties as a reduc-

tion of service cost, to the extent that these reflect the services pro-

vided during the reporting period. The amendment is to be applied 

retroactively. Application ahead of schedule is permissible.

The amendment does not have any effects on the consolidated 

financial statements because contributions from employees are not 

provided under current pension plans.

-- �Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of Permissible 

Depreciation Methods

The amendments clarify the principle contained in IAS 16 and IAS 38 

that turnover reflects the operation of a business (to which the asset 

belongs) and not the consumption of an asset’s economic benefit. 

As a result, a method based on turnover cannot be used for the 

depreciation of tangible assets but only for the depreciation of intan-

gible assets in very limited cases. The amendments are to be applied 

prospectively for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 

2016. Application ahead of schedule is permissible.

The amendment has no effects on the consolidated financial state-

ments because turnover is not used for depreciation of tangible 

assets.

EU endorsement outstanding

The IASB has published the standards and interpretations listed below 

that were not yet to be mandatorily applied in financial year 2015. 

These standards and interpretations have not been endorsed by the 

EU to date and are not applied by the Group.

-- �IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July of 2014 the IASB published the final version of IFRS 9 Finan-

cial Instruments replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement and all prior versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 converges 

the three project phases for the recognition of financial instruments, 

“Classification and Measurement”, “Impairment” and “Recognition of 

Hedging Transactions”.  IFRS 9 applies for the first time to financial 

years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Application ahead of 

schedule is permissible. The standard is to be applied retroactively 

except for the recognition of hedging transactions, but the disclosure 

of comparative information is not required. The regulations for the 

recognition of hedging transactions are to be applied prospectively 

with few exceptions.

Leifheit intends to apply the new standard beginning on the pre-

scribed date when it comes into force. We evaluated the effects of all 

three aspect of IFRS 9 in financial year 2015. This preliminary 

assessment is based on currently available information and may 

change due to more detailed analyses or further appropriate and 

reliable information made available in the future. Overall we do not 

expect any material effects on the balance sheet and equity except 

for the impact of applying the impairment rules in IFRS 9. We do not 

expect significantly higher risk provisioning with a negative impact on 

equity, and will perform a more detailed evaluation in the future to 

determine the extent of the effects.
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-- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 was published in May of 2014 and introduces a five-stage 

model for the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers. 

According to IFRS 15, revenue is recognised in the amount of con-

sideration expected to be received by a company in return for the 

transfer of goods or services to a customer (the transaction price  

in terms of IFRS 15). The new standard for revenue is going to 

replace all currently existing revenue realisation regulations according 

to IFRS. Either full retroactive application or modified retroactive 

application is prescribed for financial years beginning on or after 

1 January 2018. Application ahead of schedule is permissible.

We conducted a preliminary evaluation of IFRS 15 in financial year 

2015. This may change in the course of further, more detailed analy-

ses. We also take into account the clarifications published by the 

IASB in an exposure draft in July of 2015 and will monitor further 

developments.

For virtually all of our contracts with customers, the sale of goods 

constitutes the sole contractual obligation. Revenue is realised when 

the power of disposal over the assets passes to the customer.  As a 

result, there will be no material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements. The only possible changes are in the allocation of adver-

tising cost subsidies to sales deductions or costs. We grant guaran-

tees going beyond the statutory requirements in some cases. Since 

it is not possible to assign a value to this service, we do not expect 

any effects on the consolidated financial statements.

-- IFRS 16 Leases

The IASB published the new standard on the recognition of leases in 

January of 2016. For most leases, it requires the lessee to recognise 

the usage rights to the lease object and a corresponding lease liabil-

ity. For lessors on the other hand there are only minor changes com-

pared to the classification and recognition of leases under IAS 17.  

IFRS 16 requires expanded note disclosures for the lessee as well as 

the lessor. IFRS 16 applies for the first time to financial years begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2019. Application ahead of schedule is 

permissible subject to the condition that IFRS 15 Revenue from Con-

tracts with Customers is already being applied or is applied together 

with IFRS 16 at the same time.

We intend to apply the new standard starting on the prescribed date 

when it comes into force. Applying the new standard is expected to 

result in a balance sheet extension. However, the precise scope of 

the effects remains to be determined.

-- Amendment of IAS 1 – Disclosure Imitative

The amendments of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

clarify rather than significantly change the existing requirements of 

the standard. The following is specified more precisely by the 

amendments:

   - �The materiality provisions in IAS 1.

   - �Certain items on the statement of profit or loss, statement of com-

prehensive income and balance sheet can be broken down.

   - �Companies are free to choose the sequence of disclosures in the 

notes.

The share in other results of affiliated companies and joint ventures 

recognised according to the equity method has to be reported 

respectively in a single item, subdivided according to whether these 

items are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss in subsequent 

periods or not. The amendments also clarify what regulations apply for 

the presentation of additional subtotals on the balance sheet, state-

ment of profit or loss and in other comprehensive income. These 

amendments have to be applied for financial years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016. Application ahead of schedule is permissible.

The amendments largely consist of conceptual clarifications and are 

therefore not expected to affect the consolidated financial state-

ments.
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Standards or interpretations that do not apply

The new regulations listed in the following are not applicable to the 

Group and therefore have no effects on the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations of the Group:

-	 �Amendments of IAS 16 and IAS 41 – Bearer Plants

-	 �Amendments of IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements: Accounting for 

Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

-	 �Amendments of IAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial 

Statements

-	 �Amendments of IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Compa-

nies: Applying the Consolidation Exception

-	 �Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Disposal or Contribution of 

Assets of an Investor to or within an Associated Company or Joint 

Venture

-	 Improvements to IFRS (2010-2012)

-	 Improvements to IFRS (2012-2014)
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Segment reporting

The Leifheit Group is divided into divisions for internal management 

purposes and has two segments which are subject to reporting 

requirements, the Brand Business and the Volume Business. 

Key figures by divisions in 2015 Brand Business Volume Business Total

Turnover €m 188.1 43.7 231.8

Gross margin % 49.3 35.4 46.7

Contribution margin €m 77.3 13.7 91.0

Segment result (EBIT) €m 15.5 6.2 21.7

Segment result (EBIT) adjusted 1 €m 14.6 4.6 19.2

Depreciation and amortisation €m 4.9 0.9 5.8

Employees on annual average persons 803 251 1,054

1 �adjusted for foreign currency results

Key figures by divisions in 2014 Brand Business Volume Business Total

Turnover €m 180.4 40.3 220.7

Gross margin % 50.1 36.9 47.7

Contribution margin €m 76.4 13.5 89.9

Segment result (EBIT) €m 16.2 5.3 21.5

Segment result (EBIT) adjusted 1 €m 12.2 4.2 16.4

Depreciation and amortisation €m 5.5 0.8 6.3

Employees on annual average persons 764 275 1,039

1 �adjusted for foreign currency results

The breakdown by segments corresponds to the internal reporting 

structure and covers the two divisions, Brand Business and Volume 

Business.

The Brand Business division develops, produces and distributes 

household goods and appliances under the Leifheit brand, as well as 

scales and relaxation products under the Soehnle brand.

The Volume Business division comprises the activities of Birambeau 

and Herby and the Project Business.

There are no unconsolidated transactions between the two segments 

of Brand Business and Volume Business.

The Board of Management monitors the result generated by the divi-

sions for the purposes of deciding upon the allocation of resources and 

ascertaining the profitability of the units. The performance of the seg-

ments is assessed on the basis of the result generated and evaluated 

in line with the result as reported in the consolidated financial state-

ments. The financing of the Group (including financial expenses and 

income) and any income taxes are managed on a uniform Group-wide 

basis and are not attributed to the individual segments.

The segments’ control parameters are turnover, gross margin, contri-

bution margin and EBIT. These are based on IAS/IFRS valuations. 

Regular reporting does not cover other key figures.



A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O RT  2 0 1 5

83C
C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

Notes to the statement of profit or loss and 
statement of comprehensive income

(1) Turnover

k€ (by regions) 2014 2015

Domestic 95,000 98,876

Central Europe 96,019 103,178

Eastern Europe 19,392 19,556

Rest of the world 10,284 10,222

220,695 231,832

The location of the customer’s registered offices is decisive for the 

regional attribution of the turnover.

k€ (by segments) 2014 2015

Brand Business 180,437 188,103

Volume Business 40,258 43,729

220,695 231,832

(2) Cost of turnover

k€ 2014 2015

Cost of materials 86,447 91,313

Personnel costs 12,465 12,315

Purchased services 3,904 4,529

Depreciation and amortisation 3,164 2,856

IT costs and other allocations 1,802 1,983

Maintenance 1,335 1,925

Services 999 1,792

Consumables and supplies 1,392 1,655

Customs and services 1,051 1,400

Energy 1,148 1,164

Royalties 251 255

Rent 181 214

Cost of cars, travel and entertainment 159 156

Value adjustments for inventories (net change) – 1,582 99

Other cost of turnover 2,730 1,898

115,446 123,554

(3) �Research and development costs

k€ 2014 2015

Personnel costs 2,144 2,601

Services 316 1,096

Fees 562 400

IT costs and other allocations 336 266

Maintenance 125 194

Other research and development costs 280 267

3,763 4,824

(4) �Depreciation and amortisation

k€ 2014 2015

Tangible assets

Cost of turnover 3,140 2,834

Research and development costs 50 51

Distribution costs 1,061 1,037

Administrative costs 236 210

IT costs and other allocations 842 825

5,329 4,957

Intangible assets

Cost of turnover 24 22

Research and development costs 12 13

Distribution costs 133 159

Administrative costs 61 54

IT costs and other allocations 695 552

925 800

Total depreciation and amortisation 6,254 5,757

(5) Personnel costs/employees

k€ 2014 2015

Wages and salaries 37,381 36,591

Social security contributions 8,017 7,954

Cost of employment benefits 679 809

46,077 45,354

Employees on annual average 2014 2015

Germany 399 409

Czech Republic 407 407

France 171 171

Other countries 62 67

1,039 1,054
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(6) Distribution costs

k€ 2014 2015

Personnel costs 18,381 18,322

Advertising costs 16,907 15,827

Freight out 10,921 11,652

Commissions 5,463 6,729

IT costs and other allocations 5,137 5,265

Services 4,090 4,654

Cost of cars, travel and entertainment 1,851 1,612

Packaging materials 1,102 1,429

Depreciation and amortisation 1,194 1,196

Rent 700 670

Payments to customers 465 616

Maintenance 463 491

Insurance 288 374

General operation and administrative costs 230 243

Post and telephone costs 191 172

Office and other overhead costs 228 156

Other distribution costs (less than k€ 100) 1,745 813

69,356 70,221

(7) Administrative costs

k€ 2014 2015

Personnel costs 10,511 8,950

Services 2,166 1,771

IT costs and other allocations 795 798

Maintenance 390 646

Year-end costs 522 513

Office and other overhead costs 277 360

Rent 254 325

Cost of cars, travel and entertainment 342 320

Supervisory Board remuneration 275 280

Depreciation and amortisation 297 264

Post and telephone costs 258 224

General operation and administrative costs 142 196

Insurance 103 104

Other administrative costs (less than k€ 100) 473 575

16,805 15,326

(8) Other operating income

k€ 2014 2015

Commission income 603 632

Royalty revenue 217 249

Revenue from the sale of assets – 131

Other operating income (less than k€ 100) 315 444

1,135 1,456

(9) �Other operating expenses

k€ 2014 2015

Other operating expenses  
(less than k€ 100) 20 169

20 169

(10) Foreign currency result

k€ 2014 2015

Realised foreign currency gains 1,388 2,178

Result from changes in the fair value  
of forward foreign exchange transactions 3,139 651

Effects of foreign currency valuations 576 – 372

5,103 2,457

The result from changes in the fair values of forward foreign exchange 

transactions concerned forward foreign exchange transactions for 

which no hedging relations exist.

(11) Interest income

k€ 2014 2015

Interest income from compound interest 191 67

Interest income from financial instruments 210 48

Interest income from taxes 1 –

402 115

Interest income from financial instruments related to interest income 

from credit balances at banks as well as income resulting from invest-

ments in the form of registered securities.
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(12) Interest expenses

k€ 2014 2015

Interest expenses from  
interest on pension obligations 1,912 1,445

Interest expenses from 
compound interest and taxes 262 79

Interest expenses from financial instruments – 3

2,174 1,527

(13) �Income taxes

k€ 2014 2015

Corporation tax (Germany) 977 2,124

Trade tax (Germany) 595 633

Foreign income taxes 1,732 2,040

Deferred income taxes 2,390 1,108

5,694 5,905

 

k€ 2014 2015

Actual income tax on income from other periods 2 10

Deferred taxes due to temporary differences 
and tax loss carry-forwards 2,390 1,108

Current tax expense 3,302 4,787

Tax liability 5,694 5,905

The combined tax rate for Leifheit AG for corporation tax and trade tax 

in Germany was 29.1% (2014: 28.7%).

Income tax can be reconciled with the theoretical amount applicable in 

line with the tax rate valid for the country where the company has its 

headquarters, as follows:

k€ 2014 2015

Earnings before taxes 19,807 20,238

Tax expense based on the tax rate  
applicable to the parent company 5,685 5,889

Actual income tax on income from other periods 2 10

Different foreign tax rates 63 131

Deferred tax assets on loss carry-forwards – – 132

Non tax-deductible losses  
of Group companies 59 27

Non tax-deductible expenses  
of Group companies 69 112

Adjustment of the deferred tax rate – 152 – 111

Others – 32 – 21

Tax liability 5,694 5,905

Deferred taxes are recognised for all material temporary differences 

between the tax base and the book values in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. Deferred taxes in the statement of profit 

or loss are broken down as follows: 

k€ 2014 2015

Different depreciation or amortisation periods  
for non-current assets 172 – 408

Measurement of inventories – 41 120

Measurement of receivables and other assets – 267 223

Measurement of derivative financial instruments 883 104

Measurement of pensions – 133 – 16

Measurement of provisions for partial retirement 3 1

Different recognition rules for other provisions – 204 215

Measurement of liabilities 32 – 81

Other temporary differences – 1 – 20

Tax loss carry-forwards 1,972 1,055

Foreign currency effects – 26 – 85

Deferred taxes 2,390 1,108
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Deferred tax assets are only recognised on loss carry-forwards if their 

utilisation is expected within a five-year period.

No deferred tax assets were created for corporation tax loss carry-

forwards in the amount of k€ 13,025 (2014: k€ 13,337) or trade tax 

loss carry-forwards of k€ 3,640 (2014: k€ 3,544) as it is not highly 

probable that Leifheit will be able to utilise these tax loss carry-forwards 

over the next five years. The tax loss carry-forwards in Germany 

(k€ 12,391 from corporation tax, as well as k€ 3,640 from trade tax) 

and Belgium (k€ 116 from corporation tax) have an unlimited utilisation 

period. The utilisation period in Spain (k€ 363 from corporation tax) is 

18 years and five years in the Czech Republic (k€ 155 from corporation 

tax).

The temporary differences in connection with shares in subsidiaries 

amount to k€ 122 (2014: k€ 164)

Deferred taxes on the balance sheet are broken down as follows:

31 Dec 2015

k€

Deferred
tax

assets

Deferred
tax

liabilities

Different depreciation or amortisation  
periods for non-current assets 631 3,030

Measurement of inventories 478 110

Measurement of receivables  
and other assets 83 492

Measurement of derivative financial instruments 4 2,977

Measurement of pensions 10,133 –

Different recognition rules for other provisions 525 5

Measurement of liabilities 166 4

Other temporary differences 82 –

Tax loss carry-forwards 91 –

Gross amount 12,193 6,618

Offsetting – 2,356 – 2,356

Balance sheet amount 9,837 4,262

31 Dec 2014

k€

Deferred
tax

assets

Deferred
tax

liabilities

Different depreciation or amortisation  
periods for non-current assets 493 3,300

Measurement of inventories 491 4

Measurement of receivables and other assets 57 241

Measurement of derivative financial instruments 193 1,538

Measurement of pensions 10,759 3

Measurement of provisions for partial retirement 1 –

Different recognition rules for other provisions 736 –

Measurement of liabilities 81 –

Other temporary differences 63 –

Tax loss carry-forwards 1,146 –

Gross amount 14,020 5,086

Offsetting – 2,632 – 2,632

Balance sheet amount 11,388 2,454
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(14) �Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the portion of the net 

result attributable to the shareholders of Leifheit AG by the weighted 

average number of shares outstanding during the financial year. No 

financing or remuneration instruments were employed which would 

lead to a dilution of earnings per share.

2014 2015

Shares issued
thousand 

shares 5,000 5,000

Weighted average number of 
treasury shares

thousand 
shares 250 248

Weighted average number of 
no-par-value bearer shares

thousand 
shares 4,750 4,752

2014 2015

Net result for the period  
allocated to the shareholders of 
the parent company k€ 14,113 14,333

Weighted average number of 
no-par-value bearer shares

thousand 
shares 4,750 4,752

Earnings per share based 
on net result for the period 
(diluted and undiluted) € 2.97 3.02

2014 2015

Comprehensive income after 
taxes allocated to the share
holders of the parent company k€ 7,863 20,353

Weighted average number of 
no-par-value bearer shares

thousand 
shares 4,750 4,752

Earnings per share based on 
comprehensive income after 
taxes (diluted and undiluted) € 1.66 4.28
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(15) �Cash and cash equivalents

The credit balances at banks and cash on hand amounting to k€ 64,200 

(2014: k€ 58,808) were valued at their respectively attributable fair val-

ue. The book value is the fair value.

(16) �Financial assets (current)

The current financial assets are an investment in the form of a regis-

tered bond to the amount of k€ 4,000 that was carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method.

On the basis of their short-term character and interest yields near the 

market rate, the attributable fair values of the current financial assets 

are approximately equivalent to their book value.

(17) �Trade receivables

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Trade receivables 47,662 44,745

Trade bills 982 1,318

48,644 46,063

As at 31 December 2015, k€ 36,296 were secured by credit on goods 

insurance policies (2014: k€ 35,098). The cost-sharing amount is nor-

mally 10%.

The development of the adjustment account for trade receivables is 

shown below:

k€ 2014 2015

As at 1 January 2,330 2,582

Foreign currency differences 74 1

Additions recognised in profit and loss 597 112

Utilisation 175 1,403

Reversal 244 287

As at 31 December 2,582 1,005

The maturity structure of trade receivables as at 31 December:

k€ 2014 2015

Neither overdue nor impaired 47,151 45,238

Overdue, but not impaired

1 to 30 days 988 1,113

31 to 60 days 224 14

61 to 90 days 54 – 110

91 to 120 days – 45 16

Over 120 days – 402 – 540

Overdue in total but not impaired 819 493

Specific allowances on doubtful accounts 
(gross) 3,256 1,337

Value adjustment – 2,582 – 1,005

Trade receivables (net) 48,644 46,063

Trade receivables that are neither overdue nor impaired also contain 

trade bills. Insofar as a credit on goods insurance policy is present, over-

due receivables are only adjusted by the amount of cost-sharing.

Reference is made to Note 34 (Default/credit risk) with respect to the 

default/credit risk in relation to trade receivables.

(18) Inventories

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 4,747 5,578

Unfinished products 1,530 1,513

Finished products and goods purchased and 
held for resale 29,159 35,894

35,436 42,985

Notes to the balance sheet
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k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Raw materials, consumables and supplies  
measured at fair value 105 150

Unadjusted raw materials,  
consumables and supplies 4,642 5,428

Total raw materials, consumables and 
supplies 4,747 5,578

Unfinished products measured at fair value 5 4

Unadjusted unfinished products 1,525 1,509

Total unfinished products 1,530 1,513

Finished products and goods purchased  
and held for resale measured at fair value 2,316 2,241

Unadjusted finished products and goods  
purchased and held for resale 26,843 33,653

Total finished products and goods  
purchased and held for resale 29,159 35,894

Some of the inventories for which no payments have been made owing 

to their maturity are subject to retention of title by suppliers.

(19) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments include forward foreign exchange con-

tracts and foreign exchange swaps, measured at fair value, for buying 

and selling US dollars and HK dollars for the financial years 2016, 2017 

and 2018.

The following liabilities from foreign exchange transactions were re-

corded on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2015:

Value of 
liability

Foreign  
currency

Nominal  
value

Buy USD/€ € 104.6 m USD 127.4 m € 114.0 m

�of which hedge 
accounting € 78.2 m USD 96.5 m € 86.2 m

Sell USD/€ € 1.2 m USD 1.6 m € 1.2 m

Buy HKD/€ € 17.9 m HKD 166.6 m € 18.8 m

�of which hedge  
accounting € 6.7 m HKD 60.0 m € 6.9 m

In the previous year, the following liabilities from foreign exchange 

transactions existed:

 
Value of 
liability

Foreign  
currency

Nominal  
value

Buy USD/€ € 105.5 m USD 136.1 m € 110.4 m

�of which hedge 
accounting € 70.7 m USD 91.1 m € 73.8 m

Sell USD/€ € 17.0 m USD 21.6 m € 17.6 m

Buy HKD/€ € 11.2 m HKD 110.7 m € 11.6 m

There were netting agreements related to derivative financial instru-

ments with various banks. However, these only take effect under cer-

tain preconditions, meaning that netting out is not permitted on the 

balance sheet. At the reporting date, it was therefore only possible the-

oretically to net k€ 14 (2014: k€ 672) with regard to the recognised 

market values.

The adjustments for the credit risk relating to counterparties (credit val-

ue adjustment) in the amount of k€ 75 and the adjustments for the 

credit risk relating to the Group itself (debt value adjustment) in the 

amount of k€ 0 were taken into account.

The maturities of foreign exchange transactions as at 31 December 2015 

were as follows:

less than 
1 year 1 to 3 years

Buy USD/€ USD 48.6 m USD 78.8 m

Sell USD/€ USD 1.6 m –

Buy HKD/€ HKD 87.1 m HKD 79.5 m

The maturities of foreign exchange transactions as at 31 December 2014 

were as follows:

less than 1 year 1 to 3 years

Buy USD/€ USD 59.5 m USD 76.6 m

Sell USD/€ USD 20.0 m USD 1.6 m

Buy HKD/€ HKD 35.1 m HKD 75.6 m

Overall changes in value for currency translation of derivative assets 

and liabilities amounting to k€ 5,147 (2014: k€ 3,366) were recorded in 

other comprehensive income without affecting profit or loss.

(20) �Other current assets

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

VAT receivables 2,291 3,075

Supplier bonus 332 498

Current prepayments and accrued income 505 329

Other current assets (less than k€ 100) 451 539

3,579 4,441
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(21) Tangible assets

k€
Land and  
buildings

Technical 
equipment and 

machinery

Other  
equipment, 

operating and 
office equipment

Advances paid 
and assets  

under  
construction Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs 
as at 1 January 2014 53,651 37,891 41,990 979 134,511

Foreign currency differences – 148 – 165 – 9 – 6 – 328

Additions 200 338 2,089 2,517 5,144

Disposals 82 687 873 58 1,700

Reclassifications 238 1,655 136 – 2,029 –

As at 31 December 2014 53,859 39,032 43,333 1,403 137,627

Foreign currency differences 315 386 38 27 766

Additions 223 222 1,822 3,874 6,141

Disposals 883 1,039 3,304 9 5,235

Reclassifications 47 1,624 138 – 1,809 –

As at 31 December 2015 53,561 40,225 42,027 3,486 139,299

Cumulative write-downs 
as at 1 January 2014 31,089 33,120 34,824 57 99,090

Foreign currency differences – 66 – 134 2 – – 198

Additions 1,404 1,840 2,085 – 5,329

Disposals 78 668 798 57 1,601

Reclassifications – – – – –

As at 31 December 2014 32,349 34,158 36,113 – 102,620

Foreign currency differences 151 316 13 – 480

Additions 1,388 1,520 2,049 – 4,957

Disposals 692 985 3,167 – 4,844

Reclassifications – – – – –

As at 31 December 2015 33,196 35,009 35,008 – 103,213

Net book value

As at 1 January 2014 22,562 4,771 7,166 922 35,421

As at 31 December 2014 21,510 4,874 7,220 1,403 35,007

As at 31 December 2015 20,365 5,216 7,019 3,486 36,086

The additions to depreciation on tangible assets included extraordinary 

depreciation on tools and operating and office equipment that are no 

longer used amounting to k€ 0 (2014: k€ 115).

Of the k€ 36,086 tangible assets as at the balance sheet date (2014: 

k€ 35,007), k€ 16,600 were located in Germany (2014: k€ 16,784), 

k€ 13,627 in the Czech Republic (2014: k€ 11,626), k€ 5,255 in France 

(2014: k€ 5,359) and k€ 604 in other countries (2014: k€ 1,238).
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(22) Intangible assets

k€ Brands Goodwill
Other  

intangible assets Advances paid Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs
as at 1 January 2014 7,224 11,821 17,853 156 37,054

Foreign currency differences – – – 7 – – 7

Additions – – 198 808 1,006

Disposals – – 35 – 35

Reclassifications – – 160 – 160 –

As at 31 December 2014 7,224 11,821 18,169 804 38,018

Foreign currency differences – – 14 6 20

Additions – – 787 200 987

Disposals – – 32 – 32

Reclassifications – – 811 – 811 –

As at 31 December 2015 7,224 11,821 19,749 199 38,993

Cumulative write-downs
as at 1 January 2014 2,420 – 16,176 – 18,596

Foreign currency differences – – – 3 – – 3

Additions – – 925 – 925

Disposals – – 35 – 35

Reclassifications – – – – –

As at 31 December 2014 2,420 – 17,063 – 19,483

Foreign currency differences – – 4 – 4

Additions – – 800 – 800

Disposals – – 32 – 32

Reclassifications – – – – –

As at 31 December 2015 2,420 – 17,835 – 20,255

Net book value

As at 1 January 2014 4,804 11,821 1,677 156 18,458

As at 31 December 2014 4,804 11,821 1,106 804 18,535

As at 31 December 2015 4,804 11,821 1,914 199 18,738

The additions to amortisation on intangible assets included extraordi-

nary amortisation on software in the amount of k€ 34 (2014: k€ 77).

Of the intangible assets on the balance sheet date amounting to 

k€ 18,738 (2014: k€ 18,535), k€ 7,719 were located in Germany 

(2014: k€ 7,434), k€ 1,104 in the Czech Republic (2014: k€ 1,145), 

k€  9,902 in France (2014: k€ 9,946) and k€ 13 in other countries 

(2014: k€ 10).

The remaining amortisation periods of significant other intangible as-

sets are:

-	 Leifheit AG warehouse management system	 5 years

-	 Leifheit CZ a.s. customer base		 5 years
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Impairment testing of intangible assets and 
tangible assets

Intangible assets including goodwill and brands acquired from business 

combinations and tangible assets are subjected to annual impairment 

testing under IAS 36.11. There was no indication for an impairment of 

these assets that would have required an extraordinary impairment test 

(IAS 36.12). The corresponding assets were attributed to the following 

cash-generating units: 

-	 “Leifheit/Soehnle”

-	 “Birambeau”

-	 “Herby”

The cash-generating units are based directly on internal management 

reporting. The Soehnle brand is capitalised within the “Leifheit/Soehnle” 

division and was acquired as part of the acquisition of the Soehnle 

Group in 2001. The “pressure steam ironing” business area is also 

included in the “Leifheit” division and was acquired on 31 December 

2008. Additionally, the goodwill of Leifheit CZ a.s. is part of the “Leifheit/

Soehnle” division. The goodwill for Birambeau and Herby is included in 

the respective divisions.

In order to determine the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit in question, the value in use is determined using cash flow fore-

casts. Assumptions are made for future trends in turnover and costs on 

the basis of the 2016 budget, which covers the next two years in the 

scope of medium-term planning, and were compared to external infor-

mation. Annual increases in turnover of about 3% were assumed for 

the “Leifheit/Soehnle” cash-generating unit. Increasing results in line 

with turnover were predicted for 2016 and 2017. Decreasing results 

were assumed for 2018 and subsequent years based on the budgeted 

exchange rates. We expect to see increases in turnover of between  

0 and 3% for the “Birambeau” cash-generating unit. A slight decrease 

in results was planned based on the assumed exchange rates. For the 

“Herby” cash-generating unit, turnover increases between 3 and 11% 

with corresponding increases in results were assumed.

The discount rates used in the cash flow forecasts for the purposes of 

determining the value in use are based on the average costs of capital 

at the time of the impairment test in the amount of 5.59% after taxes 

(2014: 5.98%) based on a risk-free interest rate of 1.5% (2014: 2.0%), 

a market risk premium of 6.5% (2014: 6.0%), a beta factor of 0.65 

(2014: 0.69) and borrowing costs of 1.6% (2014: 1.5%). A growth rate 

of 1.0% (2014: 1.0%) was assumed.

As at 30 September 2015, the recoverable amounts calculated in this 

way were greater than the book value. The impairment tests did not 

identify any impairment requirements. Even when applying the follow-

ing individual sensitivities, there was no need for value adjustment in 

the “Leifheit/Soehnle”, “Birambeau” and “Herby” cash-generating 

units:

-	 ��Cash flow forecast on the basis of the current earnings level with 

costs and turnover development remaining constant

-	 �Cash flow forecast on the basis of the updated 2016 budget allowing 

for a 20% discount

-	 �Increase of the discount rate by 2.0 percentage points

-	 �Cash flow forecast on the basis of turnover decreases between  

0 and 3% annually with the corresponding decreases in result

Even the combination of the two most significant changes in parame-

ters did not result in any impairment requirements.

As at the balance sheet date, the book values of goodwill and brands 

were as follows:

Goodwill Brands

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Birambeau 3,299 3,299 – –

Herby 6,441 6,441 – –

Leifheit/Soehnle 872 872 – –

Pressure  
steam ironing 1,209 1,209 – –

Soehnle brand – – 4,804 4,804

11,821 11,821 4,804 4,804
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(23) Income tax receivables

Non-current income tax receivables related to the non-current portion 

of a Leifheit AG corporation tax credit in the amount of k€ 762 (2014: 

k€ 1,520).

(24) �Trade payables and other liabilities

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Trade payables 15,061 20,148

Employees 12,194 10,599

Customer bonuses 7,449 7,539

Advertising cost subsidies 4,772 3,634

Debtors with credit balances 1,167 1,666

Other taxes (excluding income taxes) 1,688 1,595

Outstanding invoices 1,453 1,465

Social security contributions 739 941

Customer discounts 420 521

Annual financial statement costs 415 460

Severance payments to sales representatives 115 298

Royalties 333 265

Commission obligations 275 234

Purchase commitments 270 210

Tax advice 191 181

Energy costs 147 128

Insurance premiums 53 114

Other liabilities (less than k€ 100) 1,078 818

47,820 50,816

The trade payables and other liabilities had a remaining term of up to 

one year.

Liabilities to employees related in particular to December wages paid in 

January, residual holiday and overtime entitlements, as well as sever-

ance payments and bonuses.

(25) Provisions

Provisions for warranties are recognised for future repair work, supplies 

of replacement products and compensation payments deriving from 

legal or statutory warranties.

Personnel-related provisions are recognised for long-service bonuses, 

partial retirement obligations and for statutory obligations to staff in 

Austria.

Provisions for onerous contracts primarily related to purchase commit-

ments.

Other provisions contained mostly obligations from loss compensation, 

litigation costs and legal fees. The increase in the amount of non-

current provisions discounted over time was k€ 8 in the reporting peri-

od (2014: k€ 152).

The provisions for warranties, compensation payments and litigation 

costs of k€ 5,407 reflected uncertainties regarding the amount and/or 

likelihood of outflows (2014: k€ 5,153). The uncertainty for warranty 

provisions results from the possible future change in warranty claims. 

The uncertainty for provisions for compensation payments and litiga-

tion costs is due to the unknown outcome of pending proceedings.

The breakdown and the development are shown in the following tables:

31 Dec 2015

k€ Total
of which 

current
of which 

non-current

Warranties 4,702 3,970 732

Litigation costs and  
compensation payments 705 705 –

Personnel 1,395 125 1,270

Onerous contracts 118 45 –

Other provisions 1,695 1,695 73

Balance sheet amount 8,615 6,540 2,075
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31 Dec 2014

k€ Total
of which 

current
of which 

non-current

Warranties 4,796 4,064 732

Litigation costs and 
compensation payments 157 157 –

Personnel 1,478 197 1,281

Onerous contracts 147 147 –

Other provisions 1,447 1,394 53

Balance sheet amount 8,025 5,959 2,066

 

Current provisions

k€ Warranties Personnel
Onerous 

contracts
Other current 

provisions

As at 1 Jan 2015 4,064 197 147 1,551

Foreign currency 
differences 1 – – 3

Reclassification – – – –

Utilisation 4,025 156 147 768

Reversal – – – 387

Addition 3,930 84 45 2,001

As at  
31 Dec 2015 3,970 125 45 2,400

 

Non-current provisions

k€ Warranties Personnel
Onerous 

contracts

Other 
non-current 

provisions

As at 1 Jan 2015 732 1,281 – 53

Foreign currency 
differences – – – –

Reclassification – – – –

Utilisation – 37 – –

Reversal – – – –

Addition – 26 – 20

As at  
31 Dec 2015 732 1,270 – 73

(26) �Employee benefit obligations

The pension obligations within the Leifheit Group comprise defined 

post-employment benefit commitments and included both obligations 

from current pensions and vested benefits in pensions to be paid in the 

future.

The commitments included retirement, disability and survivor benefits. 

The defined pension obligations are based on post-employment provi-

sions with benefit commitments related to length of service and final 

salary. In addition, there are post-employment provisions in the form of 

reinsured direct commitments for management staff under deferred 

compensation schemes. The entitlement to benefits arises out of an 

insurance contract in the amount of a one-time payment made upon 

the commencement of the post-employment benefit commitment.

The pension obligations in France are commensurate with the relevant 

national statutory provisions.

Plan assets consist solely of reinsurance policies.

The pension obligations are subject to risks relating to changes in infla-

tion rates, interest rates and the life expectancy of the persons entitled 

to a pension. The plan assets consist of reinsurance policies which are 

subject to interest rate risks.

The following table shows the changes in pension obligations in the 

relevant reporting periods:

k€ 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Present value of defined benefit obligations 
(DBO) 68,990 66,604

Fair value of plan assets – 932 – 994

Recognised net liability from pension 
obligations in Germany 68,058 65,610

Pension obligations in France 961 838

Employee benefit obligations 69,019 66,448
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The following changes in the net pension liability in Germany were re

cognised in the balance sheet:

k€ 2014 2015

Net liability at start of year 55,526 68,058

Net expense recognised in net result for the 
period 2,428 2,093

Net expense recognised in  
other comprehensive income 12,224 – 2,368

Payments to beneficiaries – 2,120 – 2,173

Recognised net liability at end of year 68,058 65,610

In addition, contributions of k€ 2,570 were paid to government pension 

providers (2014: k€ 2,526).

The present value of defined benefit obligations (DBO) for Germany 

developed as follows:

k€ 2014 2015

DBO at start of year 56,409 68,990

Current service cost 522 652

Service cost to be subsequently offset – –

Interest expense 1,912 1,445

Benefit payments – 2,120 – 2,173

Actuarial gains/losses – 272 – 826

Actuarial gains/losses due to changes in 
actuarial assumptions 12,494 – 1,540

Amount by which the actual income from the 
plan assets in the current financial year falls 
short of the income calculated on the basis of 
the discount rate 2 – 2

Others 43 58

DBO at end of year 68,990 66,604

The fair value of plan assets for Germany changed as follows:

k€ 2014 2015

Fair value of plan assets at start of year 883 932

Expected income from plan assets 4 6

Amount by which the income exceeds/falls 
short of calculated income 2 – 2

Others 43 58

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 932 994

The plan assets cover reinsurance policies with German insurance 

companies.

The cost of post-employment benefits in Germany recorded with 

effects on net result can be broken down as follows:

k€ 2014 2015

Current service cost 522 652

Interest expense on the obligation 1,912 1,445

Expected income from plan assets – 4 – 6

Amount by which the income exceeds/falls 
short of calculated income – 2 2

Total cost of post-employment benefits 2,428 2,093

The expenses and income for Germany recorded in other comprehen-

sive income without effects on net result amounted to:

k€ 2014 2015

Actuarial gains/losses due to adjustment of the 
obligation to reflect historical data – 272 – 826

Actuarial gains/losses due to changes in 
actuarial assumptions 12,494 – 1,540

Amount by which the actual income from the 
plan assets in the current financial year falls 
short of the income calculated on the basis of 
the discount rate 2 – 2

Adjustment effects recognised in  
other comprehensive income 12,224 – 2,368
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The actuarial assumptions used as the basis for measuring obligations 

under post-employment benefit plans of German companies were as 

follows at 31 December:

k€ 31.12.2014 31.12.2015

Discount rate 2.2% 2.3%

Future income trend 2.5% 2.5%

Future pension trend 2.0% 2.0%

Mortality tables Prof. Dr K. Heubeck 2005 G 2005 G

Arithmetical final age
RVAG  

AnpG 2007
RVAG  

AnpG 2007

The following amounts are likely to be paid out in Germany in the con-

text of these obligations in the next few years:

k€ 2014 2015

Within the next 12 months  
(following financial year) 2,217 2,289

Between 2 and 5 years 10,131 10,334

Between 6 and 10 years 14,389 14,506

The following depicts a sensitivity analysis of the most important 

assumptions as at 31 December 2015:

k€ Basic value Sensitivity
Effect on 
the DBO

Discount rate 2.3% – 0.25 PP 2,598

Discount rate 2.3% +0.25 PP – 2,447

Inflation rate/pension trend 2.0% – 0.5 PP – 4,033

Inflation rate/pension trend 2.0% +0.5 PP 4,429

Future salary increase 2.5% – 0.5 PP – 800

Future salary increase 2.5% +0.5 PP 841

Life expectancy +1 year 3,272

The payment-weighted duration of the defined post-employment  

benefit obligations amounted to 15.9 years (2014: 16.0 years).

(27) Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital of Leifheit AG in the amount of k€ 15,000 

(2014: k€ 15,000) is denominated in euros and is divided into 5,000,000 

no-par-value bearer shares. All shares accord the same rights. Share-

holders receive dividends as declared and have one vote for each 

share at the Annual General Meeting.

The no-par-value bearer shares are deposited in a permanent global 

certificate at Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 26 May 2011, the 

Board of Management is authorised, subject to the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital on one or more occa-

sions by a total of up to k€ 7,500 until 25 May 2016 by issuing new 

no-par-value bearer shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash 

contributions. The existing shareholders will be granted subscription 

rights. However, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Board 

of Management is authorised to exclude shareholders’ subscription 

rights in the following circumstances:

-	 For the equalisation of fractional amounts,

-	 �insofar as the capital increase serves the purpose of acquiring com-

panies, company shares or participating interests in companies by 

way of contribution in kind,

-	 �if the shares are issued at a price which is not materially lower than 

the market price of the company’s listed shares at the time when the 

Board of Management sets the issue price (sections 203, paras. 1 

and 2, section 186, para. 3, sentence 4 AktG) and the exclusion of 

subscription rights only applies to new shares not exceeding 10% of 

the share capital on the date when the authorisation is entered in the 

commercial register or, if lower, 10% of the company’s share capital 

(10% threshold) on the issue date of the new shares. For the issue of 

the utilisation of the 10% threshold, the exclusion of subscription 

rights due to other authorisations in accordance with section 186, 

para. 3, sentence 4 AktG must be considered. As such, the deter-

mining market price is the average of the closing prices in the Xetra 

trading system (or a comparable successor system) on the last five 

trading days before the time the Board of Management sets the 

issue price.

With the consent of the Supervisory Board, the Board of Management 

is authorised to determine additional details of the implementation of 

capital increases from authorised capital.
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(28) Capital surplus

The capital surplus in the amount of k€ 16,984 (2014: k€ 16,956) 

consists of the premium on the capital increase in the autumn of 1989 

amounting to k€ 16,934 and the issuance of employee shares in 2014 

and 2015 amounting to k€ 50.

(29) Treasury shares

Including the treasury shares acquired and issued in previous years, 

Leifheit held 247,067 treasury shares on 31 December 2015. This 

corresponds to 4.94% of the share capital. The corresponding interest 

in the share capital was k€ 741. An amount of k€ 7,493 was expended 

for this.

Statement on treasury shares in  

accordance with section 160, para. 1, no. 2 AktG

The Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2015 revoked the existing 

authorisation and again authorised the Board of Management to 

purchase treasury shares of up to 10% of the share capital of k€ 15,000 

until 20 May 2020.

No treasury shares were purchased in the reporting period nor in the 

prior year. Leifheit used 1,605 treasury shares (2014: 1,853 treasury 

shares) in the form of the issuance of employee shares. This corre-

sponded to 0.03% of the share capital (2014: 0.04%). The correspond-

ing interest in the share capital was k€ 5 (2014: k€ 6).

There are no subscription rights for members of Group organs and 

employees in accordance with section 160, para. 1, no. 5 AktG.

(30) �Retained earnings

Retained earnings include the statutory reserve in the amount of 

k€ 1,023 (2014: k€ 1,023), other retained earnings in the amount of 

k€ 75,180 (2014: k€ 69,619) and the net result for the period allocated 

to the shareholders of the parent company in the amount of k€ 14,333 

(2014: k€ 14,113). The other retained earnings include the part of con-

solidated net result earned in past years which was not distributed to 

shareholders. In the reporting period, the dividend for financial year 

2014 was paid in the amount of € 1.80 per share, or a total of k€ 8,552 

(2014: k€ 7,837).

(31) �Other reserves

k€ 2014 2015

Actuarial gains/losses on  
defined benefit pension plans
Deferred taxes

– 25,461
7,307

– 22,928
6,665

Currency translation of foreign operations 570 869

Currency translation of 
net investments in foreign operations
Deferred taxes

1,549
– 444

1,851
– 539

Net result of cash flow hedges
Deferred taxes

2,993
– 859

8,140
– 2,383

– 14,345 – 8,325

With regard to the hedging of cash flows, k€ 3,329 (2014: k€ -123) 

before deferred taxes were shifted from other reserves to net result for 

the period. 

(32) �Proposal for the appropriation of the  
balance sheet profit

The Board of Management propose appropriating the Leifheit AG 

balance sheet profit of € 13,924,000.00 for financial year 2015 as fol-

lows:

Payment of a dividend of € 2.00 per  
eligible no-par-value bearer share € 9,505,866.00

Retained earnings € 4,418,134.00
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(33) Capital management

The major aim of capital management is to achieve an equity ratio of at 

least 30%. Leifheit manages its capital structure and makes adjust-

ments to reflect changes in macroeconomic conditions. Maintaining or 

adjusting the capital structure may lead to changes in dividend pay-

ments to shareholders.

(34) �Financial instruments

The material financial liabilities in the Group – with the exception of 

derivatives – comprise trade payables, other liabilities and current and 

non-current liabilities. The Group has various financial assets, primarily 

trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and 

deposits repayable at short notice.

The material risks to the Group arising from these financial instruments 

are credit, liquidity and foreign currency risks. Management is respon-

sible for determining strategies and methods for managing the indivi

dual types of risk, which are described below.

-- Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks from purchases and 

turnover in currencies other than the functional currency of the rele-

vant Group operating unit.

Around 11% (2014: 11%) of the Group turnover was earned in 

foreign currencies, 23% (2014: 19%) of the costs were incurred in 

foreign currencies.

The following table shows the sensitivity of consolidated earnings 

before tax and Group equity regarding the foreign currency valuation 

on the balance sheet date alongside a change in the exchange rate 

of the relevant foreign currencies – the US dollar, the HK dollar, the 

Czech koruna and the Polish zloty – deemed generally possible 

based on reasonable assumptions. All other respective variables are 

assumed to be unchanged.

The effects on the earnings before tax and Group equity are as 

follows:

k€
Currency 

performance
Effects as at  
31 Dec 2014

Effects as at  
31 Dec 2015

US dollar +5 % – 962 – 1,364

– 5 % 1,063 1,508

+10 % – 1,837 – 2,605

– 10 % 2,244 3,183

Czech koruna +5 % – 354 99

– 5 % 392 – 109

+10 % – 676 189

– 10 % 827 – 231

HK dollar +5 % – 581 – 558

– 5 % 642 616

+10 % – 1,109 – 1,065

– 10 % 1,355 1,301

Polish zloty +5 % – 17 – 73

– 5 % 19 81

+10 % – 33 – 139

– 10 % 40 170

In addition to the effects listed in the table above, the following 

changes to equity not affecting net income would result from poten-

tial changes:

k€
Currency 

performance
Effects as at  
31 Dec 2014

Effects as at  
31 Dec 2015

US dollar +5 % – 3,513 – 4,180

– 5 % 3,883 4,620

+10 % – 6,707 – 7,979

– 10 % 8,198 9,752

Czech koruna +5 % 551 411

– 5 % – 609 – 738

+10 % 1,052 908

– 10 % – 1,286 – 1,408

HK dollar +5 % – – 330

– 5 % – 364

+10 % – – 629

– 10 % – 769

Polish zloty +5 % – 1 – 2

– 5 % 1 2

+10 % – 2 – 3

– 10 % 2 4
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-- Cash flow hedges

The Group holds derivative financial instruments. These include in 

particular forward exchange contracts as described in more detail 

under Note 19. The aim of these derivatives is to hedge against cur-

rency risk arising from the Group’s operations.

As at 31 December 2015, there were forward exchange contracts 

for future payment obligations in US dollars and HK dollars, which 

can be attributed to a transaction that is highly likely to materialise in 

the future. It involved the expected and highly probable future pur-

chases of goods in the months of January 2016 to December 2018 

from suppliers in the Far East amounting to kUSD 96,500 and kHKD 

60,000.

The hedging transactions concluded in the hedge account are allo-

cated as follows:

k€ 2016 2017 2018

Purchase of US dollars 32,500 32,000 32,000

Purchase of HK dollars – 30,000 30,000

-- Liquidity risk

The Group constantly monitors the risk of any short-term liquidity 

bottlenecks using a liquidity planning tool. This takes into account 

the maturities of the financial assets (e.g. receivables, other financial 

assets) and the financial liabilities and expected cash flows from 

operating activities.

The Group’s aim is to strike a balance between continuous cover for 

its financing requirements and ensuring flexibility through the use of 

deposits and bank overdrafts.

-- �Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Leifheit Group primarily relates to changes 

in the short-term money market rates. There are no long-term 

interest-bearing bank loans or similar interest-bearing financial 

liabilities. Accordingly, there is no calculation and presentation of in-

terest sensitivity.

-- �Default/credit risk

As a general rule, the Group only conducts transactions with credit-

worthy parties. Credit checks are performed for all major customers 

wishing to do business with Leifheit. Balances of receivables are 

continuously monitored.

Some of the company’s receivables are covered by credit insurance 

(see Note 17). There is still a risk of default in the amount of the un-

insured share of the receivables.

For other financial assets, such as cash and cash equivalents, the 

maximum credit risk due to counterparty default is the book value of 

the instruments.

-- Financial assets and liabilities

The book values of the derivative financial assets and financial liabil-

ities correspond to their fair values. The other book values all corre-

spond to amortised cost.

Derivative financial assets in the amount of k€ 10,412 (2014: k€ 5,272) 

as well as derivative financial liabilities in the amount of k€ 14 

(2014: k€ 672) were included at their attributable fair value on the 

balance sheet as at 31 December 2015. 

All financial instruments are recorded at far. The fair value is deter-

mined on the basis of present value under consideration of current 

exchange rates as well as the underlying interest curves of the 

respective currencies and therefore on the basis of input parameters 

observed in the market (level 2, see page 72). There was no reclas-

sification among the levels in the reporting period. Trade payables in 

the amount of k€ 20,148 (2014: k€ 15,061) and other financial liabil-

ities in the amount of k€ 17,532 (2014: k€ 18,139) are due within one 

year. The derivative financial liabilities (designated as hedging trans-

actions) in the amount of k€ 11 are due within one year (2014:  

k€ 11). Of the derivative financial liabilities (not designated as hedg-

ing transactions), k€ 0 (2014: k€ 661) are due within one year and 

k€ 3 (2014: k€ 0) between one and two years.
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The following table shows the book values and fair values of the main 

financial instruments reported in the consolidated financial statements:

Book value Fair value

k€

Valuation 
category  

pursuant to 
IAS 39 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2015

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents a) 58,808 64,200 58,808 64,200

Trade receivables a) 48,644 46,063 48,644 46,063

Derivative financial assets  
(not designated as hedging transactions) d) 2,153 2,182 2,153 2,182

Derivative financial assets  
(designated as hedging transactions) c) 3,119 8,230 3,119 8,230

Other financial assets a) 4,783 5,037 4,783 5,037

Financial liabilities

Trade payables b) 15,061 20,148 15,061 20,148

Derivative financial liabilities  
(not designated as hedging transactions) d) 661 3 661 3

Derivative financial liabilities  
(designated as hedging transactions) c) 11 11 11 11

Other financial liabilities b) 18,139 17,532 18,139 17,532

a)	Loans and receivables not quoted on an active market
b)	Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
c)	Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value without effects on net result for the period
d)	Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value with effects on net result for the period

For current assets and liabilities the book value is always assumed to 

be a reasonable approximation of the fair value (IFRS 7.29 a).

Net earnings of the financial instruments for the measurement category 

were:

From subsequent measurement

k€ 2014 Interest
Currency 

translation
Value 

adjustment
Change in  
fair value 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 1,462 29 189 – – 218

Structured money market instruments 19 – – – – –

Trade receivables – 120 – 315 175 – 490

Derivative financial assets * 3,897 – 5,067 – – 8 5,059

Other financial assets 68 19 – – – 19

Trade payables – 451 – – 988 – – – 988

Derivative financial liabilities * 121 – – 2,400 – 658 – 1,742

Other financial liabilities – – 3 – – – – 3

* �The net result of the derivative financial assets and liabilities shown as currency translations resulting from  
realised foreign currency gains and losses as well as from the valuation at fair value

Short-term lines of credit in the amount of k€ 11,500 were available 

on the balance sheet date (2014: k€ 11,500). Thereof k€ 480 was 

used for bills of guarantee (2014: k€ 490). Unused lines of credit 

were therefore k€ 11,020 (2014: k€ 11,010).
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(35) �Commitments

As in the previous year, the Group companies did not enter into any 

commitments.

(36) �Contingencies and  
other financial liabilities

There were rental and leasing agreements for business premises, IT 

and telephone equipment, vehicles and similar assets, and licensing 

agreements with an annual expense of k€ 2,159 (2014: k€ 2,319). The 

future minimum payments on the basis of lease and rental agreements 

without cancellation option amount to k€ 1,993 up to a term of one 

year (2014: k€ 1.821), and k€ 166 between one and five years (2014: 

k€ 498). As in the previous year, there were no corresponding payment 

obligations with a term of more than five years. The leases constitute 

operating leases in the definition of IAS 17.

As at 31 December 2015, purchase commitments for raw materials 

totalled k€ 2,946 (2014: k€ 1,425).

There were contractual obligations to acquire items of tangible assets 

in the amount of k€ 1,235 (2014: k€ 1,710), relating to tools in particular. 

Moreover, there were contractual obligations arising out of contracts 

relating to marketing measures in the amount of k€ 867 (2014: k€ 976) 

and other agreements in the amount of k€ 860 (2014: k€ 938).

(37) �Remuneration of the Board of Management 
and Supervisory Board according to section 
314, para. 1 no. 6a HGB and IFRS 2

The remuneration of the Board of Management amounted to k€ 2,594 

(2014: k€ 4,498), of which variable remuneration amounted to k€ 1,930 

(2014: k€ 3,865). The total cost of short-term variable remuneration 

recognised in the reporting period amounted to k€ 420. The total cost 

of long-term variable remuneration recognised in the reporting period 

amounted to k€ 1,510. The provision recorded on the balance sheet 

amounted to k€ 2,627, while fair value was k€ 2,560.

As in the previous year, no remuneration was paid to the Board  

of Management for the assumption of responsibilities at subsidiaries. 

The members of the Board of Management who were active during the 

financial year 2015 do not hold performance-oriented pension 

entitlements. Therefore, as in the previous year, no addition to the 

pension commitments (DBO according to IFRS) was made for the 

active members of the Board of Management in the reporting period.

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounted to k€ 280 (2014: 

k€ 275).

The remuneration system for the Board of Management and Supervisory 

Board as well as the individual Board of Management remuneration  

are described in detail in the “Legal Information” section of the 

management report.

(38) �Total remuneration and pension reserves for 
former members of the Board of Management 
and/or Supervisory Board in accordance with 
section 314, para. 1 no. 6b HGB

The total remuneration of the former members of the Board of 

Management amounted to k€ 714 in the reporting period (2014:  

k€ 761). Provisions created for the current pensions (DBO according to 

IFRS) in financial year 2015 amounted to k€ 8,133 (2014: k€ 8,549).

(39) �Advances and loans to the Board of Manage-
ment and/or Supervisory Board in accordance 
with section 314, para. 1 no. 6c HGB

Neither in the previous year nor in the reporting period have any ad-

vances or loans been granted to the aforementioned group of persons.

(40) �Related party transactions

Until the sale of its shares on 27 April 2015, Home Beteiligungen 

GmbH, Munich, was the parent company of Leifheit AG. Dr Schuler-

Voith and Helmut Zahn as directors of Home Beteiligungen GmbH were 

considered related parties until that time. Their pro-rata Supervisory 

Board remuneration for financial year 2015 was:

k€ 2015

Dr Robert Schuler-Voith 19

Helmut Zahn 30

Dividends for financial year 2014 were paid in May of 2015 to the fol-

lowing related parties:

k€ 2015

Thomas Radke 26

Dr Claus-O. Zacharias and close family members 45

There were no other relationships or transactions with related parties 

external to the group in the reporting period.
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(41) �Existence of an equity interest in accordance 
with section 160, para. 1, no. 8 AktG

The following notifications were published:

November 2015

“Publication according to section 26, para. 1 WpHG

MainFirst SICAV, Senningerberg, Luxembourg, informed us on 25 No-

vember 2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG exceeded 

the 5% threshold on 24 November 2015 and amounted to 5.04% on 

this date (this corresponds to 252,222 voting rights).”

October 2015

“Publication according to section 26, para. 1 WpHG

CASO Asset Management S.A., Luxembourg informed us on 7 Octo-

ber 2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG exceeded the 

3% threshold on 28 September 2015 and amounted to 3.26% on this 

date (this corresponds to 163,128 voting rights).

All of these voting rights are allocated to CASO Asset Management 

S.A. according to section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 6 WpHG by the 

following shareholder, from whose shares 3% or more are allocated: 

Farringdon I - SICAV.”

October 2015

“Publication according to section 26, para. 1 WpHG

Farringdon I – SICAV, Luxembourg, informed us on 30 September 

2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG exceeded the 3% 

threshold on 28 September 2015 and amounted to 3.26% on this date 

(this corresponds to 163,128 voting rights).”

July 2015

“Publication according to section 26, para. 1 WpHG

-	 �Farringdon Netherlands BV, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, informed 

us on 10 July 2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG 

exceeded the 3% threshold on 8 July 2015 and amounted to 3.01% 

on this date (this corresponds to 150,694 voting rights). All of the 

voting rights are allocated to Farringdon Netherlands BV according 

to section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 6 WpHG.

-	 �Bram Cornelisse, the Netherlands informed us on 10 July 2015 that 

his share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG exceeded the 3% thresh-

old on 8 July 2015 and amounted to 3.01% on this date (this corre-

sponds to 150,694 voting rights). All of the voting rights are allocated 

to Bram Cornelisse according to section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 

6 WpHG in accordance with section 22, para. 1, sentence 2 WpHG.”

May 2015

-	 “�Capital Income Builder, Los Angeles, California, USA informed us 

on 6 May 2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG ex-

ceeded the 5% threshold on 4 May 2015 and amounted to 5.60% 

on this date (this corresponds to 280,000 voting rights).

-	  �Capital Research and Management Company, Los Angeles, Califor-

nia, USA informed us on 6 May 2015 that its share of the voting 

rights in Leifheit AG exceeded the 5% threshold on 4 May 2015 and 

amounted to 5.60% on this date (this corresponds to 280,000 

voting rights). All of the voting rights are allocated to Capital Re-

search and Management Company according to section 22, para. 

1, sentence 1, no. 6 WpHG by the following shareholder, of whose 

shares 3% or more are allocated: Capital Income Builder.

-	  �The Capital Group Companies, Inc., Los Angeles, California, USA 

informed us on 6 May 2015 that its share of the voting rights in 

Leifheit AG exceeded the 5% threshold on 4 May 2015 and amount-

ed to 5.60% on this date (this corresponds to 280,000 voting rights). 

All of the voting rights are allocated to The Capital Group Compa-

nies, Inc. according to section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 6 WpHG 

in accordance with section 22, para. 1, sentence 2 and 3 WpHG by 

the following shareholder, of whose shares 3% or more are allocat-

ed: Capital Income Builder.”

May 2015

“Carmignac Gestion S.A., Paris, France informed us on 5 May 2015 

that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit AG exceeded the 3% and 

5% thresholds on 27 April 2015 and amounted 5.49% on this date (this 

corresponds to 274,487 voting rights). Of these voting rights, 0.41% 

(this corresponds to 20,557 voting rights) are allocated to Carmignac 

Gestion S.A. according to section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 6 WpHG 

in accordance with section 22, para. 1, sentence 2 WpHG.”
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April 2015

“Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany in-

formed us on 27 April 2015 that its share of the voting rights in Leifheit 

AG exceeded the 3% threshold on 27 April 2015 and amounted 4.00% 

on this date (this corresponds to 200,000 voting rights).”

July 2014

“Leifheit Aktiengesellschaft, 56377 Nassau, Germany, informed us in 

accordance with section 26, para. 1, sentence 2 WpHG that its holding 

of treasury shares fell short of the threshold of 5% of voting rights on 9 

July 2014 and amounted to 4.97% on this date (this corresponds to 

248,672 voting rights).”

February 2009

“Manuel Knapp-Voith, Germany informed us on 4 February 2009 in 

accordance with section 21, para. 1 WpHG that his share of voting 

rights in our company exceeded the 10% threshold on 23 July 2008 

and amounted to 10.03% on this date (this corresponds to 501,432 

voting rights). These 10.03% of the voting rights (501,432 voting rights) 

are attributable to him via MKV Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald, in ac-

cordance with section 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG.

MKV Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald, Germany informed us on 4 Febru-

ary 2009 in accordance with section 21, para. 1 WpHG that its share of 

voting rights in our company exceeded the 10% threshold on 23 July 

2008 and amounted to 10.03% on this date (this corresponds to 

501,432 voting rights).”

October 2007

“Joachim Loh, Haiger, informed us on 2 October 2007 in accordance 

with section 41, para. 2 WpHG, that he held more than 5% of the 

voting rights in our company on 1 April 2002. This related to 331,051 

shares, corresponding to a share of the voting rights of 6.964%, which 

Joachim Loh held directly.”

(42) �Declaration in accordance with section 161 AktG

In December 2015, the Board of Management and the Supervisory 

Board issued the declaration required under section 161 AktG stating 

that the recommendations of the “Government Commission on the 

German Corporate Governance Code” published by the German Federal 

Justice Ministry were complied and continue to be complied with, and 

noting which recommendations had not been or were not currently 

being applied. The declaration of compliance is permanently available 

on the company’s website at corporate-governance.leifheit-group.

com.

(43) Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events after the end of the financial year of material 

importance for assessing the net assets, financial position and results 

of operations of the Leifheit Group.

(44) �Information under takeover law  
in accordance with section 315, para. 4 HGB

Please refer to the management report for information on takeovers in 

accordance with section 315, para. 4 HGB.

(45) �Remuneration of the auditor in accordance with 
section 314, para. 1, no. 9 HGB

The remuneration of the auditor, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-

fungsgesellschaft, recorded as expenses in 2015, amounted to k€ 284 

for the audit of the financial statements (2014: k€ 270), k€ 3 for other 

certification services (2014: k€ 3), k€ 81 for tax consultancy services 

(2014: k€ 133), and k€ 87 for other services (2014: k€ 67).
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Organs of Leifheit AG

Members of the Board of Management

Thomas Radke Chief Executive Officer of Leifheit AG Chairman

Dr Claus-O. Zacharias Chief Financial Officer of Leifheit AG Member

Members of the Supervisory Board

Ulli Gritzuhn
General Manager of
Unilever Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg

Member  
(since 4 February 2016)

Shareholder 
representative

Baldur Groß Energy electronics engineer at Leifheit AG Member
Employee 
representative

Karsten Schmidt
Chairman of the Board of Management of Ravensburger AG, 
Ravensburg

Deputy Chairman
(since 13 February 2016)

Shareholder 
representative

Thomas Standke Toolmaker at Leifheit AG Member
Employee 
representative

Sonja Wärntges
Member of the Board of Management/CFO of 
DIC Asset AG, Frankfurt am Main

Member  
(since 4 February 2016)

Shareholder 
representative

Helmut Zahn Independent consultant, Starnberg Chairman
Shareholder 
representative

Dr jur. Robert Schuler-Voith Managing Director of Home Beteiligungen GmbH, Munich
Deputy Chairman
(until 31 December 2015)

Shareholder 
representative

Dr rer. pol. Friedrich M. Thomée
Managing Partner of Thomée
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG, Wolfsburg

Member  
(until 31 December 2015)

Shareholder 
representative

Supervisory Board Committees

Audit Committee

Karsten Schmidt Member (since 13 February 2016)

Sonja Wärntges Chairman (since 13 February 2016)

Helmut Zahn Member

Dr jur. Robert Schuler-Voith Chairman (until 31 December 2015)

Dr rer. pol. Friedrich M. Thomée Member (until 31 December 2015)

Personnel Committee

Ulli Gritzuhn Member (since 13 February 2016)

Karsten Schmidt Member

Helmut Zahn Chairman

Dr jur. Robert Schuler-Voith Member (until 31 December 2015)
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External mandates of the organs

Memberships in other Supervisory Boards required by law (according to section 125, para. 1, sentence 5 AktG)

Sonja Wärntges
DIC Real Estate Investments GmbH & Co. KGaA, 
Frankfurt am Main Member of the Supervisory Board

Helmut Zahn Flossbach von Storch AG, Cologne Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

 
Memberships in comparable domestic and foreign governing bodies of enterprises (according to section 125, para. 1, sentence 5 AktG)

Thomas Radke Böck Silosysteme GmbH, Tacherting Chairman of the Advisory Board

Dr Claus-O. Zacharias Peacock Capital GmbH, Düsseldorf Member of the Advisory Board

Helmut Zahn
Maschinenbau Oppenweiler Binder GmbH & Co. KG, 
Oppenweiler Member of the Advisory Board

Nassau/Lahn, Germany, 17 March 2016

Leifheit Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

     

Thomas Radke	 Dr Claus-O. Zacharias
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Responsibility statement on the 
consolidated financial statements and 
the consolidated management report

We declare that, to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with 

the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations of the Group, and the consolidated management 

report presents a true and fair view of the business and situation of the 

Group, together with the principal risks and opportunities associated 

with the expected development of the Group.

Nassau/Lahn, Germany, 17 March 2016

Leifheit Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

     

Thomas Radke	 Dr Claus-O. Zacharias
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Audit opinion

We have issued the following opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 

Leifheit AG, Nassau/Lahn, comprising the statement of profit or loss as 

well as the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of 

cash flows and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

together with the group management report for the fiscal year from 1st 

January 2015 to 31 December 2015. The preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements and the group management report in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) 

HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch” – “German commercial code”) are the 

responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German generally accepted 

standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW - Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial report-

ing framework and in the group management report are detected with 

reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 

economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 

possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 

audit procedures. 

The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report are examined primarily 

on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 

assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in 

consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolida-

tion, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall pres-

entation of the consolidated financial statements and the group man-

agement report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 

for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated 

financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 

315a (1) HGB and full IFRS and give a true and fair view of the net as-

sets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accord-

ance with these requirements. The group management report is con-

sistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole 

provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents 

the opportunities and risks of future development.” 

Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, 17 March 2016

Ernst & Young GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(Signed) Knappe		  (Signed) Vöhl

Wirtschaftsprüfer		  Wirtschaftsprüfer

(German Public Auditor)	 (German Public Auditor)
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Individual financial statement 
of Leifheit AG

Disclaimer

The individual financial statement of Leifheit AG, audited by Ernst & Young 

GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, 

which did not lead to any reservations in its audit opinion, was prepared 

in accordance with the provisions of the HGB and the AktG.

Forward-looking statements

This financial report contains forward-looking statements which are 

based on the management’s current estimates with regard to future 

developments. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties 

which are beyond Leifheit’s ability to control or estimate precisely, such 

as statements on the future market environment and economic 

conditions, the behaviour of other market participants and government 

measures. If one of these uncertain or unforeseeable factors occurs or 

the assumptions on which these statements are based prove 

inaccurate, actual results could differ materially from the results cited 

explicitly or contained implicitly in these statements. Leifheit neither 

intends to, nor does it accept any specific obligation to, update 

forward-looking statements to reflect events or developments after the 

date of this report.

Discrepancies due to technical factors

Technical factors (e.g. conversion of electronic formats) may lead to 

discrepancies between the financial statements contained in this 

financial report and those submitted to the Federal Gazette (Bundes

anzeiger). In this case, the version submitted to the Federal Gazette is 

binding.

In the event of any discrepancies between this English translation of the 

financial report and the German version, the German version shall take 

precedence.

Note on rounding

Minor differences may occur when using rounded amounts and 

percentages due to commercial rounding.
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Turnover

Group €m 222.1 224.2 220.9 220.7 231.8

Group adjusted 1 €m 215.8 217.4 219.5 220.7 231.8

Brand Business 1 €m 164.2 170.9 172.8 180.4 188.1

Volume Business €m 51.6 46.5 46.7 40.3 43.7

Foreign share 1 % 56.5 57.1 57.6 57.0 57.4

Profitability

Gross margin % 43.0 43.6 44.9 47.7 46.7

Cash flow from operating activities €m 12.8 8.2 22.9 24.5 20.8

Free cash flow €m 7.7 – 1.4 19.5 18.4 14.1

EBIT €m 13.9 14.2 14.9 21.5 21.7

EBIT adjusted 2 €m 11.4 13.0 16.9 16.4 19.2

EBIT margin %  5.1 5.8 6.8 9.8 9.3

EBT €m 12.2 12.2 13.3 19.8 20.2

Net result for the period €m 12.1 9.4 10.2 14.1 14.3

Net return on sales % 5.6 4.3 4.6 6.4 6.2

Return on equity 5 % 12.2 10.1 10.8 14.9 13.4

Return on total capital % 6.1 4.6 5.0 6.3 6.0

ROCE % 9.7 10.2 12.6 20.3 18.1

Share

Net result for the period, per share 3  € 2.55 1.97 2.16 2.97 3.02

Free cash flow, per share 3  € 1.63 – 0.28 4.11 3.88 2.96

Dividend per share  € 1.30 1.50 1.65 1.80 2.00 4

Special dividend per share  € – – – – 0.75 4

Employees at the end of the year

Group persons 1,032 1,025 1,026 1,055 1,049

Brand Business persons 726 741 741 782 831

Volume Business persons 306 284 285 273 218

Investments in tangible assets €m 5.4 9.3 3.3 5.1 6.1

Investment ratio % 4.1 5.8 2.0 3.6 4.1

Depreciation on tangible assets €m 5.3 5.3 5.5 5.3 5.0

Balance sheet total 5 €m 198.9 205.9 203.8 223.3 237.9

Equity 5 €m 98.9 92.8 94.7 94.8 106.7

Equity ratio 5 % 49.7 45.0 46.5 42.5 44.9

1 �turnover 2011 to 2013 adjusted for discontinued business with Dr Oetker Bakeware
2 �EBIT 2011 adjusted for a one-time extraordinary effect from the acquisition of a controlling interest in Leifheit CZ a.s. 
EBIT 2012 adjusted for a one-time extraordinary effect from the sale of assets relating to the termination of a license agreement 
EBIT 2013 to 2014 adjusted by foreign currency results

3 not including repurchased treasury shares
4 dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting
5 from 2012 in accordance with IAS 19 (revised in 2011)

Key figures of the Group
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